
 

 
 
            

 
 

 
i 

Joint Development Control Committee 
 

Date: Wednesday, 20 July 2022 

Time: 10.00 am  

Venue: Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Market Square, Cambridge, CB2 3QJ 

Contact: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel 01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Apologies   

2    Declarations of Interest   

3    Minutes  (PAGES 3 - 
28) 

Applications 

4    21/04431/REM - Land between Huntingdon Road 
and Histon Road - Darwin Green 1 BDW2  

(PAGES 29 - 
130) 

5    22/01842/FUL - The Cowley Road Depot, Cowley 
Road, Cambridge  

(PAGES 131 - 
146) 

 
Miscellaneous 

6    Land South of Fulbourn Road, Cambridge - Planning 
Appeal – APP/W0530/W/22/3298055  

(PAGES 147 - 
162) 

 The report contains exempt information during which the public is 
likely to be excluded from the meeting subject to determination by the 
Committee following consideration of a public interest test.  This 
exclusion would be made under paragraph 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Public Document Pack



 
ii 

 

Joint Development Control Committee Members:  

Cambridge City Council: Cllrs S. Smith (Chair), Carling, Flaubert, Porrer, 
Scutt and Thornburrow, Alternates: D. Baigent, Gawthrope Wood, 
Nethsingha and Page-Croft 

 

South Cambridgeshire District Council: Cllrs Bradnam (Vice-Chair), 
Cahn, Fane, Hawkins, Stobart and R.Williams, Alternates: Cone, Garvie, 
J.Williams and H.Williams 

 

Information for the public 
The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open to the 
public.  
 
For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors and 
the democratic process:  

 Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

 Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

 Phone: 01223 457000 
 
Public health and well-being for meeting arrangements 
This Meeting will be live streamed to the Council’s YouTube page. Those wishing to 
address the meeting will also be able to do so virtually via Microsoft Teams. 
 
Should you wish to attend in person, we always ask you to maintain social 
distancing and maintain your face covering unless you are exempt or when speaking 
at the meeting. Hand sanitiser will be available on entry to the meeting. 
 
If members of the public wish to address the committee either virtually or in person, 
you must  contact Democratic Services democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk by 
12 noon two working days before the meeting. 
 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


Joint Development Control CommitteeJDC/1 Wednesday, 16 March 2022 

 

 
 
 

1 

JOINT DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE  
 16 March 2022 
 9.30 am - 4.15 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors D. Baigent, Bradnam (Chair), Chamberlain, Daunton, 
Fane, Gawthrope Wood, Hunt, Page-Croft, Porrer, Scutt, Smart (Vice-Chair), 
S. Smith, Thornburrow and J.Williams 
 
Officers Present: 
Joint Director of Planning & Economic Development - New Communities and 
Planning: Stephen Kelly 
Delivery Manager (Strategic Sites): Philippa Kelly 
Principal Planner: Rebecca Ward 
Legal Adviser: Keith Barber 
Committee Manager: James Goddard 
Meeting Producer: Gary Clift 
 
Developer Representatives: 
Alexis Butterfield 
David Fletcher 
 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

 

22/6/JDCC Apologies 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Hawkins and Bygott. Alternate 
Members would change for the different agenda items so a roll-call would be 
taken at the start of each item. 

22/7/JDCC Declarations of Interest 
 
 

Name Item Interest 

Councillor Baigent All Personal - Personal: Member of 
Cambridge Cycling Campaign 

Councillor Smart 21/09/JDCC and 
21/10/JDCC 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest: 
Did not participate in any 
discussion or the vote. 

Councillor Bradnam 21/11/JDCC Disclosable Pecuniary Interest: 
Did not participate in any 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Joint Development Control Committee                                      JDC/2                                   
Wednesday, 16 March 2022 

 

 
 
 

2 

discussion or the vote. 

Councillor Baigent 21/11/JDCC Personal – His wife (Councillor 
S. Baigent) spoke in objection 
as a Ward Councillor to NIAB. 
Councillor D. Baigent had not 
fettered his discretion. 

 
   

22/8/JDCC Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 27 October 2021 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair subject to the following amendment: 
Councillor Daunton to be listed as Ward Councillor who did not participate in 
the discussion or debate.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2021 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair subject to the following amendment: 
Councillor Porrer to be listed as present.  
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 15 December 2021 and 26 January 2022 
were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

22/9/JDCC 21/04336/REM - Land to the West and South West of 
Addenbrookes Campus, Robinson Way, Addenbrookes Hospital, 
Cambridge 
 
Councillors present: 

i. Cambridge City Council: Councillors D. Baigent, Page-Croft, Porrer, 
Scutt S. Smith and Thornburrow. 

ii. South Cambridgeshire District Council: Bradnam (Chair), Chamberlain, 
Daunton, Fane and J. Williams 

 
The Committee received a reserved matters application pursuant to 
06/0796/OUT (as amended by 21/01584/S73) for a new Cambridge Children’s 
Hospital (CCH), hard and soft landscaping, internal roads and ancillary 
infrastructure. Discharge of Condition 14 (Amenity Space Strategy) pursuant to 
outline approval 06/0796/OUT. 
 
Ms Charlton (Applicant’s Agent) addressed the Committee in support of the 
application.  

Page 4



Joint Development Control Committee                                      JDC/3                                   
Wednesday, 16 March 2022 

 

 
 
 

3 

 
The Strategic Sites Delivery Manager said the following in response to 
Members’ questions: 

i. The frontage complied with the condition  restricting the amount of 
continuous frontage. 

ii. The footprint of the building went 6.5m beyond the plan given by the  
outline planning permission. Officers felt this was acceptable. 

iii. The car parking strategy would be confirmed nearer to the opening of the 
hospital. Car parking provision would be controlled by condition which 
would require approval before the hospital opened. 

iv. Pedestrian and public transport access would be controlled by condition 
as would access signage. 

v. The hospital would monitor the number of staff travel movement by both 
public and private transport. The intention was to encourage journeys by 
public transport and get to 20% private transport usage. 

vi. Details of proposed shuttle bus services from proposed Cambridge 
South railway station is not known at this stage  

vii. The Drainage Engineer was satisfied the site was not at risk from 
flooding. Mitigation measures were controlled through conditions. 

 
The Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development said the following 
in response to Members’ questions: 

i. The station had no planning permission at present, so shuttle bus 
provision could not  be confirmed. 

ii. The NHS had active travel plans for the site. The hospital worked with 
Greater Cambridge Partnership, the County Council and Planning 
Authority to develop these. 

iii. Each hospital on-site (Rosie, Addenbrooke’s etc) had its own Transport 
Strategy. The aim was to draw these together into a cohesive document 
before further development occurred on-site. 

iv. Gypsy and Traveller access needs would be reviewed in future. 
v. Passive and active air flow measures were in place. The Sustainability 

Officer had raised no objections and was satisfied that criteria had been 
met. 

 
Councillor Bradnam proposed an amendment to the Officer’s recommendation 
that Condition 12 be amended as per bold text: 
 
12. Construction Phase  
No development, including preparatory works, shall commence until details of 
measures indicating how additional surface water run-off and ground water 

Page 5



Joint Development Control Committee                                      JDC/4                                   
Wednesday, 16 March 2022 

 

 
 
 

4 

from the site will be avoided during the construction works have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
applicant may be required to provide collection, balancing and/or settlement 
systems for these flows. This should include the maintenance proposals during 
construction. The approved measures and systems shall be brought into 
operation before any works to create buildings or hard surfaces commence 
and demonstrate that SuDS near or adjacent to the site can be protected.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained 
during the construction phase and to ensure that there is no increased flood 
risk on or off site resulting from the construction and that water quality is not 
affected in accordance with Policies 31 and 32 of the Cambridge Local Plan 
2018. 
 
This amendment was carried unanimously. 
 
The Committee: 
 
Resolved (by 11 votes to 0) on a single resolution to (i) grant the application 
for planning permission in accordance with the Officer recommendation, for the 
reasons set out in the Officer’s report, and subject to the conditions 
recommended by the Officer including the amendment to Condition 12, with 
delegated authority to Officers to draft the conditions in consultation with the 
Chair, Vice Chair and Spokes; and (ii) approve the discharge of Condition 14 
(Amenity Space strategy) in accordance with the Officer’s recommendation. 

22/10/JDCC 21/04337/FUL - Land at Robinson Way, Addenbrookes 
Hospital 
 
Councillors present: 

i. Cambridge City Council: Councillors D. Baigent, Page-Croft, Porrer, 
Scutt S. Smith and Thornburrow. 

ii. South Cambridgeshire District Council: Bradnam (Chair), Chamberlain, 
Daunton, Fane and J. Williams 

 
The Committee received an application for full planning permission.  
 
The application sought approval for construction of an underground service 
corridor to serve the proposed new Cambridge Children’s Hospital 
 

Page 6



Joint Development Control Committee                                      JDC/5                                   
Wednesday, 16 March 2022 

 

 
 
 

5 

Ms Charlton (Applicant’s Agent) addressed the Committee in support of the 
application.  
 
The Committee raised the following concerns in response to the report:  

i. Flooding in tunnels, possibly by contaminated water. 
ii. Queried if surface water flow into Hobson Conduit was controlled by 

legal agreement. 
 
The Strategic Sites Delivery Manager proposed an amendment to the Officer’s 
recommended Condition 10 (detailed flood resilience measures), requiring 
measures for treating and disposing of collected water to be included in the 
information submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement 
of development. 
  
This amendment was carried by 11 votes to 0.  
  
The Committee:  
  
Resolved (by 11 votes to 0) to grant the application for planning permission 
in accordance with the Officer recommendation, for the reasons set out in the 
Officer’s report, and subject to the conditions recommended by the Officer 
including the amendment to condition 10.  

22/11/JDCC 21/03609/FUL - National Institute of Agricultural Botany 
(NIAB), Huntingdon Road, Cambridge 
 
Councillors present: 

 Cambridge City Council: Councillors D. Baigent, Gawthrope Wood, 
Page-Croft, Porrer, Smart (Vice-Chair), and Thornburrow 

 
Councillor S. Smith attended and spoke as a Ward Councillor but did not 
participate in the decision making. 

 

 South Cambridgeshire District Council: Councillors Chamberlain, 
Daunton, Fane, Hunt, and J. Williams 

 
The Committee received an application for full planning permission.  
 
The application sought approval for retention of the former NIAB Headquarters 
building, the demolition of all other buildings and structures, and the erection of 
buildings with basements for 291 Build to Rent units (Use Class C3) including 

Page 7



Joint Development Control Committee                                      JDC/6                                   
Wednesday, 16 March 2022 

 

 
 
 

6 

affordable housing and a 202 bed Apart-Hotel (Sui Generis) and associated 
facilities along with access, car and cycle parking, landscaping and 
infrastructure works. 
 
The Principal Planner updated her report by referring to the amendment sheet: 

i. Late documents. 
ii. Third party comments. 
iii. Consultee comments. 
iv. Amendments to text. 
v. Changes to conditions. 

 
The Committee received a representation in objection to the application from a 
local resident: 

i. Spoke on behalf of various residents. 

ii. Objected to recommendation A, but supported recommendation B - 

alternative heritage access arrangements. 

 
The Committee Manager read statements on behalf of two other local 
residents who objected to the application. 
 
Mr McKeown (Applicant’s Agent) addressed the Committee in support of the 
application.  
 
Councillor S. Smith (Ward City Councillor) addressed the Committee in 
objection to the application. 
 
The Committee Manager read statements on behalf of Ward Councillors (City 
Councillor S. Baigent and County Councillor Rae) who objected to the 
application. 
 
The Committee began debate with a discussion on the following Planning 

Assessment topics: 

- Principle of development / housing / design. 

- Heritage / archaeology / sustainability. 

 
The Principal Planner said the following in response to Members’ questions: 

i. Thirty seven affordable homes would be provided on-site. There was no 
affordable housing provision in the fall back position. 

ii. Parking and open spaces were to be managed by the management 
company who would be appointed for the site. 

Page 8



Joint Development Control Committee                                      JDC/7                                   
Wednesday, 16 March 2022 

 

 
 
 

7 

iii. The service charge would be included in the monthly rent. 
iv. Provision of a communal pool/gym was protected for fifteen years and 

would be secured through a Community Use Agreement. This followed 
standard terms. Facilities could be lost in future if either side ended the 
Community Use Agreement. 

 
Councillor D. Baigent proposed and Councillor Williams seconded a proposal 
to defer the application to seek more affordable housing being provided on-
site. 

  

This proposal was carried by 9 votes to 1 with 1 abstention. 
 
The Committee: 
 
The application was deferred with Officers directed to negotiate to secure an 
improved on-site affordable housing provision. 

22/12/JDCC Land North of Cherry Hinton Design Code 
 
Councillors present: 

 Cambridge City Council: Councillors D. Baigent, Smart (Vice-Chair), S. 
Smith and Thornburrow 

 South Cambridgeshire District Council: Councillors Bradnam (Chair), 
Chamberlain, Daunton, and J. Williams 

 
The Committee received a presentation from: 

 Agent: David Fletcher 

 Applicant: Alexis Butterfield 
 
Members raised comments/questions as listed below. Answers were supplied, 
and comments provided by officers but as this was a pre-application 
presentation, none of the answers or comments are binding on either the 
intended applicant or the local planning authority so consequently are not 
recorded in these minutes. 
 
Themes for Member questions were:  

 Masterplan framework 
 Green spaces and nature 
 Movement and access 
 Sustainability 
 Emerging design 

Page 9



Joint Development Control Committee                                      JDC/8                                   
Wednesday, 16 March 2022 

 

 
 
 

8 

 Next steps. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 4.15 pm 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 10



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

1 

JOINT DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 6 April 2022 
 10.00 am - 3.26 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Bygott, Daunton, Hawkins, Hunt, Porrer, S. Smith, 
Thornburrow, Gawthrope Wood and J.Williams 
 
Also present (virtually) but did not take part in item 22/15/JDCC were 
Councillors: Bradnam and D.Baigent.  
 
Officers Present: 
Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development: Stephen Kelly 
Legal Adviser: Keith Barber 
Committee Manager: Sarah Steed  
Meeting Producer: James Goddard 
 
Officers Present virtually: 
Delivery Manager (Strategic Sites): Philippa Kelly 
Principal Planner: Rebecca Ward 
Principal Urban Designer: Joanne Preston 
Principal Development Management Engineer – Jon Finney 
Housing Officer: Tracey Harrison   
 
Developer Representatives: 
Guy Kaddish 
Miles Leigh 
Andrew Maclaren 
Matt Jarvis 
Peter McKeown  
David Fletcher 
Alexis Butterfield 
 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

 

22/13/JDCC Apologies 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors D.Baigent, Bradnam, Chamberlain, 
Page-Croft and Smart. Councillor Williams attended as alternate for Councillor 
Bradnam. 
  

Public Document Pack

Page 11



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

2 

Councillor S. Smith attended Committee and acted in his capacity as Ward 
Councillor for item 22/15/JDCC and Councillor Gawthrope Wood attended as 
his alternate for this item.   
  
Councillor Thornburrow was elected Chair for the meeting in the absence of 
the Committee’s standing Chair and Vice-Chair.  
 
Post meeting note: Councillor Hawkins was nominated as the Vice-Chair for 
this meeting to ensure political balance regarding consultation requirements 
(see Committee resolution) for decisions made in accordance with the 
conventions of the Joint Committee. 

22/14/JDCC Declarations of Interest 
 
No interests were declared.  

22/15/JDCC 21/03609/FUL - National Institute of Agricultural Botany 
(NIAB), Huntingdon Road, Cambridge 
 
The Committee received an application for full planning permission.   
  
As part of the Principal Planner’s officer presentation, she updated her report:  

 by referring to representations listed on the Amendment Sheet and 
further details contained on the Council’s planning portal / file   

 noted a further letter had been received the day before the Committee 
from Plymouth Close and Falmouth Close residents which had also been 
uploaded onto the portal planning file   

 Councillor Simon Smith (in his capacity as Ward Councillor) had also 
emailed the Case Officer suggesting amendments to condition 43 - 
landscape condition and condition 52 - service and delivery plan  

 advised that the application had originally been heard on 16 March 2022 
but a decision was deferred as the Committee sought more affordable 
private rented homes be provided as part of the proposal. The applicant 
confirmed an increase in the number of affordable rented homes from 37 
as originally proposed to 58. All the affordable housing would be 
provided on site.  

  
The Committee received representations in objection to the application from 
the following   

 Residents of Howes Place.  
 Residents of Plymouth Close and Falmouth Close  

 

Page 12



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

3 

The representation on behalf of residents in Howes Place covered the 
following issues:  

i. Howes Place was recognised as a local heritage asset for the 
architectural interest of its buildings, the street scene value of the 
buildings setting within formal landscaping and the importance of NIAB 
and Howes Place in the social and economic history of Cambridge.  

ii. Noted that the Committee would be asked to consider officer 
recommendation A or B.  

iii. Recommendation A was informed by the place making principle of 
permeability and connectivity which paid no regard to:  
a. the exemplar of historic place making vision and urban and landscape 

design for Howes Place which established a community life of peace 
and tranquillity after a period of death and destruction during the First 
World War  

b. the irreversible harm to the heritage assets of Howes Place and the 
close-knit community ethos nurtured by future generations 

c. intensifying the use of Howes Place which would put pedestrians and 
cyclists in an environment of undue hazard where vehicles would be 
manoeuvring and where pedestrians and cyclists may not be 
expected.   

vi.Recommendation B (also known as the ‘heritage access arrangements’) 
would protect Howes Place as required by Local Plan Policy 62. The 
number of protected trees requiring removal was reduced and 
hedgerows would be introduced to enhance the delineation between 
Howes Place and the development site.     

vii. Howes Place was not designed to service a 200-bed Aparthotel nor to 
provide pedestrian and cycle access to 300 residential dwellings.  

viii. Option B has been jointly developed between residents of Howes Place 
and the applicant. With the exception of refuse collection from the 
Aparthotel, all vehicle, pedestrian, and cycle connections would be onto 
Lawrence Weaver Road, a purpose-built highway with dedicated 
footpaths and cycle lanes.      

ix. Option B avoided Howes Place being used as a short route for 
pedestrians and cyclists from the proposed development to the City 
centre and being used as overflow for amenity space and car parking.  

x. Option B protected the heritage assets of Howes Place and improved 
highways safety. It was supported by the residents of Howes Place, the 
applicant and City and County Councillors for Castle Ward.    

  
The representations on behalf of residents in Plymouth Close and Falmouth 
Close covered the following issues:  

i. objected to the proposed terrace buildings C, D and E   

Page 13



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

4 

ii. requested the Committee adopted the proposed amendments to protect 
the amenity, privacy, and well-being of current and future residents   

iii. wished to enjoy family life without:   
a. the privacy of bedrooms, living rooms and back gardens being 

compromised due to overlooking from 37 first and second floor 
windows and external walkways 

b. residents’ domestic peace being disturbed by noise from the 
proposed three storey blocks due to back-to-back distances of 
18.5m comprising a 12.5m multi-functional space providing a 3-6m 
wide footpath, four dedicated communal children and teenager 
play areas within 3m of residential boundaries and three cycle 
storage buildings abutting residents’ garden fences.  

iv. inconsistency in planning between the Darwin Green and the NIAB 
developments. For Darwin Green, a parameter plan ensured residents of 
eleven existing streets such as Plymouth Close and Falmouth Close 
would benefit from limited overlooking and loss of privacy due to:   

a. new development limited to two floor houses with permitted development 
rights removed for dormers   

b. minimum back-to-back distances of 22.5m with private gardens between 
the houses   

c. overlooking would be minimised by placing bathrooms to the rear, 
offsetting the houses with breaks between pairs of semis and short 
terraces.   

v. their streets would be harmed from maximum overlooking and loss of 
privacy due to:  

a. three floor flats   
b. back-to-back distance of 18.5m with a 12.5m multi-function space, which 

was materially different from backing onto a private garden   
c. overlooking maximised by a continuous line of 19 first floor and 18 

second floor bedrooms with external walkways which would allow 
residents to gaze down to gardens, kitchens, living rooms and 
bedrooms   

vi. asked the Committee to make the following amendments:  
a. to limit the height of the proposed buildings C, D and E to 2 floors 
b. to remove all external walkways to buildings C, D and E and the party 

terrace at building E 
c. to increase the back-to-back distance from 18.5m to a minimum of 

22.5m.  
d. to re-design the space between the flats and resident’s’ boundary fence 

as follows:  
i. to relocate the four proposed communal children and teenage play 

spaces 7m away from the boundary  

Page 14



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

5 

ii. to condition the hours of use of the communal children and teenage 
play spaces and sources of noise nuisance at all hours 

iii. to plant and maintain shrubs and trees on the additional 4m of land 
together with a 3m high, 1m wide hedge along the boundary 

iv. to replace the three proposed cycle stores of an unspecified height to 
abut garden fences with basement cycle parking spaces.  

 
Peter McKeown (Applicant’s Agent) addressed the Committee in support of the 
application.   
 
Councillor Simon Smith (City (Castle) Ward Councillor) addressed the 
Committee about the application:  

i. noting that a Development Control Forum (DCF) had taken place 
regarding this application on the 4 November 2021 and that 
Committee Members had noted that a better outcome could be 
achieved. Gave credit to the applicant for their collaboration with 
Howes Place residents and agreeing the ‘Option B heritage access 
arrangements 

ii. the massing of the development had not been addressed - residents 
at Falmouth Close and Plymouth Close would be the most adversely 
affected 

iii. it was a material planning consideration that cycle parking and car 
parking only met within the red edge line  

iv. expressed concerns regarding overlooking due to 3 storey buildings 
namely, C, D and E which affected Plymouth Close and Falmouth 
Close residents 

v. noted comments made at the DCF that Howes Place was a local 
heritage asset which needed to be protected and enhanced. That 
there should be no vehicular access via Howes Place. The desire line 
for access needed to be via Lawrence Weaver Road   

vi. noted officer recommendation Option A which officers stated would 
allow residents to access Howes Green. Residents of Howes Place 
had signed a petition saying that they did not want this   

vii. noted that the site had a detailed area conservation appraisal drawn 
up but that this had been withdrawn pending the submission of a 
planning application 

viii. only recommendation B would comply with Local Plan Policy 62  
ix. noted in relation to the prior approval permission that the applications 

for the discharge of conditions 2 and 3 were refused   
x. asked the Committee to make the following amendments to protect 

the amenity of Plymouth Close and Falmouth Close residents:  
a. to limit the height of the proposed buildings C, D and E to 2 floors  

Page 15



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

6 

b. to remove all external balconies and walkways to buildings C, D 
and E and the party terrace at building E  

c. to increase the back-to-back distance from 18.5m to a minimum of 
22.5m  

d. to re-design the space between the flats and boundary fence as 
follows:  

i. to relocate the four proposed communal children and teenage 
play spaces 7m away from the boundary  

ii. to condition hours of use of the communal children and teenage 
play spaces and sources of noise nuisance at all hours  

iii. to plant and maintain shrubs and trees on the additional 4m of 
land together with a 3m high, 1m wide hedge along the 
boundary 

iv. to relocate the cycle parking to the basement of the car park.   
  
The Committee Manager read out the following points on behalf of Councillor 
Payne (City Castle Ward Councillor):  

i. noted positive and constructive meetings had taken place between 
the applicant and the residents of Howes Place and Darwin Green 
and that these had resulted in the development of mutually agreeable 
alternative ‘heritage’ access arrangements (referred to as Option B) 
for the proposed development 

ii. there was unanimous support from the residents of Howes Place for 
the ‘heritage’ access arrangements (Option B) on the following 
grounds:   
a. with the exception of refuse collection for the aparthotel and 

emergency services, the ‘heritage’ access arrangements (Option 
B) removed all vehicle connections between the proposed 
development and Howes Place 

b. the ‘heritage’ access arrangements (Option B) included four 
dedicated cycle and pedestrian access points and one multi-modal 
access point which provided residents of and visitors to, the 
proposed development with direct and easy connectivity to the 
purpose-built roadways, footpaths and cycle lanes on Lawrence 
Weaver Road and fully support sustainable transport 
requirements.  Noted the County Council needed to adopt 
Lawrence Weaver Road so that the legislation to protect cycle 
lanes from being used for parked cars could be implemented 

c. the ‘heritage’ access arrangements (Option B) significantly 
improved highways safety by removing the multi-modal and cycle 
and pedestrian access points on Howes Place (an unadopted, 

Page 16



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

7 

poorly constructed, unlit, and narrow residential street) proposed 
under the Option A access arrangements 

d. the ‘heritage’ access arrangements (Option B) minimised the harm 
to the appearance, character and setting of the heritage assets of 
Howes Place by:   

i. reducing the number of protected mature pleached lime trees 
requiring removal to as few as three trees   

ii. significantly reducing the scale of hard landscaping works to the 
reconstruction / widening of up to fifty (50) metres of existing 
footpaths 

iii. introducing additional hedgerows to create a natural delineation 
between Howes Place and the proposed development.   

iii. the ‘heritage’ access arrangements (Option B) minimise the harm 
to the amenity of current and future residents of Howes Place by:   
a. avoiding the creation of short cuts along Howes Place which would 

divert pedestrians and cyclists travelling to and from the City 
centre, including electric scooters and motorised two-wheeled 
vehicles, away from Lawrence Weaver Road and onto Howes 
Place and place both pedestrians and cyclists in an environment of 
undue hazard where vehicles are manoeuvring and where 
pedestrians and cyclists may not be expected 

b. avoiding the creation of Howes Place as the ‘back yard’ of the 
proposed development by removing direct and easy access to 
overflow amenity space and car parking in Howes Place for 
residents of, and visitors to, the proposed development 

c. avoiding the use of Howes Place for commercial vehicles / 
deliveries and drops-offs and pick-ups for residents of, and visitors 
to, the proposed development, including the central open public 
space and amenities.   

iv. supported the adoption of the ‘heritage’ access arrangements 
(Option B) in the event that permission was granted.  

  
The Committee Manager read out the following points on behalf of Councillor 
S. Baigent (City Castle Ward Councillor):  

i. noted that members of the Committee would be asked to make a choice 
between the access Option A and Option B, the heritage option. Felt the 
latter option protected Howes Place 

ii. had asked residents to explain why Howes Place was important which 
brought to life the enduring impact of great place making   

iii. voice of a resident who has brought up three children in Howes Place   
a. referred to the history of Howes Place where the vision for a self-

contained community informed the design, layout, landscape and how 

Page 17



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

8 

their vision and the place and the people shaped family and community 
life over four generations  

b. the first residents were former First World War soldiers and their families. 
There was a communal laundry, a communal hot water system and 
communal gardens to the front and rear   

c. the next generation of residents were the widows and families of RAF 
personnel who were killed during the Second World War. As these 
families grew, their homes and community ethos were passed to a new 
generation of owner occupiers and tenants  

d. my experience of living here is that you get to know everyone and share 
responsibilities with each other; we look out for the safety and care of the 
children and the elderly. It’s an enduring joy to see the children playing in 
the front gardens and learning how to ride their bicycles in the street 
knowing they are safe 

e. howes Place is an unusual and unique environment which sat in people’s 
hearts all their lives  

iv. Voice of a new resident:    
a. Cambridge is a beautiful ancient City now plagued by areas of cheap 

looking newbuild apartment blocks. These developments have no soul or 
longevity we must challenge their free expansion and protect the City’s 
heritage so it can be enjoyed by future generations  

b. Howes Place is a beautiful and quiet part of Cambridge and the Option B 
access arrangements are the only way to protect it  

v. Voices of long-term residents:  
a. noted that the developer’s architect states Howes Place was an 

underused asset commenting it was their home, community and wasn’t 
an asset to monetise  

b. to be linked to the proposed development (of a 201-room Aparthotel and 
297 flats) would completely overwhelm the 21 homes in Howes Place   

c. Howes Place was like a country lane never intended as a multi-modal 
route for a large-scale development.  

d. Option A would bring irreversible change resident’s children would not be 
safe to play together and we would lose our community spirit  

e. the ideas were out of a textbook and didn’t make sense in Howes Place 
which was designed to be a self-contained place and community 

f. it was the Council’s responsibility to plan for better new neighbourhoods, 
not to destroy existing ones which work. Asked why the Council 
considered Option A when there was no benefit to existing residents and 
no need to do it  

g. Howes Place was a quiet oasis which needed to be saved so future 
generations could enjoy it, as previous people had 

Page 18



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

9 

h. it was only after the Development Control Forum that the developer 
began to listen - resident’s agree Option B was a good solution  

v. agreed with resident’s that Option B was the only option which would 
protect Howes Place in perpetuity.  

  
The Committee Manager read out the following points on behalf of Councillor 
Rae (County Ward Councillor):  

i. supported Option B (Heritage option) access arrangements and opposed 
Option A 

ii. noted that Option B was supported by residents of Howes Place and 
fellow Castle Ward Councillors. This support was based on the following 
grounds:  

iii. option B (the 'heritage' option) access arrangements removed all vehicle, 
pedestrian and cycle connections between the proposed development 
and Howes Place except for refuse collection for the aparthotel and 
emergency services.   

iv. option B fully supports sustainable transport requirements as it includes 
four dedicated cycle and pedestrian access points and one multi-modal 
access point. These would provide residents of, and visitors to, the 
proposed development with direct and easy connectivity to the purpose-
built, lit and adoptable footways, cycle paths and highway on Lawrence 
Weaver Road whilst fully supporting sustainable transport requirements. 
These are the direct routes to the facilities of Darwin Green and 
Eddington on which residents of the new development will need to rely 
due to the lack of on-site facilities notably amenity space.  

v. option B significantly improves highways safety by removing the 
possibility of turning Howes Place (an unadopted, poorly constructed, 
unlit and narrow residential lane) into a busy multi-modal and cycle and 
pedestrian access route points as proposed under the Option A site / 
access arrangements.  

vi. option B minimises the harm to the appearance, character and setting of 
the heritage assets of Howes Place by:  

vii. reducing the number of protected mature pleached lime trees to be 
removed to (2) trees;  

viii. significantly reducing the scale of hard landscaping works for the 
reconstruction / widening of up to fifty (50) metres of existing footpaths; 
and  

ix. introducing additional hedgerows to create a natural delineation between 
Howes Place and the proposed development.  

x. option B minimises the harm to the amenity of current and future 
residents of Howes Place by:  

Page 19



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

10 

xi. avoiding the use of Howes Place as a short cut (primary desire line) for 
which it is unfit;   

xii. avoiding the creation of Howes Place as the 'back yard' of the proposed 
development by removing direct and easy access to overflow amenity 
space and car parking in Howes Place for residents of, and visitors to, 
the proposed development; and  

xiii. avoiding the bad neighbour anti- social use of Howes Place for 
commercial vehicles / deliveries and drops-offs and pick-ups for 
residents of, and visitors to, the proposed development, most notably the 
Apart-Hotel and the late night opening micro-brewery and bar.  

 
The Director of Planning and Sustainable Development, Principal Planner, 
Legal Officer and Principal Urban Designer, Principal Development 
Management Engineer made the following in response to issues raised by 
public speakers:  

i. noted the comments which had been made on behalf of public speakers 
and Ward Councillors requesting amendments to the application, but the 
siting, design, and layout of the development was fixed within the current 
application. Changes to building heights or relocating buildings would be 
substantive changes to the physical form of the development proposal 
and could not be addressed by planning conditions. If Members found 
these issues unacceptable then the appropriate option open to the 
Committee would be to refuse the application   

ii. noted reference to a Prior Approval Permission and cycle parking 
concerns associated with that planning permission but commented that 
this application should be viewed separately. This application could not 
be used to resolve issues regarding conditions attached to another 
permission    

iii. responded to concerns raised regarding overlooking noting that the 
Mews units intended to back onto Plymouth Close were 2.5 storeys high 
rather than 3 storeys high. Condition 35 should provide screening to 
open circulation areas with the screens expected to be 1.7m in height. 
18m separation distances between buildings had been used on 
Lawrence Weaver Road. The land to the east of buildings C, D and E 
would be a communal private garden area. It would not be accessible by 
the general public but would be accessed by the residents of the Mews 
buildings. This area would have ‘play along the way’ features and would 
not have features like slides or swings. it would be possible to consider 
planting to provide a buffer in relation to overlooking concerns 

iv. the scale and massing of the Mews buildings was considered at pre-
application stage and the Urban Design Officers were comfortable with 
the relationship 

Page 20



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

11 

v. confirmed there was to be a 15-year clawback mechanism for the build 
to rent units in the s106 planning agreement which meant that if, during 
that 15-year period the units were not used as build to rent units then 
compensation would be payable;  

vi. confirmed the affordable private rented units would be provided in 
perpetuity and in the event these units were taken out of affordable 
housing use then the developer would need to provide an affordable 
housing commuted sum (based on market values) to the Council for the 
loss of on-Site provision.   

 
The Committee raised the following concerns in response to the report:   

i. queried reference to 2 and 3 miles in relation to affordable housing 
allocation  

ii. queried if the ownership of the build to rent flats could be controlled 
(page 34, paragraph 85 of the officer’s report)  

iii. queried where the 24-hour management of the build to rent affordable 
units would be  

iv. welcomed the additional affordable housing provision on site  
v. noted play provision would also be available off site at Darwin Green  
vi. queried the additional conditions put forward by Councillor S. Smith  
vii. asked for clarification on why the developer did not need to provide 40% 

affordable housing 
viii. asked if buildings C, D and E could be removed from the development in 

response to concerns raised by public speakers  
ix. queried why a shortfall in open space provision should be compensated 

by improvements to facilities off-site  
x. welcomed improvements in sustainability and energy but queried why air 

source heat pumps were not being proposed  
xi. wanted to see green roofs and PV panels and asked if flats had their 

own energy meters  
xii. noted that condition 29 required the provision of at least one rapid 

electric charge point but noted that if only one was installed it might 
negatively impact residents who did not have the charge connector for 
the unit which was installed   

xiii. asked if the electricity supplier would need to increase capacity to be 
able to service the development   

xiv. queried why there was no reference to the Biodiversity Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD)   

xv. asked if the scheme included a grey water recycling system 
xvi. noted the felling of 10 Pleached Lime trees asking if any of the trees 

would be replanted elsewhere   

Page 21



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

12 

xvii. asked where the food growing space would be and who would look after 
the it if residents did not 

xviii. noted that residents of Plymouth Close and Falmouth Close had asked 
for a 3m wide and 1m high hedge to be planted - asking if this could be 
conditioned 

xix. noted the Aparthotel facilities would be open to the general public 
enquiring how traffic and noise generated by these facilities would be 
monitored   

xx. noted that two car club spaces were proposed asking if this facility were 
to prove popular could more could be provided  

xxi. that vehicles parked in cycle lanes on Lawrence Weaver Road and 
expressed concerns about overspill parking   

xxii. noted residents had expressed concerns about overlooking and the 
varying distances between blocks   

xxiii. queried the level of discount to be offered to residents who wanted to 
use the amenity facilities provided as part of the new development   

xxiv. queried what play equipment would be installed at the ‘play along the 
way’ area 

xxv. queried the height of the sheds and  
xxvi. expressed concerns about healthcare contribution and noted the existing 

healthcare capacity issues in the area.    
 
The Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development, Principal Planner, 
Legal Officer and Urban Design Officer said the following in response to 
Member questions:  

i. the affordable housing criteria was two miles for people who had a local 
connection and three miles for those who had no work connection to the 
area   

ii. Central Government was keen to stimulate private sector investment, 
therefore it had changed the minimum requirement in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) for affordable build to rent provision 
down from 40% to 20% 

iii. Building G would contain the management facilities on the ground floor 
iv. off-site mitigation contributions for public open space would go to Histon 

Road Recreational Ground which is 900m from the development  
v. a s106 Agreement would secure planning obligations to secure the 

affordable housing in perpetuity with a financial clawback mechanism to 
be applied in the event of any affordable units taken out of affordable 
use. Restrictions could not be placed on land ownership which prevented 
alienation 

vi. to remove buildings C, D and E from the application would be a 
fundamental alteration to the scheme before the Committee going to the 

Page 22



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

13 

heart of the application. If Members felt strongly that these buildings 
were inappropriate, then Members would need to consider refusing the 
application 

vii. with reference to the additional conditions requested by Councillor S. 
Smith, the additional protection to boundary treatments could be included 
in condition 43. The amendments to condition 52 regarding controlling 
vehicle movements should not restrict emergency vehicle movements. 
Noted that the final condition listed in Appendix 2 regarding the dry riser 
was not numbered but required the submission of details in the interests 
of residential amenity 

viii. roof terraces and courtyards were not identified in the Councils open 
space planning policy however officers felt there to be a good level of 
amenity space being provided on site. In some circumstances 
improvements to open space areas off site could be proposed  

ix. it was an all electric development with air source heat pumps for the 
Aparthotel 

x. the development would have biodiverse roof space including PV panels. 
Noted that there would need to be a trade-off regarding one or more 
renewable energy sources for example PV panels and air source heat 
pumps  

xi. condition 29 required a site wide electric policy. This was a standard 
condition applied to developments of this scale. Noted that the condition 
required a minimum of one EV charging point, but most housebuilders 
put in more  

xii. the Biodiversity SPD had only recently been adopted by the Councils, 
but the Council’s Biodiversity Officer had been consulted throughout the 
scheme  

xiii. Planning policy required water efficiencies of 110 litres per person per 
day. The applicant had agreed a reduction to 100 litres per person per 
day which would be achieved through condition 40. Rainwater harvesting 
was included in the development  

xiv. noted that there had been electricity capacity issues in Cambridge. The 
developer would need to ensure a connection was put into the grid 

xv. understood residents would be responsible for their own electricity bills 
but water charges would be included within the unit’s service charge   

xvi. a tree strategy plan had been received which provided details of trees to 
be felled and those to be re-planted   

xvii. the growing vegetable space would be contained on roof terraces for 
which further details were required as part of the Landscape Plan. The 
Management Company would be responsible for monitoring this area 

xviii. officers could look at plant species to provide the hedge buffer requested 
by Plymouth Close and Falmouth Close residents 

Page 23



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

14 

xix. the Aparthotel / gym facilities were ancillary to the development. The 
swimming pool within the Aparthotel was not the size of the Parkside 
pool and it was anticipated that only local people would use it and 
therefore its use would not generate a lot of extra vehicle movements 
from users 

xx. The applicant had proposed two car club spaces - consideration could be 
given to amending the condition to permit more if the need arose  

xxi. noted the cycle lanes were around the width of a car and that once roads 
were adopted by the highway authority Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) 
could be introduced which would be monitored and enforced by Local 
Parking Enforcement Officers. Currently about 35m of Lawrence Weaver 
Road was adopted highway with the remainder was the responsibility of 
the developer. In the longer term the Darwin Green area would be 
covered by parking restrictions. There were designated visitor parking 
spaces in the basement of the Aparthotel  

xxii. commented that separation distances varied between 18-21m between 
the proposed and existing properties. 18m separation distance was 
considered acceptable and was identified elsewhere on the Darwin 
Green development. 18m was considered good practice in urban design 
terms. Privacy screens would help to obscure windows behind the 
screens but were likely to be ‘slatted’ to allow light into the bedrooms   

xxiii. residents would be offered a 30% discount if they wanted to use the 
amenity facilities being provided as part of the development   

xxiv. only residents of buildings C, D and E would have access to the ‘play 
along the way’ space. There would not be swings or a slide provided but 
there would be features such as stepping stones; and  

xxv. the sheds would be single storey, 1-2m in height having a green roof so 
there would be no overbearing impact. Noted that condition 43 provided 
scope to finesse the citing of the cycle store.   

 
The Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development summarised the 
following amendments which were proposed arising from concerns raised by 
Members during debate:  

i. minor revision to condition 7 to include car clubs  
ii. amendment to condition 29 increasing the number of EV charging points 

to two  
iii. revise condition 43 under point (c) to include 

a. retention and protection of existing mature hedgerows along the 
north western boundary between Howes Place and the proposed 
development 

b. provision and maintenance of a 2m high 1m wide hedgerow along 
the boundary with a 1.2m mesh fence pending the maturity of the 

Page 24



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

15 

new hedgerow (subject to the needs for accommodating agreed 
vehicle access for services, refuse and emergency) 

c. a scheme for the installation of a new hedge along the boundary of 
the site with both Plymouth Close and Falmouth Close   

iv. revise condition 54 which was incomplete adding the details of locations 
of all dry rises of the Aparthotel be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority  

v. an additional condition to require details of cycle parking for Buildings 
C,D and E to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority 

vi. the Chair and Vice-Chair to be consulted on the final terms of s106 
Agreement prior to completion  

vii. the s106 agreement to include a 30% fee reduction for residents wishing 
to use the amenity facilities provided as part of the development; and 

viii. delegate drafting the amendments in respect of the condition 
amendments and additional condition together with the terms of and the 
completion of the s106 Agreement to the Director of Planning and 
Sustainable Development.  

 
  
The Committee:  
  
Resolved (by 6 votes to 2) to grant the application for planning permission in 
accordance with Officer recommendation Option B detailed in paragraph 269 
of the report, for the reasons set out therein, subject to:   

i. the prior completion of an Agreement under s106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as set out in Appendix 1 to the Officer’s 
report   

ii. the planning conditions and informatives contained in Appendix 2 of the 
Officer’s report with delegated authority to Officers:  

a. independently to negotiate, settle and complete the terms of the s106 
Agreement substantially reflecting the obligations set out in Appendix 1 
of the Officer’s report subject, before completing the Agreement to 
Officer consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee  

b. independently to settle any minor non-significant amendments to the 
conditions   

c. in the case of any significant amendment or the introduction of additional 
conditions to do so in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of 
Committee  

iii. delegated authority to Officers to draft and include the following 
amendments and additions to the following conditions:   
a. minor revision to condition 7 to include car clubs  

Page 25



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

16 

b. amendment to condition 29 increasing the number of EV charging 
points to two  

c. amend condition 43 under point c to include boundary treatments 
including the type, positions, design, species and materials of 
boundary treatments to be erected as follows: 
i. retention and protection of existing mature hedgerows along the 

north western boundary between Howes Place and the proposed 
development 

ii. provision and maintenance of a 2m high 1m wide hedgerow along 
the boundary with a 1.2m mesh fence pending the maturity of the 
new hedgerow (subject to the needs for accommodating agreed 
vehicle access for services, refuse and emergency) 

iii. a scheme for the installation of a new hedge along the boundary of 
the site with both Plymouth Close and Falmouth Close   

d. amend condition 54 which was incomplete so as to include the locations 
of all dry rises of the Aparthotel be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority   

e. an additional condition requiring the submission of details of cycle 
parking for Building C D and E for approval by the Local Planning 
Authority; and   

f. to seek a commitment in the s106 Agreement to secure a 30% cost 
reduction for residents’ use of the amenity facilities provided as part of 
the development – subject to such a commitment (if in the form of a 
planning obligation) being CIL compliant.   

22/16/JDCC Outline proposal for mixed use development including 
up to 1,000 dwellings, a secondary school, primary school, community 
facilities, provision for outdoor sports facilities, informal open space and 
allotments on site area approximately 80 hectares on land between 
Huntingdon Road and Histon Road 
 
Members raised the comments/questions as listed below. Answers were 
supplied with comments from Officers but as this was a pre-application 
presentation none of the answers and/or comments are binding on either the 
intended applicant or the local planning authority so consequently they are not 
recorded in these Minutes.  
  

1. Asked if there was a legal mechanism to retain the Country Park 
as an open space ensuring that it did not get developed.  
2. Asked about the car parking strategy.  
3. Asked about cycle connections through the Country Park to the 
A14.  

Page 26



Joint Development Control Committee  Wednesday, 6 April 2022 

 

 
 
 

17 

4. Asked for further details about the bund and planting along the 
A14.  
5. Requested decent garden sizes.  
6. Asked about EV charging points.  
7. Queried why the primary road went in front of the school.  
8. Asked for further information about drainage and the balancing 
pond.  
9. Queried if existing properties were in the red line boundary.  

10. Queried on-site provision of community services and support.  
11. Asked about 5k park run on the Country Park.  
12. Asked about biodiversity.  
13. Asked about skateboarding provision.  
14. Asked about allotments and the water table 

 
 
 

The meeting ended at 3.26 pm 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



  
 

Planning Committee 
Date 

21/04431/REM 

Report to Joint Development Control Committee 

Lead Officer Joint Director of Planning and Economic 
Development 

Reference 21/04431/REM 

Site Castle (Land between Huntingdon Road and Histon 
Road 

Ward / Parish Castle 

Proposal Reserved Matters Application for second housing 
phase (known as BDW2) including 323 dwellings 
with associated internal roads, car parking, 
landscaping, amenity and public open space. The 
Reserved Matters include access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale and related partial 
discharge of conditions 8, 10, 14, 17, 18, 22, 25, 26, 
28, 35, 40, 49, 52, 58, 62, 63, 66 and 69 pursuant to 
outline approval 07/0003/OUT 

Applicant Barratt David Wilson Homes (BDW) Cambridgeshire 

Presenting Officer Charlotte Burton, Principal Planning Officer 
(Strategic Sites Team) 

Reason Reported to 
Committee 

This is a reserved matters application for the 
provision of more than 100 residential units within 
the JDCC administrative area.  
 

Member Site Visit Date N/A 

Key Issues 1. Principle of development        
2. Context of site, design, and external spaces 
3. Impact on residential amenity        
4. Housing delivery        
5. Access and transport        
6. Community infrastructure 
7. Sustainability        
8. Environmental considerations        
9. Third party representations 

Recommendation APPROVE subject to conditions with delegated 
authority to officers to carry through minor 
amendments to those conditions and informatives 
(and include others considered appropriate and 
necessary) prior to the issuing of the planning 
permission. 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



0.0 Table of contents  
 

  
  

 REPORT SECTION 
 

1.  Executive Summary  

2.  Site Description and Context 

3.  The Proposal 

4.  Relevant Site History 

5.  Relevant policy  

6.  Consultations 

7.  Publicity 

8.  Third Party Representations 

9.  Member representations  

10.  Planning background  

11.  Assessment  

12.  Principle of development  

13.  Context of site, design, and external spaces 

14.  Housing delivery  

15.  Residential amenity for future occupants 

16.  Community infrastructure  

17.  Residential amenity of existing properties 

18.  Access and transport  

19.  Environmental issues  

20.  Ecology and biodiversity  

21.  Other issues 

22.  Third party representations  

23.  Planning balance  

24.  Recommendation  

25.  Planning conditions  

Page 30



1.0 Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The proposal is for ‘BDW2’ which is the next residential parcel within the 

Darwin Green 1 development on land between Huntingdon Road and 
Histon Road and pursuant to the outline consent 07/0003/OUT.  It follows 
on from the BDW1 and Local Centre phases.  Occupations on earlier 
phases have recently reached the 200th dwelling occupation.    
 

1.2 The application is for the approval of reserved matters relating to layout, 
landscaping, appearance and scale. The scheme would deliver 323 new 
homes including 129 affordable homes, public open space, an allotment 
site, three play areas, part of the Orbital Cycle Route connecting to 
Huntingdon Road and other associated infrastructure.  The existing 
pavilion building is not included in the red line boundary of the application 
site.   
 

1.3 The application includes information for approval to part discharge 
conditions on the outline consent in relation to this phase of development.  
 

1.4 Amendments were submitted during the course of the application. The first 
set of amendments were submitted in February 2022 and, among other 
changes, included an amendment to the red line of the application site to 
incorporate changes to the primary road (previously approved via the 
infrastructure reserved matters consent) to address comments from the 
Highways Authority.  A full consultation was undertaken on the 
amendments. The second set of amendments were submitted in June 
2022 including amendments to several plots to improve the amenity of the 
future occupants.  These were subject to a limited internal consultation 
with the relevant technical officers.  
 

1.5 The reserved matters proposals are generally compliant with the outline 
consent, including the outline parameter plans (as amended by the recent 
non-material amendment to the building heights parameter plan 
07/0003/NMA1) and the Design Code.  The proposals have evolved the 
site layout from the Design Code and conform to the established 
principles, and are supported by officers.   
 

1.6 The current application follows the refusal of the previous proposal 
19/1056/REM by the JDCC in December 2020.  The reasons for refusal 
related to 1) the residential amenity of future occupants, 2) inadequate 
supporting infrastructure (public open space, play areas and cycle 
parking), 3) impact on residential amenities of neighbouring properties 
(Grosvenor Court and Hoadly Road), and 4) the clustering of affordable 
homes.   
 

1.7 The applicant has sought to address these reasons for refusal through this 
reserved matters application and the subsequent amendments to the 
scheme.  This includes 1) all homes meet the internal space standards 
and the smallest gardens have been enlarged, 2) the public open space 

Page 31



exceeds the requirements of the outline consent, 3) increased distance 
between some of the plots adjacent to neighbouring properties, and 4) 
affordable housing clusters in accordance with the adopted guidance.  The 
applicant presented these changes to the JDCC in April 2021 at the 
developer briefing.  The application has also been subject to an officer 
briefing to the JDCC in April 2022.  Officers are satisfied these changes 
address the previous reasons for refusal.  

 
1.8 In addition, compared to the previous scheme, the current proposal 

delivers benefits which exceed the requirements of the outline consent, 
including providing active electric vehicle (EV) charge points for on-plot 
parking spaces (or 50% provision for other parking areas and passive 
provision for remaining spaces); future-proofing infrastructure to facilitate 
the upgrade to efficient electric heating systems; and a commitment for 
over one third of homes to be built to the forthcoming Part L Building 
Regulations 2021 achieving a greater carbon reduction than the current 
standards. 

 
1.9 Furthermore, the applicant has committed to conditions relating to 

maintenance of the ditch to the rear of properties on Woodlark Road and 
to install a bund for the duration of construction to prevent flows entering 
the ditch, in order to address concerns from local residents.  Other third 
party representations have been addressed in this report.  

 
1.10 For these reasons, the proposals are supported by officers, and the 

recommendation is to approve the application subject to conditions.   
 

1.11 The recommendation includes the respective approval or refusal of details 
submitted to part discharge outline planning conditions in relation to this 
phase of development.  Any conditions that are not recommended to be 
discharged will need to be resubmitted by the applicant in line with the 
triggers applied to each specific condition.  
 

1.12 Issues relating to compliance with the approved Phasing Plan and 
obligations within the Section 106 Agreement mentioned in this report will 
be resolved separately to this reserved matters application. 
 

2.0 Site Description and Context 
 

2.1 The application site known as parcel ‘BDW2’ is within the wider Darwin 
Green development, which is a 52.87 hectares site situated on land 
between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road. This site is allocated within 
the CLP 2018 within the ‘Land between Huntingdon Road and Histon 
Road Area of Major Change’ policy 20.  
 

2.2 To the north west is an 80 hectares site known as ‘Darwin Green 2/3’ 
which is within the South Cambridgeshire District Council (SCDC) 
boundary and is allocated in the SCDC Local Plan 2018 for approximately 
1,000 homes, social infrastructure and open space.  Darwin Green 2/3 

Page 32



does not have outline consent, however a hybrid planning application was 
submitted in May 2022 and is pending consideration (22/02528/OUT).  
 

2.3 The parcel known as ‘BDW2’ is approximately 8.11 hectares within the 
southern corner of the Darwin Green development site.  It comprises the 
former Christ’s and Sidney Sussex playing fields. The former pavilion 
building in the southernmost corner and immediate surroundings is 
excluded from the red line boundary of the application site and therefore 
does not form part of the current proposals.  
 

2.4 The site is orientated with the longest length approximately on a south-
west to north-east axis.  The site is rectangular with the northern corner 
removed where it adjoins the school playing fields.  The north-western 
boundary adjoins the BDW1 parcel and an existing hedge marks this 
boundary.  The north-eastern boundary will adjoin future parcels, again 
with a hedge forming a natural boundary.    
 

2.5 The land is currently grass and scrub with some earthworks and 
construction storage associated with the development of other parcels.   
The primary road which runs west to east through the site on a ‘dog leg’ – 
which was approved under the infrastructure reserved matters application 
- has been completed to base course level.  The land gradually rises from 
south to north.    
 

2.6 The south-east boundary adjoins the rear gardens of properties along 
Woodlark Road and Hoadly Road.  There is a ditch within the site (and 
within the applicant’s ownership) which runs along most of the length of 
this boundary to the rear of neighbouring properties, although it ends 
within 90m short of the site boundary on the eastern end.  There is a 
hedge along parts of this boundary.  
 

2.7 The south-west boundary adjoins the rear gardens of properties on 
Huntingdon Road, and part of the north-west boundary adjoins the rear 
gardens of properties on the southern side of Howes Place.  Again, there 
is hedge along part of this boundary.  
 

2.8 The site is not within a conservation area.  The former National Institute for 
Agricultural Botany (NIAB) headquarters building on Huntingdon Road and 
Howes Place are Buildings of Local Interest (BLIs). There are no listed 
buildings within the vicinity.  The site is within Flood Zone 1.   
 
Surrounding Area 
 

2.9 Darwin Green is within a predominantly residential area on the edge of the 
built-up area of the city.  The development together with Eddington on the 
western side of Huntingdon Road and Orchard Park on the eastern side of 
Histon Road (within South Cambridgeshire) form part of the city’s north 
west growth area providing mixed use employment and residential 
development and creating distinctive communities.  
 

Page 33



2.10 The site is approximately 2km from the city centre and 4km from the main 
train station.  The cycle, pedestrian and public transport facilities secured 
through the Darwin Green outline consent connect to good existing 
infrastructure, including along Huntingdon Road and Histon Road.  The 
Orbital Cycle Route approved through the infrastructure reserved matters 
provides good connectivity.  
 

2.11 The adjoining residential areas along Huntingdon Road, Woodlark Road, 
Hoadly Road and Howes Place are described further in the residential 
amenity section of this report.  In summary, these are characteristically 
two storey semi-detached and detached properties with relatively long rear 
gardens, and which have enjoyed an outlook onto the open sports field on 
the application site.  One exception to this is Grosvenor Court on 
Woodlark Road, which is described in detail in this report.  

 
3.0 The Proposal 
 
3.1 The application is made pursuant to condition 1 of the outline planning 

permission (07/0003/OUT) which mandates submission of reserved 
matters for each development parcel.  Reserved matters approval is 
sought for the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 323 homes, 
informal open space, allotments and associated infrastructure and 
landscaping.  
 

3.2 The proposal would provide 129 affordable and 194 market homes 
including a mix of houses and apartments, with a range of sizes, types and 
tenures, as summarised in the table below.   
 

Size of unit 
Affordable - 
Social rent 

Affordable - 
Shared 

ownership Market Total 

1 bed flat 12 0 6 18 

2 bed flat 18 12 12 42 

2 bed 
house 

33 8 5 46 

3 bed 
house 

9 16 60 85 

4 bed 
house 

21 0 107 128 

5 bed 
house 

0 0 4 4 

Total 93 36 194 323 

 
3.3 The affordable homes would be a mix of 93 affordable rent and 36 shared 

ownership.  The affordable dwellings will be owned and/or managed by 
the affordable housing provider London and Quadrant (L&Q) who are the 
developer’s partner in delivering affordable housing across the Darwin 
Green development. 
 

Page 34



3.4 The houses would be a mix of attached and detached properties over two 
to three storeys and including and flats-over-garages (FOGs).  The 
apartments would be within blocks up to three storeys high.  The built form 
is a mix of gabled and hipped roofs with varying orientations parallel and 
perpendicular to the street. 
 

3.5 The primary route through the site enters from the BDW1 on the north-
west boundary and heads towards the north-east site boundary onto 
BDW3.  There is also a secondary route from BDW1 and together these 
routes feed a grid block structure.  Tertiary streets are more relaxed and 
break down into smaller mews and shared surface areas.  
 

3.6 The proposal includes 0.15 hectares area of public open space in the 
southern corner referred to as ‘Pavilion Green’.  The existing pavilion 
fronts this space, but is excluded from the application site.  Pavilion Green 
includes a locally equipped area of play (LEAP) and is crossed by a cycle 
and pedestrian route.   
 

3.7 Two further locally equipped areas of play (LAPs) are proposed 
throughout the development.  One is located in a Pocket Park within the 
mews area in the western corner of the site.  The second would be within 
a motor-vehicle free space in the centre of the parcel referred to as the ‘T 
Park’.  Informal open space is integrated throughout the site. 
 

3.8 The proposal also includes a 0.43 hectare allotment site in the north-east 
corner. This would have vehicle access from the primary street and would 
include car parking spaces, an area to receive deliveries and communal 
facilities.  These allotments already have consent under the infrastructure 
reserved matters consent 14/0086/REM and the current proposals are for 
an alternative, although similar, arrangement.  
 

3.9 The application red line boundary also includes a pedestrian and cycle link 
from Huntingdon Road into the southern corner of the site.  This has 
already been approved under the infrastructure reserved matters consent.   
 

3.10 Car parking is proposed via on-plot spaces for the houses and small 
parking courts primarily for the apartments.  In total 509 residential car 
parking spaces are proposed plus 29 on-street visitor spaces and 3 
spaces within the allotments. 
 

3.11 Cycle parking is via small stores for each house and small communal 
stores for the apartments.  A small number of flats-over-garages have 
cycle parking within a garage. 
 

3.12 Refuse and recycling facilities are similarly provided for each house or via 
a small communal store for the apartments.  

 
Pre-application  
 

Page 35



3.13 The proposals were subject to extensive pre-application discussions prior 
to the submission of the previous application 19/1056/REM.  This included 
a presentation to the Cambridgeshire Quality Panel and the Disability 
Consultative Panel.  The feedback from these panels were considered as 
part of the previous application and have been incorporated into the 
current proposals.  
 

3.14 Following refusal of the previous application, the applicant presented their 
amendments to the scheme in response to the reason for refusal to the 
JDCC in April 2021.  The current application was also presented to the 
JDCC by officers in April 2022. The applicant actively engages in the 
North West and West Community Forum meetings held quarterly with 
residents.  
 
Application timeline 
 

3.15 The application was received on 1 October 2021 and before the expiration 
of the outline consent on 18 December 2021 as controlled via condition 4 
on the outline consent.  The application was received valid.   
 

3.16 During the course of the application, amendments were received on 24 
February 2022 (including an amendment to the red line of the application 
site boundary) and on 26 May 2022. These are described further below.  A 
full consultation was undertaken on the first set of amendments as 
covered in the Publicity section of this report, and a limited consultation 
was undertaken with relevant technical officers on the second set of 
amendments.  
 
Application documents  
 

3.17 In addition to the application forms, covering letter and architectural 
drawings, the application is accompanied by the following supporting 
information:  

 
- Planning Statement  
- Affordable Housing Statement and management approach 
- Design and Compliance Statement  
- Design Intent Report and Material Palette 
- Landscape Design Approach and Compliance Statement 
- Detailed Open Space Landscape Management and Maintenance Plan 
- Youth and Children’s Play Strategy and Compliance Statement 
- Drainage Report, drawings and calculations 
- Transport Statement  
- Ecological Conservation Management Plan 
- Sustainability Statement and Energy Report 
- Public Art Delivery Plan 
- Noise Assessment 
- Construction Management Plan 
- Site Waste Management Plan 
- External lighting details for public and private areas 

Page 36



- Vehicle tracking diagrams and highway adoption plan 
- Arboricultural Method Statement and plans 
- LAP1, LAP2, LAP3 and Youth and Children’s Play Design Compliance 

Report 
- Design Code compliance statement  
- Ecological Conservation Management Plan Statement 
- Affordable Housing Scheme and Plan 
  
Amended Plans and Additional Information  
 

3.18 Following the statutory consultation period and initial officer assessment of 
the application, revised information was submitted on 24 February 2022.  
This included an amendment to the red line boundary of the application 
site and response to issues raised in the consultation. These revisions 
relate to the following formal submissions:  
 
- Planning update statement 
- Response to third party representations   
- Plans and elevations to apartment blocks 
- Plans and elevations to houses 
- Construction Method Statement (CMS) 
- Detailed Waste Management Plan (DWMP) 
- Drainage Strategy, Levels Plan, Exceedance plan  
- Vehicle Tracking plans 
- Affordable Housing Scheme and Plan 
- Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
- Details of LAP and LEAP play areas 
- Detailed Open Space and Landscape Maintenance and Management 

Plan (DOSLMMP) 
- Hard and Soft Landscape  
- Bin storage and car and cycle parking 
- Material palette  
 

3.19 A Daylight and Sunlight Assessment of the impact on identified 
neighbouring properties, and visualisations of views from Hoadly Road 
were also submitted during the course of the application.  The occupants 
of 1 Hoadly Road were invited to comment on these.  
 

3.20 A further set of amendments and additional information was received on 
26 May 2022.  This included amendments to several plots to address 
concerns from officers about the amenity of the future occupiers.  The 
applicant also sought to address other concerns raised by technical 
officers. The submission included the following information: 
 
- Site plan at ground, first and roof level 
- Drainage Strategy, Levels Plan, Exceedance plan and Drainage 

Changes Summary Letter 
- Tree Survey, Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) and 

Arboricultural Implications Assessment (AIA) 
- Refuse Vehicle Tracking Diagrams 

Page 37



- Lighting proposals 
- Details of LAP and LEAP play areas 
- Strategy plans updated to reflect amended plot layouts 
- Plans and elevations to identified plots 
- Updated Design and Compliance Statement  
- Material palette  
- Updated Landscape Design Approach Report 
- Updated landscape and planting plans 
 

3.21 The detail of these amendments is discussed further in the relevant 
sections of this report.  
 
Discharge of conditions    
 

3.22 This reserved matters application includes the submission of details to 
partially discharge the following conditions on the outline consent 
07/0003/OUT insofar as they relate to the BDW2 reserved matters:  
 
- Condition 8 Design Code Compliance  
- Condition 10 Youth Facility and Children’s Play Provision  
- Condition 14 Soft and Hard Landscaping   
- Condition 17 Tree and Hedge Survey and Arboricultural Implications 

Assessment 
- Condition 18 Arboricultural Method Statement 
- Condition 22 Allotment Strategy  
- Condition 25 Affordable Housing  
- Condition 26 Accessible Dwellings  
- Condition 28 Renewable Energy  
- Condition 35 Detailed Surface Water Strategy  
- Condition 40 Ecological Conservation Management Plan Statement  
- Condition 49 Secure Parking of Bicycles  
- Condition 52 Construction Management Plan  
- Condition 58 Noise Assessment for future residents  
- Condition 62 Domestic and Trade Waste  
- Condition 63 Construction Waste Management  
- Condition 66 Lighting   
- Condition 69 Public Art 

 
4.0 Relevant Site History 
 

Reference  Description  Decision  

07/0003/OUT   Mixed use development comprising up to 
1593 dwellings, primary school, community 
facilities, retail units (use classes A1, A2, 
A3, A4 and A5) and associated 
infrastructure including vehicular, pedestrian 
and cycleway accesses, open space and 
drainage works.  

Approved on 
20 February 
2015   

Page 38



07/0003/NMA1 Non material amendment on application 
07/0003/OUT to the Number of Storeys 
Parameter Plan 2197/LP_3.2 Rev J 

Approved on 
22 December 
2020 

S/0001/07/F Formation of Vehicular Pedestrian and 
Cycleway Access Road from Histon Road 
to serve the Urban Extension of the City 
between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road 
Cambridge together with Drainage and 
Landscaping Works. 

Approved on 
18 December 
2013 

14/0086/REM  Reserved matters of 07/003/OUT for access 
roads, pedestrian and cycle paths, public 
open space, services across the site and 
one allotment site.  

Approved on 
19 June 2014 

14/1410/REM  Construction of public square with hard 
surfaced pedestrian and cycle areas, 
access road, disabled and service bay 
parking, soft landscaping, drainage and 
utilities pursuant to outline approval 
07/0003/OUT  

Approved on 
23 December 
2014 

15/1670/REM  Reserved matters for 114 residential units 
and local centre, including library, 
community rooms, health centre and retail 
units pursuant to outline consent 
07/0003/OUT.  

Approved on 
23 May 2016 

C/5000/15/CC  
(County 
Council)  

Erection of 2-Form Entry Primary School 
and Children's Centre.  

Approved on 
17 February 
2016 

16/0208/REM  Reserved matters application for first 
housing phase (known as BDW1) including 
173 dwellings with associated internal 
roads, car parking, 
landscaping, amenity and public open 
space.    

Approved on 
27 May 2016 

S/1355/17/FL Construction of a drainage pond (relocation 
of drainage pond permitted under reference 
S/0001/07/F) to support Darwin Green One 
site wide strategic drainage including 
revised access and landscaping details. 

Approved 
(date TBC) 

07/0003/NMA2 Non-material amendment to permission 
07/0003/OUT to amend the location of the 
attenuation pond in the Flood Risk 
Assessment approved in condition34 to that 
proposed in application S/1355/17/FL. 

Approved 
(date TBC) 

S/0001/07/NMA1 Non-material amendment to permission 
S/0001/07/F to amend the location of the 
attenuation pond in the Flood Risk 
Assessment approved in condition 6 so that 
it accords with the proposed location in 
application S/1355/17/FL. 

Approved 
(date TBC) 

Page 39



18/0355/FUL  Application for the temporary use of the 
ground floor of Block B, Plot 70, BDW1 (first 
residential phase) as a Community Room. 

Awaiting 
decision 

19/1056/REM Reserved Matters application for second 
housing phase (known as BDW2) including 
328 dwellings with associated internal 
roads, car parking, landscaping, amenity 
and public open space. The Reserved 
Matters include access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale and related 
partial discharge of conditions 8, 10, 14, 18, 
22, 25, 26, 27, 29, 35, 40, 49, 52, 58, 62, 
63, 66 and 69 pursuant to outline approval 
07/0003/OUT. 

Refused on 
22 December 
2020 

21/03619/REM Reserved matters application for fifth and 
sixth housing phases and Allotment 3 
(collectively known as BDW5 and 6) 
including 410 dwellings and allotments with 
associated internal roads, car parking, 
landscaping, amenity and public open 
space. The reserved matters include 
access, appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale and the related partial discharge 
of conditions 8, 10, 14, 22, 25, 26, 27, 29, 
35 and 58 pursuant to outline approval 
07/0003/OUT. 

Approved on 
22 December 
2021 

21/04431/REM Reserved Matters application for second 
housing phase (known as BDW2) including 
323 dwellings with associated internal 
roads, car parking, landscaping, amenity 
and public open space. The Reserved 
Matters include access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale and related 
partial discharge of conditions 8, 10, 14, 17, 
18, 26, 28, 35, 40, 49, 52, 58, 63, 66 and 69 
pursuant to outline approval 07/0003/OUT. 

Pending 
consideration 

22/02528/OUT Hybrid planning application comprising: 
Outline planning permission (all matters 
reserved except for means of access) for up 
to 1,000 residential dwellings, secondary 
school, primary school, community facilities, 
retail uses, open space and landscaped 
areas, associated engineering, demolition 
and infrastructure works; and Full planning 
permission for relocation of drainage pond 
permitted under reference S/0001/07/F 

Pending 
consideration 

 
5.0 Policy 
 
5.1 National  

Page 40



 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
National Planning Practice Guidance  
National Design Guide 2019 
Local Transport Note 1/20 (LTN 1/20) Cycle Infrastructure Design 
Circular 11/95 (Conditions, Annex A) 
Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standard 
(2015)  
 

5.2 Cambridge Local Plan 2018 
 

Policy 1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Policy 3: Spatial strategy for the location of residential development  
Policy 13: Areas of major change and opportunity areas  
Policy 20: Land between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road Area of Major 
Change   
Policy 28: Carbon reduction, community energy networks, sustainable 
design and construction, and water use  
Policy 29: Renewable and low carbon energy generation  
Policy 31: Integrated water management and the water cycle  
Policy 32: Flood risk  
Policy 33: Contaminated land  
Policy 34: Light pollution  
Policy 35: Protection of human health and quality of life from noise and 
vibration  
Policy 36: Air quality, odour and dust  
Policy 37: Cambridge Airport Public Safety Zone and Air Safeguarding 
Zones  
Policy 42: Connecting new developments to digital infrastructure   
Policy 45: Affordable housing and dwelling mix   
Policy 50: Residential space standards  
Policy 51: Accessible homes   
Policy 55: Responding to context  
Policy 56: Creating successful places   
Policy 57: Designing new buildings   
Policy 68: Open space and recreation provision through new development   
Policy 69: Protection of sites of biodiversity and geodiversity importance   
Policy 70: Protection of priority species and habitats   
Policy 71: Trees   
Policy 80: Supporting sustainable access to development   
Policy 81: Mitigating the transport impact of development   
Policy 82: Parking management  
Policy 85: Infrastructure delivery, planning obligations and the Community 
Infrastructure Levy 

 
5.3 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

Affordable Housing SPD (2008)  
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD (2018)  
Cambridgeshire Quality Charter for Growth (2008)  

Page 41



Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste Partnership (RECAP): Waste 
Management Design Guide SPD (2012) 
Public Art SPD (2010)  
Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2020)  
Greater Cambridge Biodiversity SPD (2022) 

 
5.4 Other Guidance 
 

Greater Cambridge Housing Strategy 2019 – 2023 
Draft Affordable Housing SPD (June 2014)  
Cambridge City Council’s Air Quality Action Plan (2018) 

 
6.0 Consultations  

 
Joint Housing Strategy Officer (South Cambridgeshire District 
Council) 
 
Comment 24 November 2021  
 

6.1 Further discussions before the scheme can be supported:  
- Need to provide more 3 bed houses and reduce the number of 4 bed 

houses.  
- The scheme does not maximise the bed spaces for affordable homes 

(-35 compared to a policy compliant scheme)  
- Clarification on some of the house types. 
- Local Lettings Plan and nomination agreement for the scheme to be 

agreed between the Council and the Registered Provider.  
 
Comment on amendments 4 May 2022 
 

6.2 The responses are acceptable. 
 
Access Officer (Greater Cambridge Shared Planning) 
 

6.3 No comments received.  
 
Urban Design Team, Built and Natural Environment Team (Greater 
Cambridge Shared Planning) 

 
Comment 31 November 2021 
 

6.4 Support subject to recommendations: Amendments to sections of the 
primary street south and secondary street introduce raised tables to 
manage the maximum design speed of 20 miles per hour. Conditions 
relating to materials, brickwork sample panel and cycle parking. 
 
Comment on amendments 23 March 2022 
 

6.5 The amendments have addressed previous comments.  The proposal is 
supported subject to conditions recommended above. 

Page 42



 
Comment on amendments 17 June 2022 

 
6.6 Amendments have addressed plot specific issues.  Cycle stores located at 

the front of plots should have a green roof.  Support subject to a condition 
to secure design details and materials and details of the cycle stores to 
include a green roof.  

 
Landscape Team, Built and Natural Environment Team (Greater 
Cambridge Shared Planning) 
 
Comment 24 November 2021 
 

6.7 Support subject to recommendations: previous recommendation on 
application 19/1056/REM (condition for landscape management and 
maintenance plan, tree pit details and green roofs).  
 
Comments on amendments 21 June 2022 
 

6.8 Support the amendments.  Recommend conditions 10 and 22 are not 
discharged as more details are required to gain approval by the adopting 
authority.  Recommend conditions relating to details of green roofs and 
boundary fencing at site perimeters near hedging and retained 
watercourse.  

 
Sustainable Drainage Engineer (Cambridge City Council) 
 

6.9 No comments received.  
 
Lead Local Flood Authority (Cambridgeshire County Council)  

 
Comment 24 November 2021 
 

6.10 Object:  
- Plans to reinstate, regrade and install a new headwall on the outfall 

from the existing ditch backing onto the properties on Woodlark Road , 
including access for future maintenance works, should be clearly 
included within the drainage layout plan, including the access routes. 

- More information is required within the submitted drainage layout 
plans, such as the details of the proposed flow controls and the pipe 
network that these features are connecting into within the wider 
network, as well as a catchment plan indicating the five networks within 
this application to assist in the review of the drainage layout and 
calculations.  

- Exceedance routing should be indicated within the drainage layout 
plan, ensuring that the flow do not take any exceedance to any existing 
or proposed dwellings.  

- The applicant should submit all calculations for each network, showing 
the 1 year, 30 year and 100 year storms. There should be no 

Page 43



surcharging in the 1 year and no water outside the system in the 30 
year storms.  

- FSR rainfall data is now outdated and there are more accurate data 
sets in FEH 1999 and 2013 models.  FEH rainfall data is now required 
on all applications to ensure the hydraulic modelling is an accurate 
representation of the proposed network. 

- Permeable paving on private driveways should be maintained by the 
prospective resident or each property, to ensure that these can be 
maintained all year round. Permeable paving should be brushed 
regularly to help keep the surface in good working order and this 
should also be included within the maintenance plan. 

- The maintenance of the retained ditch against the properties of 
Woodlark road should be included within the maintenance plan. This 
should detail all required maintenance and the frequency of proposed 
maintenance to the ditch.  

 
Comment on amendments 31 March 2022 

 
6.11 No objection. The submission demonstrates that surface water from the 

proposed development can be managed through the use of permeable 
paving over private access and parking areas. A swale is proposed along 
the T-park area. Surface water is then discharged into the wider approved 
strategic surface water drainage system, serving the wider Darwin Green 
development area, at a controlled rate.   
 

6.12 The proposals include the re-profiling of a drain along the eastern 
boundary of the scheme, which outfalls into the Anglian Water system. 
There have been discussions regarding the timing of these works to the 
drain and the LLFA believes this should be as soon as possible to ensure 
that the drain functions suitably during the construction period. Should the 
LPA support this reserved matters application, the LLFA would support a 
suitably worded condition to ensure that the works to the drain are 
implemented and is maintained for the duration of the works and lifetime of 
the proposed development. 
 

6.13 Support subject to recommended informatives relating to the ordinary 
watercourse and pollution control.  
 
Additional comment 03.05.2022 
 

6.14 No objection to the discharge of condition 52. Surface water will be 
managed suitably during the construction stage.  

 
Sustainability Officer, Built and Natural Environment Team (Greater 
Cambridge Shared Planning) 
 
Comments 19 November 2021 
 

6.15 Support, subject to: 

Page 44



- Conditions relating to futureproofing for low temperature housing and 
implementation of carbon reduction strategy 

- Outline conditions 27 and 28 recommended for discharge subject to  
imposition of new conditions 

- Outline condition 63 not recommended for discharge 
 
Comment on amendments 21 March 2022 
 

6.16 Support, subject to conditions above. The applicant has now submitted a 
Waste Management Technical Note pursuant to the information required 
by condition 63 which is recommended for discharge 
 
Comment on additional information 29 March 2022 
 

6.17 Further information has now been provided regarding the construction 
standards and the number of homes being built to the Code for 
Sustainable Homes as required by condition 29 of the outlined permission.  
This is supported and the condition previously recommended for a carbon 
reduction strategy condition is no longer required.   

 
Ecology Officer, Streets and Open Spaces (Cambridge City Council) 

 
Comment 11 November 2021 
 

6.18 No objection.  Recommend discharge of outline condition 40. 
 
Comment 25 March 2022 
 

6.19 No further comment on amendments. 
 

Tree Officer, Streets and Open Spaces (Cambridge City Council)  
 
Comment 12 April 2022 
 

6.20 The Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) is out of date with the Tree 
Protection Plan (TPP) and not reflecting the submitted general 
arrangement.  The AMS does not provide servicing information. Works to 
the existing ditch course have not been considered in relation to T9.  
Levels information is unclear on the TPP and the impact on root protection 
areas is not supported.  Resubmission required. 
 
Streets and Open Spaces Team (Cambridge City Council) 

 
Comment 20 January 2022 

 
6.21 Unable to comment, further information required: 

• More detail on the LAP provision generally. 
• Detail of fixed play equipment at each location.  
• Extent of boundaries of the adoptable open space/play space provision.  
• Dates for the completion of the adoptable play space and landscape.  

Page 45



• Detail of the community art offering for public open space.  
• Detail of ecological enhancements wildlife corridors and habitat.  
• Detail of drainage features within the adoptable Open Space provision.  
• Detail of Management Plan reflecting the City Council’s green ambitions 

 
6.22 Comments based on limited information including relating to the 

distribution of play spaces, the integration of play provision into open 
space, the quantity, connectivity and distribution of accessible open space, 
integration of public art into open space, details around future 
maintenance, measures to reduce need for chemical weed control, and 
proportion of hardstanding and green spaces within the open space.  

 
6.23 Recommend conditions relating to submission of details of maintenance 

and management of the public open space and allotments, submission of 
details of boundary treatments, and submission of further details about the 
LAP and allotments. 

 
Public Art Officer, Streets and Open Spaces Team (Cambridge City 
Council) 
 
Comments 15 June 2022 
 

6.24 The principle of the proposal is supported, however the timescale in the 
Public Art Delivery Plan needs to be updated.  
 
Greater Cambridge Shared Waste Team 
 

6.25 No comments received.  
 
Local Highway Authority (Cambridgeshire County Council) 

 
Comment 17 November 2021 
 

6.26 The proposed layout and design of the internal road layout is unlikely to 
achieve a 20mph design speed. The proposed use of on street car parking 
as speed reducing features is also not acceptable.  The swept path 
analysis for the refuse vehicle clearly shows it entering third party land 
when turning, which demonstrates that the proposed turning area is too 
small. The swept path also shows the refuse vehicle in conflict with some 
of the street trees.  The Highway Authority would adopt some of the roads 
in principle subject to detail.   
 

6.27 Recommend conditions relating to pedestrian visibility splays, construction 
of driveways, and inter-visibility splays for access points 

 
Comment on amendments 21 March 2022 
 

6.28 The introduction of additional vertical features within the carriageway will 
significantly improve the compliance with the 20mph design speed. Some 
of the refuse tracking is still constrained, but the diagrams do show a 

Page 46



vehicle manoeuvring without striking the kerbs or oversailing any 
footways.  
 

6.29 The Highway Authority will not seek to adopt all the streets, this will 
include the shared surfaces serving plots 202-261 as these two no through 
routes provide motor vehicle access to 16 and 17 properties each. This is 
in excess of the level that the Highway Authority finds acceptable. 

 
Environmental Quality and Growth Team (Cambridge City Council) 
 
Comment 08 November 2021 
 

6.30 No objection subject to recommend conditions for electric vehicle charging 
points.  Outline condition 58 recommended for discharge.  Outline 
conditions 52 and 66 not recommended for discharge. 
 
Comment on amendments 14.03.2022 
 

6.31 No objection subject to recommended condition for electric vehicle 
charging points. Outline conditions 52, 58 and 66 recommended for 
discharge.  
 
Anglian Water  

 
Comment 01 November 2021 
 

6.32 No comment to make. The Flood Risk Assessment/Drainage Strategy has 
been reviewed and the proposed method of surface water discharge does 
not relate to an Anglian Water owned asset. As such, it is outside of 
Anglian Water's jurisdiction and so unable to provide comments on the 
suitability of the surface water discharge. The Local Planning Authority 
should seek the advice of the Lead Local Flood Authority or the Internal 
Drainage Board. The Environment Agency should be consulted if the 
drainage system directly or indirectly involves the discharge of water into a 
watercourse. 

 
Environment Agency 

 
Comment 28 October 2021 & on amendment 15 March 2022 
 

6.33 No comment to make. Refer to standing advice. 
 

Cambridge City Airport  
 

Comment 11 November 2021 & 18 March 2022 
 

6.34 No safeguarding objection.  Draw attention to British Standard Code of 
Practice for the safe use of Crane and the need to consult the aerodrome. 

 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary  

Page 47



 
Comments on amendments 21 March 2022 
 

6.35 The site is in an area of medium risk to the vulnerability to crime.  Overall 
the proposal is an acceptable layout in relation to crime prevention and 
fear of crime.  Detailed comments in relation to cycle stands and stores, 
bin stores and lighting to parking courts. 

 
Health and Safety Executive  

 
6.36 No interest.  
 

Cambridge Fire and Rescue  
 

Comment 10 November 2021 
 

6.37 Advice about securing fire hydrants, access and facilities for the Fire 
Service in accordance with Building Regulations.  If there are any 
buildings on the development that are over 11 metres in height (excluding 
blocks of flats) not fitted with fire mains, then aerial (high reach) appliance 
access is required, the details of which can be found in the attached 
document. 
 
Comment 28 April 2022 
 

6.38 No further comment on amendments. 
 
Defence Infrastructure Organisation  
 

6.39 No objection due to there being no flat roofs. 
 

7.0 Publicity 
 

7.1 The following publicity has been undertaken: 
 
Neighbour notification Yes 
Site notice   Yes 
Advertisement  Yes 
 

7.2 In addition to the initial consultation when the application was validated, a 
full re-consultation for 21 days was undertaken for the amendments 
submitted in February 2022 (including the amendments to the red line of 
the application site) via neighbour notification, site notice and 
advertisement. 
 

8.0 Third Party Representations 
 
8.1 During the course of the application, representations were received from 

the owners/occupiers of the following properties: 
 

Page 48



- 1 Hoadly Road 
- 11 Woodlark Road 
- 29 Woodlark Road 
- 65 Woodlark Road 
- 98 Windsor Road 
- 162 Huntingdon Road 
- 176 Huntingdon Road 
- 6 Howes Place 
- 8 Howes Place 
 

8.2 Representations were also received from the Committee of the Windsor 
Road Residents Association (93 Windsor Road).  
 

8.3 The representations have been summarised as follows:  
 

Character, appearance and scale 
 

 The proposed house on plot 76 is closer to the boundary than other 
similar plots and should be set further away from the boundary in line 
with other plots. 

 Amendments should be made to the proposed homes backing onto 
Howes Place properties: 1) Replacement of red bricks / clay tiles with 
buff bricks / slates on plots 185, 186 and 190-192; and 2) Replacement 
of 1200mm high post and rail timber fence with 1800mm high close 
board / larch lap timber fencing along the boundary maintaining all 
existing hedging along this boundary. 

 Clarify what the access path will be used for? Has thought been given 
to the security risk to both the proposed homes and existing properties 
on Woodlark Road? The gates should be locked and sufficiently high to 
prevent access.   

 
Residential amenity impact  
 

 The proposed dwellings are at a distance from number 1 Hoadly Road 
that is less than one third the distance from all other properties on 
Windsor Road and Hoadly Road.  A daylight and sunlight assessment 
of the proposed dwellings on number 1 Hoadly Road is required in 
accordance with Building Research Establishment’s (BRE) guidance to 
assess the impact on amenity.  

 The existing ditch and hedge along the boundary with Woodlark Road 
should be extended along the side of number 1 Hoadly Road to protect 
the privacy and amenity of the occupiers of the neighbouring property.  
A former ditch in this location was flattened out by the developer.  

 Tree planting along the pathway from Huntingdon Road will result in 
increased shading in the summer months of rear terrace to number 
162 Huntingdon Road.  The existing hedge along the boundary with 
number 162 Huntingdon Road needs to be restocked to make good the 
gaps that appeared following the developer’s initial clearance and site 
set up. Any planting along this boundary should be carried out with 

Page 49



consultation particularly with regard to the shading, securing and future 
enjoyment of the neighbouring property.  
 

Construction impacts 
 

 There must be security for the rear of the Woodlark Road properties 
and other adjacent properties during construction.  
 

Highways  
 

 Discontinuity between the BDW2 tertiary street with the BDW3 tertiary 
street in the south east corner. Confirm the status of the roadway in the 
south east corner towards BDW3 and the regulations that will apply to 
this roadway and the meaning of the dotted lines (Design Changes 
Report p7) This route should not provide motor vehicle access which 
should be prevented in the future.  
 

Sustainability 
 

 Insufficient proposals on sustainability and decarbonisation which 
should be set to higher standards to address climate change.  
Installation of solar panels and thermal insulation to passiv-haus 
standards as a minimum. 
 

Impact on trees and hedges 
 

 The hedge should be maintained along the entire boundary with 
Woodlark Road specifically behind Grosvenor Court.  The hedge 
should be mixed and 3 metres high and 1 metre wide for privacy, 
biodiversity and flood protection. 

 Confirm proposals for feature tree (p29 of the landscape design 
approach) 

 Uncertainty about proposed tree works.  The hawthorn trees to the rear 
of Woodlark Road properties (specifically number 65 Woodlark Road) 
should not be removed to retain existing birds and other wildlife. 
 

Drainage and flooding 
 

 There are currently surface water drainage flows from the site into the 
existing ditch to the rear of Woodlark Road properties.  There will be 
surface water entering the existing ditch to the rear of Woodlark Road 
properties from the BDW2 gardens and the Woodlark Road gardens.  

 Anglian Water have responsibilities in respect of the site drainage and 
have not commented on the application.  Anglian Water own the storm 
drain between numbers 27 and 29 Woodlark Road and the proposals 
include a new access change to the outfall.  What is the new access 
changer to outfall and how does that affect flood risk? 

 The existing ditch to the rear of Woodlark Road properties should be 
cleared out before housebuilding commences to prevent flooding to 

Page 50



Grosvenor Court and adjacent properties and retained clear of debris 
and with a suitable width during construction.  

 The drainage work and ditch, the secure maintenance path and the 
hedge must be maintained at specified intervals by an identified 
responsible authority.  

 Has consideration been given to surface water run-off into existing 
gardens along Huntingdon Road?  It is incorrect that existing surface 
water run-off is from Huntingdon Road gardens into the site.  Evidence 
of flooding in January – April 2018 has been provided to the Council 
and flooding also occurred in Christmas 2020 – February 2021.  
 

Use of Pavilion 
 

 There are no proposals for the existing pavilion and the future of this 
building is unpredictable.  The existing pavilion building should be 
maintained in a good state of repair. 

 
8.4 Full copies of the representations can be found on the application file.  
 
9.0 Member Representations 

 
9.1 Representations were received from Councillor Simon Smith (Cambridge 

City Council Ward Councillor for Castle) regarding: 
 

 visualisations showing the impact on the Hoadly Road street scene.  

 the impact on 1 Hoadly Road. 

 the drainage proposals including ongoing maintenance. 

 the drainage ditch to the rear of Woodlark Road properties. 

 overlooking from dwellings backing onto existing developments. 

 boundary treatments with the rear gardens of Huntingdon Road and 
Howes Place properties. 

 the existing pavilion building.  
 

9.2 Full copies of the representations can be found on the application file.  
 

10.0 Planning background  
 

Outline Consent 
 

10.1 Outline planning permission was granted in December 2013 for DG1 to 
deliver a mixed-use development comprising up to 1,593 dwellings, 
primary school, community facilities, retail units (use classes A1, A2, A3, 
A4 and A5) and associated infrastructure including vehicular, pedestrian 
and cycleway accesses, open space and drainage works. The outline 
planning application required Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA).  
 

10.2 The outline consent approved the detail of access from Huntingdon Road 
within Cambridge City boundary, with a second access from Histon Road 
approved under a separate full planning permission S/0001/07/F, and 
wholly within SCDC boundary.  The details that were reserved for 

Page 51



determination at a later stage were the appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale.  These are defined in article 2 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.  
The assessment of a reserved matters application is limited to these 
aspects.  
 

10.3 The outline consent approved a series of parameter plans. The approved 
parameter plans relate to land use, access, building heights, landscape 
and urban design parameters.  Illustrative material accompanying the 
outline consent including illustrative masterplans or visualisations are not 
listed on the decision notice and are not approved plans.   A non-material 
amendment application 07/0003/NMA1 was approved by the JDCC in 
December 2020.  This amended the Number of Storeys Parameter Plan to 
increase the maximum number of storeys from 2 storeys to 3 storeys for 
certain plots within the BDW2 parcel (discussed in more detail in this 
report).   
 

10.4 The outline consent was also subject to planning conditions.  These 
include strategic conditions, including a site-wide Design Code.  This was 
approved in 2014 and all reserved matters parcels are required to 
demonstrate compliance with it.  The Code defines a vision for Darwin 
Green, site-wide coding and defines character areas.  Other strategic 
conditions include a site-wide drainage strategy, a bus route, a site-wide 
strategy for youth and play, an allotment plan, a public art strategy and 
construction conditions.  The conditions on the outline consent also set 
requirements for car parking standards, sustainability targets, and 
affordable housing delivery.  Reserved matters must demonstrate 
compliance with these details.   
 

10.5 The outline consent was approved under the previous Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006.  As such, policies within the adopted CLP 2018 can only be 
applied where these fall within the definition of the reserved matters, 
where details have been secured through conditions, or where the 
requirements of the new policy are consistent with the Design Code or 
other approved outline documents.  As such, CLP 2018 policies on space 
standards, EV charging points, or energy and sustainability cannot lawfully 
be applied to this reserved matters application, as discussed in the 
relevant sections of this report.  
 

10.6 Finally, the outline consent was subject to a Section 106 Legal Agreement 
which sets out the requirements for the delivery of affordable housing and 
social infrastructure, including formal and informal open space, allotments, 
community facilities and the primary school, and transport improvements.  

 
Reserved Matters 
 

10.7 Several reserved matters consents have been granted and outline 
conditions discharged, as detailed in the Planning History section of this 
report.  This includes approval of site-wide infrastructure including access 
roads, pedestrian and cycle paths, public open space, services across the 

Page 52



site and one allotment site (14/0086/REM).  The main arterial route 
through the site has been completed to base course level and the strategic 
drainage works have been completed.  
 

10.8 Reserved matters consent has been granted for the Local Centre 
(15/1670/REM) and public square (14/1410/REM), and three residential 
parcels known as BDW1 (16/0208/REM) and BDW5 and 6 
(21/03619/REM).  The Local Centre and applications for BDW1, and 
BDW5/6 approved 114, 173 and 410 dwellings respectively. Construction 
is complete on BDW1 and partially complete at the Local Centre.  The 
developer is currently discharging pre-commencement conditions on 
BDW5/6.  
 

10.9 In correspondence with the Council, the applicant has advised that the 
occupation of these parcels has reached the 200th dwelling, triggering 
planning obligations not yet delivered. The construction has also not 
followed the approved Phasing Plan. The specific obligations and phasing 
are discussed further in the Principle of Development section of this report. 
As discussed in the same section, the delays in delivering the agreed 
infrastructure at Darwin Green can be resolved and the Council is 
following up this issue with the developers. 

 
11.0 Assessment 
 

11.1 From the consultation responses and representations received and from 
an inspection of the site and the surroundings, the key issues are:   
  

 Principle of development  

 Context of site, design, and external spaces 

 Housing delivery 

 Residential amenity for future occupants 

 Social and community infrastructure 

 Access and transport 

 Energy and Sustainability 

 Impact on residential amenity of existing properties 

 Environmental considerations 

 Third party representations 
 

12.0 Principle of Development 
 

12.1 The principle of residential development was established by the outline 
permission 07/0003/OUT. This is a reserved matters application submitted 
pursuant to condition 1 on the outline consent, which requires approval of 
details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.  This application 
was submitted and validated within eight years from the date of the outline 
permission thus complying with condition 4.  
 

12.2 This reserved matters proposal is acceptable in principle provided that the 
development is carried out in accordance with the mitigation measures as 
set out in the Environmental Statement, that it complies with the outline 

Page 53



parameter plans, and that it is compliant with the Design Code and S106 
Agreement.  Compliance is assessed as follows and in the relevant 
sections of this report.  
 
Compliance with Outline Parameter Plans 
 

12.3 The outline consent approved a series of parameter plans (PP) and 
detailed access plans, and condition 72 requires development to be in 
accordance with those approved documents.  The applicant has submitted 
a statement to assess compliance of the current BDW2 reserved matters 
application with the PPs, which has been reviewed by officers.  This is 
assessed against the following approved parameter plans: 
 

 Land Use Parameter Plan 

 Number of Storeys Parameter Plan 

 Landscape Parameter Plan 

 Access Parameter Plan 

 Urban Design Framework Parameter Plan 
 

12.4 The Land Use PP shows BDW2 within an area identified on the key as 
‘predominantly residential zones, including associated infrastructure and 
facilities, such as access roads, play areas and allotments’.  The southern 
corner includes a rectangular area on the northern side of the existing 
pavilion as ‘major formal and informal open space zones’. The applicant 
has provided an overlay of the site boundaries to demonstrate full 
compliance with the Land Use PP.  This is supported.  
 

12.5 The Number of Storeys PP shows the current parcel includes zones 
varying between up to 2 storeys and up to 4 storeys.  Where BDW2 
shares a boundary with existing properties on Howes Place, Huntingdon 
Road and Woodlark Road, the PP shows development would be up to 2 
storeys.  The centre is where the taller development up to 4 storeys would 
be located, with a transitional area of development up to 3 storeys in 
between these two zones.  It is important to note that the PP states the 
maximum building heights. 
 

12.6 The non-material amendment approved by the JDCC in December 2020 
(07/0003/NMA1) approved an increase in the maximum building heights in 
four areas from a maximum 2 storeys to 3 storeys.  The corresponding 
plots in the current proposals are numbers 095, 169 and 200.  The 
proposed dwellings in these locations would be 2.5 storeys and therefore 
the proposals comply with the Number of Storeys PP as amended.  This is 
supported.  
 

12.7 The approved Urban Design Framework PP shows key building frontages 
along the primary route through the parcel.  The current proposal uses 
terraced forms and apartment blocks to create key frontages, and uses 
red brick for marker buildings to hold key spaces such as the ‘T Park’ and 
to hold key corners.  This is supported.  
 

Page 54



12.8 The Landscape PP shows the existing hedgerow on the BDW2 
boundaries with Howes Place, Huntingdon Road and Woodlark Road 
properties should be retained, and the existing hedgerow along the 
boundary with the adjacent BDW1 parcel should be retained with gaps 
allowed for access. The proposed landscaping plans shows existing 
hedges around the perimeter to be retained, as discussed further in the 
Landscape section of this report.  The Landscape PP also shows the 
rectangular area in the southern corner on the northern side of the existing 
pavilion should be a proposed landscape corridor and open space 
containing sustainable drainage, which is ‘Pavilion Green’ in the current 
proposals. This is supported.  
 

12.9 The relevant part of the Access PP for this parcel is the indicative 
alignment of the primary street from BDW1 in the north west to BDW3 in 
the north east; and the proposed high quality cycle route (part of the 
Orbital Cycle Route) coming from Huntingdon Road via the existing 
access into the southern corner of the parcel.  These routes were 
approved through the infrastructure reserved matters and the current 
proposal is consistent with this approval and the Access PP.  This is 
supported. 
 

12.10 Overall, the proposal is assessed to be compliant with the outline 
parameter plans for the reasons given above.  
 
Outline Environmental Statement 
 

12.11 Condition 6 on the outline consent requires the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the mitigation measures as set out in the 
Environmental Statement (ES) submitted with the outline permission. The 
conclusion is that the proposal would not have significant environmental 
impacts as these would be mitigated through measures secured via 
conditions and planning obligations. The topics covered by the ES are the 
following: 
 

 Landscape and Visual Assessment 

 Ecology 

 Cultural Heritage and Archaeology 

 Agriculture and Soils 

 Ground Conditions and Contamination 

 Drainage and Flood Risk 

 Traffic and Transportation 

 Noise and Vibration 

 Air Quality 

 Recreation 

 Socioeconomics 

 Services 

 Waste 

 Energy and Carbon Strategy 
 

Page 55



12.12 The proposals would not vary from the outline consent and therefore they 
would not have significant environmental effects beyond those already 
assessed with the outline application. An Environmental Impact 
Assessment therefore is not required alongside the reserved matters 
application.  Compliance with the conditions and planning obligations is 
discussed throughout this report.  
 
Compliance with Section 106 Planning Obligations 
 

12.13 The Section 106 Agreement for the outline consent (as amended by Deed 
of Variations) establishes the triggers for the delivery of infrastructure.  At 
the time of preparing this report, the delivery of infrastructure is in breach 
of several triggers.  This includes the completion of 0.8 hectares of open 
space and 0.13 hectares of children and youth provision prior to the 
occupation of the 200th dwelling, the temporary community rooms prior to 
the occupation of the 50th dwelling, and identification of a health care 
tenant prior to the occupation of the 200th dwelling. The Council is working 
with the applicant, the County Council and the NHS to resolve these 
breaches and to ensure upcoming triggers are on-track to be delivered.   
 

12.14 The requirements for open space and children and youth provision play 
areas and allotments within the BDW2 parcel are addressed in the current 
application.  The proposals include the allotments and Pavilion Green, with 
additional open space provided in Pocket Parks including play spaces, 
and incidental spaces.  These align with the respective strategies 
approved as part of the outline permission, as discussed in the Open 
Space, Children’s Play Spaces and Allotments sections of this report. 
Officers are therefore satisfied that the proposals within this reserved 
matters application are consistent with the relevant Section 106 
Agreement planning obligations. 
 

12.15 The permanent community facility is expected to be handed over to the 
City Council in a matter of months (at the time of preparing this report), 
which would be ahead of the delivery trigger for the permanent facility prior 
to occupation of the 300th dwelling.  However, until this facility is handed 
over, the development is in breach of the obligation to provide a temporary 
facility by the 50th occupation. The Council is working with the applicant on 
the handover of this facility.  This breach is not considered to have a 
material impact on the acceptability of the BDW2 proposals, as the 
permanent facility is likely to be open prior to first occupation on BDW2.  
 

12.16 The identification of a tenant for the health centre is the subject of recent 
discussions between the developer, the City Council and the NHS 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).  
This has been outside the developer’s control to some extent, however 
discussions are now progressing positively.  This breach is regrettable as 
there is currently no commitment that the health centre will be open prior 
to the 500th dwelling occupation.  Officers consider that it would not be 
reasonable to take the view that the BDW2 proposals are unacceptable on 

Page 56



this basis, as compliance is not wholly within the applicant’s control and 
discussions are progressing positively.   
 

12.17 Some County Council highways obligations have also not been met in 
accordance with the delivery triggers.  This includes the provision of a 
toucan crossing on Huntingdon Road prior to occupation of the 50th 
dwelling.  The County Council highways officers advised in April 2022 that 
some preliminary designs which have been submitted by the applicant to 
the Highways Authority have been reviewed, however the scheme has not 
been further progressed to the detailed design stage.  Given the proximity 
of the crossing to the BDW2 parcel, it will be essential that the developer 
resolves this breach and delivers the crossing point no later than the first 
occupation on the BDW2 parcel.  The City and County Council officers will 
continue to work together with the developer on this. Officers consider that 
it would not be reasonable to take the view that the BDW2 proposals are 
unacceptable on this basis. 

 
12.18 Other breaches of highways obligations include: the submission of a walk 

and cycle signage scheme prior to the 50th dwelling occupation, which 
needs to be resolved; approval of a Histon Road signal improvements 
scheme prior to occupation (although the Highways Authority has advised 
that a Section 278 Agreement for this has technical approval); and the 
approval of a scheme for cycle upgrades on Histon Road prior to 
occupation (which the Highways Authority has advised that this may have 
been superseded by the Greater Cambridge Partnership works along 
Histon Road).  The BDW2 parcel is at the opposite end of the site to these 
works, and therefore the delay in providing this infrastructure is not 
considered to have a material impact on the acceptability of the current 
proposals.  Nonetheless, the City and County Council officers will continue 
to work together with the developer on this. 
 

12.19 In summary, at the time of preparing this report, the Council has been 
working proactively with the developer and colleagues in the County 
Council and other partners to resolve these breaches. Some of the 
breaches would not have a material impact on the acceptability of the 
BDW2 proposals.  Where breaches would have an impact on the 
proposals - namely the delay with the Huntingdon Road toucan crossing – 
through the provision of infrastructure to provide safe and connected 
routes to and through the development, the City Council will continue to 
work proactively on these, however these are not matters that can be 
resolved through the current reserved matters application.     
 
Phasing 

 
12.20 A site-wide phasing plan was approved through the discharge of condition 

5 on the outline consent.  This phasing plan was dated June 2014.  
Construction of the BDW2 parcel is split across Phase 2 and Phase 3.  It 
is important to note that the Phasing Plan refers to the construction 
programme and it is acceptable for parcels to come forward for reserved 

Page 57



matters approvals in a different sequence to the Phasing Plan, including 
combining into one BDW2 parcel is also acceptable.  
 

12.21 There are some areas of inconsistency between the construction on site 
and the Phasing Plan.  This includes the construction sequencing, delivery 
of infrastructure, open space, drainage, highways works, and pedestrian 
and cycle networks.  The Council has asked the applicant to submit an 
updated Phasing Plan to re-discharge condition 5 on the outline consent.  
An application was received on 30 May 2022.  The Council has 
commenced a review of the revised Phasing Plan.  This does not have a 
material impact on the acceptability of the BDW2 reserved matters 
application.  

 
Principle of Development – Conclusion 
 

12.22 The BDW2 scheme forms an important next phase of delivery on Darwin 
Green, which makes a significant contribution to meeting the Greater 
Cambridge housing delivery targets.  The scheme is generally compliant 
with the outline consent and any non-compliance is not considered by 
officers to have a significant material impact on the BDW2 reserved 
matters proposal or are not matters that can be resolved through the 
current application. The principle of development is acceptable in 
accordance with CLP 2018 policies 1, 3 and 20.  
 

13.0 Context of site, design, and external spaces 
 

Compliance with Design Code 
 
13.1 The Design Code for Darwin Green was approved through discharge of 

condition 7 on the outline consent in 2014.  Design codes are intended to 
bridge the gap between outline consents and reserved matters 
applications for complex and large scale developments that will be 
delivered over many years.  The Code aims to achieve a balance between 
a clear level of prescription to ensure high standards of design, and an 
appropriate degree of flexibility to accommodate changing needs, market 
conditions or government / local guidance over the duration of the project, 
and allow schemes to come forward that improve upon the Code. 
 

13.2 The Design Code sets a vision for the creation of a distinctive new urban 
extension to the city, achieving the highest quality of design and 
embodying the principles of sustainability.  It includes site-wide coding for 
elements that cover the whole site and do not differ across the character 
areas, including movement network, landscape, waste and drainage 
strategies.  The Code also includes character area coding, which set out 
the essential characteristics for each area.  The BDW2 parcel falls within 
two character areas of the Southern / Pavilion Quarter ‘medium’ and ‘low’ 
density. 
 

13.3 Condition 8 on the outline consent requires reserved matters applications 
to include a Design Code Statement to demonstrate how the proposal 

Page 58



accords with the Design Code, and accordingly the applicant has 
submitted a Design and Compliance Statement.  It is important to note that 
some elements of the Design Code are ‘mandatory’ meaning there is 
‘minimum flexibility’ and any departure must not conflict with the overall 
aim of the Design Code.   All other guidance is important and must be 
taken into account of when developing reserved matters.  Compliance with 
the Design Code is discussed in the relevant sections of this report. 

  
Layout, Form, Scale and Density 
 

13.4 The overall layout is arranged on a grid structure around the primary street 
which runs through the site following the approved Access PP and the 
approved infrastructure reserved matters.  During the course of pre-
application discussions on the previous application 19/1056/REM, 
opportunities were identified with the urban design team to evolve the 
block structure and street movement hierarchy to realign the secondary 
and tertiary routes shown within the Design Code to create a central space 
and mews areas, which create a more people-friendly structure and 
strengthen the sense of place.  
 

13.5 Key positive variations from the Design Code include the realignment of 
the secondary route through the site to create a central public open space 
referred to as the ‘T Park’.  Rearrangements to the tertiary streets have 
allowed motor vehicle access to the rear of the dwellings and to small 
courtyard car parks serving the apartments, which allows the space to be 
pedestrian-friendly.  This provides a high-quality space which will 
particularly benefit the affordable homes that front the space.  It also 
provides space for movement of pedestrians and cyclists across a key 
desire line from the southern corner of BDW2 (from Huntingdon Road) 
through to the local centre, primary school and beyond.    
 

13.6 Another key variation from the Design Code has been the creation of the 
mews streets in the western part of the site.  There are two motor vehicle 
accesses into the mews streets.  Through-traffic for motor vehicles is 
prevented by a Pocket Park within the mews.  This is a positive change 
compared to the gridded layout within the Design Code.  It creates a better 
sense of place, which again will particularly benefit the mixed tenures 
within the mews.  It also provides shared space for pedestrians and 
cyclists across a key desire line from the southern corner of BDW2 (from 
Huntingdon Road) through to the local centre and primary school.  These 
mews streets would not be adopted by the highways authority and would 
be maintained by a management company.   
 

13.7 Comments from the Committee of the Windsor Road Residents 
Association have queried the road layout in the south eastern secondary 
street adjoining the BDW3 parcel to the north east.  The plans show a 
discontinuity in the tertiary street with the road layout shown on the BDW3 
parcel.  However, the road layout for the BDW3 parcel shown on the plans 
for the current proposal are illustrative only.  The current plans show the 
road layout up to the boundary. The detailed landscaping plans show a 

Page 59



blocked-paved road to the site boundary with an annotation that the link is 
intended to provide pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access into the 
adjacent parcel.  The proposals submitted for BDW3 (21/05434/REM) 
show this would provide access to 12 homes.  This will be assessed under 
that application.  For the purposes of the current application, the proposal 
to provide a road to the boundary and the principle of pedestrian, cycle 
and vehicular access is supported.  
 

13.8 The secondary street is closer to the south-eastern site boundary with 
Woodlark Road compared to the images shown in the Design Code and 
the illustrative masterplan that accompanied the outline consent.  The 
illustrative masterplan was not an approved plan and the Design Code 
recognises that the masterplan can be amended as the reserved matters 
applications are brought forward. The relevant matters to consider are the 
impact that the changes could have on material planning considerations, 
including character and residential amenity which are assessed in the 
relevant sections of this report.  This is supported.  

 
13.9 Overall, in terms of layout, access and movement, the proposal provides 

high quality routes for pedestrians and cyclists, including areas free from 
motor-vehicles or shared space areas.  The site is highly permeable to 
pedestrians and cyclists, whilst deprioritising motor-vehicle usage and 
discouraging ‘rat-running’.  Whilst there is a variation in the proposed block 
layout and street hierarchy to that shown in the Design Code, the layout of 
the scheme has developed collaboratively with urban design officers 
through detailed site master-planning in response to key place-making 
opportunities, and accords with the overall principles set out in the Design 
Code.   
 

13.10 In terms of density, the Design Code shows the parcel includes lower 
density areas adjacent to the boundaries with exiting neighbouring 
properties, and medium density areas within the central areas and around 
the allotments, school playing fields and central park.  The Design Code 
sets the densities within those character areas, however states that this 
may be subject to review as reserved matters applications are prepared.  
The applicant confirmed the square metre areas for these character areas 
in the previous application 19/1056/REM as 2.05 hectares for the lower 
density area and 5.38 hectares for medium density area.   
 

13.11 On this basis, the density is calculated as 29.8 dwellings per hectare for 
the lower density area, and 48.7 dwellings per hectare for the medium 
density area for the current proposals.  The lower density area is well 
below the density of up to 40 dwellings per hectare set in the Design 
Code, however the medium density area exceeds the figure of up to 45 
dwellings.  This is not significant and the proposal accords with the density 
principles within the Design Code.  The higher density within the medium 
area is to some extent a result of the change to include a higher proportion 
of 2 bedroom flats and houses within the affordable provision.  This is 
supported.  The density is slightly lower than the previous application due 
to the reduction of five homes.  

Page 60



 
13.12 The proposed typologies include apartments, flats-over-garages and a 

range of house types (terraced, semi-detached and detached forms), all 
have been designed to respond to their specific context. The range of 
building forms proposed including hipped apartment blocks and gabled 
house types create a massing and roofscape that is sufficiently varied. 
The three storey apartment blocks have a domestic and suburban 
appearance due to the hipped roofs and chimneys.  The scale and 
massing responds well to the Design Code character requirements.  This 
is supported.  
 

13.13 The scheme is a mix of 2-3 storeys and complies with the maximum 
heights set out by the approved Number of Storeys PP as amended by the 
non-material amendment 07/0003/NMA1.  The proposed strategy for 
height and massing responds to contextual factors and good placemaking 
principles of the Design Code.  Taller forms are located at key 
intersections, along the primary and secondary routes, and on the 
northern side of Pavilion Green and the ‘T’ park to reinforce the legibility of 
the scheme, addresses public open spaces and terminate key views.  The 
apartments along the northern edge of the parcel positively address and 
integrate well with the existing hedgerow.  Smaller two storey forms are 
used on secondary, tertiary and mews streets to provide a more intimate 
street character.   
 

13.14 The scale and massing of the proposed plots backing onto the north-
western end of Hoadly Road has been assessed through visualisations 
prepared for the applicant and submitted in a report showing two 
dimensionally accurate photomontage images.  One view was taken from 
the corner of Hoadly Road and Woodlark Road and the other taken closer 
to the site at the cul-de-sac end of Hoadly Road.  This shows only the 
varied sloping roof forms of plots 072 and 073 would be visible in both 
views, however these would not be overly visually dominant and would be 
appropriate to the character of the existing suburban area.  This is 
supported.  

 
Detail and Materials 
 

13.15 The scheme encompasses a large range of house types, which provides 
variety to the street scene, responds to the character areas set out in the 
Design Code, and takes opportunities for placemaking.  The overall 
approach to the elevations is supported by the urban design team.  
Facades of buildings are well-ordered and proportioned which will provide 
a degree of rhythm and vertical emphasis to the street. The proposed 
apartments reference the appearance of the BDW1 apartment buildings, 
yet are successful in having a strong identity of their own.   
 

13.16 The material palette would be a mix of yellow, buff, red, white and grey 
multi-tonal bricks with red clay or slate roof tiles.  The materials have been 
used to provide continuity where appropriate with the BDW1 parcel, or to 
identify key marker buildings and give identity to the character areas.  

Page 61



Brick patterning, glazed tiles, hardiplank and coloured entrances inject 
interest, colour and the potential for greater individualism amongst similar 
house type.  The materials palette is supported and a condition is 
recommended to secure samples and a sample panel (condition 13 – 
Design details and materials and condition 14 – Sample panel).  
 

13.17 Third parties have requested amendments to the proposed homes backing 
onto Howes Place properties to replace the red bricks and clay tiles with 
buff bricks and slates on plots 185, 186 and 190-192.  Plots 185 and 186 
occupy a position on the corner of the road and therefore the use of red 
brick and clay tiles is appropriate to identify this as a marker building 
without increasing the number of storeys or height of these plots.  The 
proposed materials would not be overly dominant in views from the rear 
gardens of the Howes Place properties which is further minimised by the 
long length of these gardens and the proposed set back of the first floor 
elevations approximately 10m from the shared boundary. Plots 190-192 
are shown as buff brick and slate in the proposals. This is supported. 
 
Landscaping 
 

13.18 Overall, the proposed hard and soft landscaping is supported by the 
landscape officer. The proposal would deliver high quality public realm that 
promotes low-traffic or pedestrian-friendly spaces, which have been 
designed to encourage interaction with nature including through 
integration with sustainable drainage features (urban rills, swales and rain 
gardens).  The key public spaces including Pavilion Green, the ‘T Park’ 
and Pocket Park have high quality landscaping schemes, as do the 
hierarchy of streets.  
 

13.19 The approved Landscape PP shows the existing hedgerow on the parcel’s 
boundaries with Howes Place, Huntingdon Road and Woodlark Road 
should be retained, and the existing hedgerow between the parcel and the 
adjacent BDW1 parcel should be retained with gaps allowed for access.  
The applicant has submitted soft landscaping plans and a landscape 
maintenance plan.  The proposal would retain existing boundary hedges in 
accordance with the Landscape PP.  Post-and-rail fences are proposed as 
the boundary treatment for the rear gardens of plots backing onto existing 
hedges in order to allow maintenance.  A condition is recommended to 
ensure post-and-rail fences are implemented and retained (condition 9 – 
Perimeter Boundary Fencing). This is supported.  

 
13.20 The landscape officer has recommended the approval of the landscape 

proposals under the discharge of condition 14 on the outline consent.  This 
is supported.  The landscape officer has recommended a condition for a 
landscape management and maintenance plan, however this has been 
submitted and is understood to be supported except for details of the 
allotments, which his covered under the condition 22 on the outline 
consent and is not recommended for approval.  The condition for details of 
green roofs as recommended by the landscape officer is discussed under 
the water management section of this report.  Condition 21 on the outline 

Page 62



consent secures replacement planting for any trees or plans lost within the 
first five years of planting.  
 

Woodlark Road boundary 
 

13.21 The proposal for the boundary between BDW2 and the Woodlark Road 
properties is set out in the updated Landscape Design Approach and 
Compliance Statement and the detailed landscaping plans.  The existing 
hedge and hedgerow trees along the boundary would be retained at 3 
metres in height and gaps would be enhanced with infill-planting where 
planting conditions allow (discussed further below).  A post-and-rail fence 
form the rear garden boundary of the proposed plots to provide 
surveillance of the ditch.  A second post-and-rail fence is proposed 
between the edge of the ditch and the retained/infill-planted hedge. This is 
supported.     
 

13.22 While committed to enhancing the existing hedge, the applicant has 
explained in their submission that opportunities for infill-planting where 
planting conditions allow may be affected by the constraints of the ditch.  
One such area is to the rear of Grosvenor Court due to a retaining wall 
and fence in this area.  Planting conditions may not allow for the hedge to 
be infilled in this location. Notwithstanding this, the applicant proposes a 
green screen in the rear gardens of plots 129 – 133 comprising a 1.5 
metre high screen of hedging in order to screen intervisibility.  
Maintenance of this hedge would be the responsibility of the future 
occupants.  This is acceptable.  
 

13.23 The hedgerow would also be extended along the boundary to the rear of 
plots 070-072 including hedgerow trees. These would be planted in the 
rear gardens and maintenance would be the responsibility of the future 
owners.  This is acceptable.  

 
Inclusive Access 
 

13.24 The scheme would provide a good distribution of visitor car parking 
spaces available for carers and others, and the Highways Authority 
supports the scheme from a highway safety perspective for vulnerable 
users.  Accessible car parking spaces have been provided within the 
parking courts for the apartment blocks.  The allotments have been 
designed to include an accessible parking space and accessible raised 
beds.  Overall, the scheme would provide inclusive access and is 
supported.  

 
Designing Out Crime 
 

13.25 The Cambridgeshire Constabulary has reviewed the scheme and notes 
the site is in an area of medium risk to the vulnerability to crime.  Overall, 
the proposed layout has considered crime prevention by providing 
reasonable levels of natural surveillance with many of the homes facing 
each other and overlooking open space. Pedestrian and vehicle routes are 

Page 63



aligned together, well-overlooked and pedestrian safety has been 
considered. Most of the vehicle parking is on-plot and many of the homes 
have back-to-back protected rear gardens which reduces the vulnerability 
to crime, and these have been provided with some defensible space to 
their front.  
 

13.26 Detailed comments have been provided with regards to the cycle stands 
for the allotments, bin stores for the apartments, cycle stores for the 
houses and houses, litter bin specifications and lighting for the parking 
courts.  These are comments on detailed matters which are supported 
However the details can be secured through the resubmission of 
information to discharge conditions on the outline consent, including 
condition 49 relating to secure cycle parking, condition 22 relating to the 
allotment strategy, and condition 66 relating to lighting, which are not 
currently recommended to be discharged.  An informative is recommended 
to advise the applicant of the need to address these comments within the 
resubmission (informative 3 – Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
comments).  
 
Context of site, design, and external spaces – conclusion 
 

13.27 In conclusion, the proposed site layout and design responds positively to 
the Design Code and accords with the outline parameter plans as 
amended.  The scheme has developed through a collaborative process 
with the urban design and landscape teams and would provide high quality 
public realm.  The proposal accords with CLP 2018 policies 55, 56, 57 and 
59, and the guidance on good design within the NPPF applicable to this 
reserved matters.   

 
14.0 Housing Delivery  

 
Affordable homes 
 

14.1 The Section 106 Agreement accompanying the outline consent requires 
any reserved matters application to be submitted with an Affordable 
Housing Scheme to address the priority housing needs identified by the 
Council, with regard to the Indicative Housing Mix set out within Schedule 
17 of the Agreement, the Council’s adopted Affordable Housing SPD or 
any replacement document, the City Council’s most recent Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment, or any replacement mix approved by the 
Council.  
 

14.2 Condition 25 on the outline consent also requires any reserved matters 
application to be submitted with a plan showing the distribution of market 
and affordable dwellings, a schedule of the dwellings size (by number of 
bedrooms).  The clustering of affordable homes should be consistent with 
the Council’s affordable housing SPD unless otherwise agreed by the local 
planning authority.  The applicant has submitted a housing tenure plan 
and housing schedule with the application. This is assessed in the 
following sections.  

Page 64



 
Affordable housing provision  
 

14.3 The Indicative Housing Mix within the Section 106 Agreement requires 
40% of dwellings to be affordable tenure.  The current proposal provides 
129 affordable dwellings which is 39.94% of the total housing provided.  
The 0.06% difference is not considered significant and, as shown by the 
information within the table below, when taken together with the earlier 
approved phases, the development would continue to achieve 40% 
affordable housing across Darwin Green.  This is supported. 
 

SPD and S106 requirement  
 

Total affordable %  

BDW1 (approved) 39.90 

Local Centre (approved) 40.35 

BDW5 and BDW6 (approved) 39.90 

BDW2 (proposed) 39.94 

Overall 40.02 

 
Tenure split  

 
14.4 The Indicative Housing Mix within the Section 106 Agreement requires a 

tenure split within the affordable housing provision of 75% for social rent 
and 25% for intermediate.  The current proposal provides 93 homes for 
social rent and 36 homes for shared ownership. This equates to 72% for 
social rent and 28% for shared ownership.  While this deviates from the 
Indicative Housing Mix, the over-provision of social rent redresses an 
under-provision in the previous approved phases.  As shown in the table 
below, overall the proposal would move closer to meeting the Indicative 
Housing Mix.  This is supported.   
 

SPD and S106 requirement  
 

Social rent 75% Intermediate 25% 

BDW1 (approved) 81.15 18.85 

Local Centre (approved) 73.92 26.08 

BDW5 and BDW6 (approved) 75.00 25.00 

BDW2 (proposed) 72.09 27.91 

Overall 75.54 24.56 

 
Housing mix and typology  
 

14.5 The Indicative Housing Mix within the Section 106 Agreement sets out the 
preferred size mix for the affordable element across Darwin Green, having 
regard to the different social rent and intermediate tenures.  This was 
intended to ensure a balanced, mixed community with a range of sizes to 
meet housing needs.  The Section 106 Agreement was completed in 
2013. Schedule 8 of the Agreement requires the affordable housing 
provision to meet the Indicative Housing Mix, unless otherwise agreed with 
the City Council.  This allows an opportunity for the Council to agree an 
alternative appropriate mix with the applicant.  

Page 65



 
14.6 The table below shows the proposed dwelling mix for the affordable 

tenures on BDW2 alongside the approved mix for the Local Centre, BDW1 
and BDW 5 and 6.  The dwelling mix for each parcel follows the densities 
and character areas set out in the approved Design Code, which is 
reflected in the affordable housing mix as well as the market homes.  
BDW2 is within low and medium density character areas adjacent to 
existing neighbouring properties.  It is therefore an appropriate parcel on 
which to provide houses - as opposed to flats - to meet demand for larger 
homes for affordable tenures.  This is supported.  

 

Approved 
or 
proposed 

Site Tenure  1 
bed 
flat 

2 
bed 
flat 

2 bed 
house 

3 bed 
house 

4 bed 
house 

Total 

Approved Local 
Centre 

Social rent 12 22 0 0 0 34 

Approved Local 
Centre 

Shared 
ownership 

0 12 0 0 0 12 

Approved BDW1 Social rent 11 35 5 5 0 56 

Approved BDW1 Shared 
ownership 

0 0 10 3 0 13 

Approved BDW5&6 Social rent 32 53 28 6 4 123 

Approved BDW5&6 Shared 
ownership 

7 28 0 6 0 41 

Proposed BDW2 Social rent 12 18 33 9 21 93 

Proposed BDW2 Shared 
ownership 

0 12 8 16 0 36 

 
 

14.7 The proposed affordable housing dwelling mix across Darwin Green has 
been extensively discussed with the Joint Housing Strategy Officer with a 
view to achieving a balanced community which also reflects the housing 
need within Greater Cambridge. The table below shows a comparison 
between the Indicative Housing Mix in the Section 106 Agreement and the 
cumulative mix including both the approved parcels and the BDW2 
proposals.  Overall, the figures show more 2-bedroom flats would be 
provided than the Indicative Mix.  This is supported by the Joint Housing 
Strategy Officer as it reflects changes in the priority for more smaller 
homes since the Section 106 Agreement was completed nine years ago.   

 
 
 

Page 66



Source Tenure 1 
bed 
flat 

2 
bed 
flat 

2 bed 
house 

3 bed 
house 

4 bed 
house 

Total 

S106 Indicative 
Housing Mix  

Social rent 10% 10% 15% 30% 10% 75% 

S106 Indicative 
Housing Mix 

Shared 
ownership 

0% 5% 10% 10% 0% 25% 

Approved plus 
proposed BDW2 

Social rent 16% 31% 16% 5% 6% 75% 

Approved plus 
proposed BDW2 

Shared 
ownership 

2% 13% 4% 5% 0% 25% 

Difference 
between S106 
Indicative 
Housing Mix and 
approved plus 
proposed BDW2 

Social rent 6% 21% 1% -25% -4% 0% 

Difference 
between S106 
Indicative 
Housing Mix and 
approved plus 
proposed BDW2 

Shared 
ownership 

2% 8% -6% -4% 0% 0% 

 
14.8 The comparison also shows an under provision of 3 bedroom houses. This 

reflects an under provision on the approved earlier phases, partly due to 
the high-density character of these areas which lend themselves to flats 
rather than houses.  The current BDW2 proposals include the highest 
number of 3 bedroom houses compared to the previously approved 
parcels, which is appropriate given its low and medium density character 
areas.  The overall mix for Darwin Green will be considered further for the 
remaining parcels BDW3 and BDW4 which include a mix of low to high 
density character areas. Overall, the Joint Housing Strategy Officer has 
confirmed that this mix responds to the current housing need, and the 
proposals are therefore supported.   
 

14.9 The current Greater Cambridgeshire Housing Strategy 2019-2023 was 
published after the grant of the outline permission for Darwin Green, 
requiring that the number of bedspaces to be maximised to ensure the 
Council can house as many people in the housing register as possible. 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the scheme theoretically could provide a 
further 35 bedspaces, this requirement was not applied to the outline 
permission, and therefore it would not be reasonable in planning terms to 
refuse the proposals on these grounds. The Joint Housing Strategy 
Officer’s other comments have been resolved during the course of the 
application. The proposed affordable housing mix is supported.  
 
Clustering 

Page 67



 
14.10 The adopted Affordable Housing SPD (2008) states that the layout of 

developments should integrate affordable and supported housing with the 
open market housing in ways that minimise social exclusion. Clustering 
affordable homes is supported normally in groups of up to 25 dwellings 
depending upon the size and design of the development and the nature of 
the affordable housing. In flatted schemes no more than 12 affordable 
dwellings should normally have access from a common stairwell or lift. 
 

14.11 The submitted Housing Tenure Plan shows the affordable tenures would 
be distributed across the parcel. While there are multiple ways in which 
the distribution of affordable homes could be broken into clusters, a 
pragmatic approach has been taken to define clusters.  On this basis, 
clusters would be between 3 and 22 homes and there would be a mix of 
social rent and shared ownership tenures within the larger clusters.  
Market homes have also been interspersed with the clusters. The largest 
apartment blocks would have 6 affordable dwellings accessed from a 
common stairwell.  Clustering would be in accordance with the SPD and is 
supported.     
 
Affordable housing provider 
 

14.12 The Section 106 Agreement requires that the City Council has approved 
the appointment of an approved affordable housing provider.  The 
developer has confirmed that L&Q will remain as the affordable housing 
provider for Darwin Green, as per earlier phases of the development. This 
is acceptable.  

 
Affordable housing – conclusion 
 
Consideration has been given to the mix of tenures and house types and 
to the clustering towards achieving a balanced community as set out in the 
Design Code which also reflects the changing housing need within Greater 
Cambridge and the Greater Cambridgeshire Housing Strategy 2019-2023.  
The proposed mix which departs from the Indicative Housing Mix within 
the Section 106 Agreement is supported by the housing team and is 
acceptable.  Condition 25 on the outline consent is recommended to be 
part discharged.   
 
Accessible homes 

 
14.13 Condition 26 of the outline consent requires a minimum of 15% of all 

market housing and 15% of all affordable housing to be designed with 
external design, layout, and access suitable for occupation by people with 
disabilities and capable of adaptation to meet long term housing needs. 
The applicant has submitted a Lifetime Homes drawing which shows 
provision of 20 affordable homes (mixture of 3-bed and 4-bed) and 30 
market homes (mix of 2-bed flats and 4-bed homes) which meets this 
requirement.  This is supported and condition 26 is recommended to be 
part discharged.  

Page 68



 
14.14 The outline consent had been granted before the publication of the 

Building Regulations 2010 Approved Document M, establishing 
requirements for the access and use of buildings, considering three 
categories: M4(1) visitable; M4(2) accessible and adaptable; and M4(3) 
wheelchair user dwellings. Also since to the outline consent is the 
adoption of CLP 2018 and policy 51, which currently requires all housing 
developments to enable requirement M4(2) to be met, and 5% of 
developments providing 20 or more dwellings to meet requirement M4(3) 
or be easily adapted for residents who are wheelchair users.   
 

14.15 Policy 51 cannot lawfully be applied to the assessment of the current 
reserved matters application because accessibility and the internal 
arrangement of the dwellings does not fall within the definition of any of 
the reserved matters.  There is no condition on the outline consent 
requiring reserved matters applications to comply with updated 
accessibility standards.  As a result, there is no lawful requirement for the 
current reserved matters application to comply with CLP 2018 policy 51 to 
meet M4(2) standards.  The only requirement is to comply with condition 
26 on the outline consent, which – as shown above – has been met.  This 
is acceptable.  
 
Housing Delivery – conclusion 

 
14.16 In summary, housing delivery - including of affordable and accessible 

homes – would be in accordance with the outline consent.  The scheme 
would deliver 129 affordable homes and the applicant has worked with the 
Joint Housing Strategy Officer to provide a mix which addresses the 
current housing need within Greater Cambridge and the Greater 
Cambridgeshire Housing Strategy 2019-2023.  Officers are satisfied that 
the clustering is now in accordance with the adopted guidance and has 
addressed the previous reason for refusal.  On this basis, the proposals 
are acceptable with regard to housing delivery.  

 
15.0 Residential amenity for future occupants 
 

Internal floor space 
 

15.1 The outline consent was granted under the previous Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006 before space standards were adopted, and there is no condition 
to secure this requirement, nor is there is an internal floor space 
requirement within the approved Design Code.  
 

15.2 Since the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS, 2015) were 
published and the adoption of the CLP 2018 Policy 50, the local planning 
authority has taken legal advice from Counsel which informs the officer 
position on the current reserved matters application.  Case law has 
established that the internal arrangement of buildings – including the floor 
space – does not fall under the definition of any of the ‘reserved matters’, 
namely ‘scale’, ‘appearance’, layout’.  Therefore, there is no lawful basis 

Page 69



on which the local planning authority can require the proposed scheme to 
strictly comply with any internal space standards.  
 

15.3 Notwithstanding this, the local planning authority must assess the quality 
of the proposed accommodation and the residential amenity of future 
occupants as a material consideration.  For this purpose, the NDSS do 
provide a useful guide and reference point as to the minimum floor spaces 
that are generally considered to provide an acceptable living environment.  
In this context, in the current BDW2 proposal all 323 dwellings would meet 
or exceed NDSS for gross internal area.  Over one quarter would exceed 
the NDSS by over 10 percent of the NDSS requirement, including homes 
for affordable tenures. A further one fifth would exceed the NDSS by 
between 5 percent and 10 percent.   
 

15.4 To achieve this, compared to the previous BDW2 proposal 
(19/1056/REM), the current proposal has removed house types that did 
not meet the NDSS or have enlarged the gross internal area through 
amendments to the standard house types.  Other changes have included 
reducing the intended occupancy of bedrooms or replacing bedrooms with 
studies.  One of the house types for the social rent tenure is the 
Ambersham which has been changed from a 2 bedroom flat to a 1 
bedroom flat by removing an internal wall to provide a study space 
opening out from the hallway.  This would provide flexible space for 
example for support homeworking.  Occupancy of the social rent tenures 
will be controlled through the local housing provider and the Local Lettings 
Plan.   
 

15.5 Officers are satisfied that the applicant has made sufficient changes to the 
scheme to address the previous reasons for refusal with regard to internal 
space and residential amenity of the future occupants.  This is supported 
and the proposal would provide an acceptable level of amenity for the 
future occupants in this regard.  
 
External amenity space 
 

15.6 By the same logic relating to the outline consent, the external space 
standards within the CLP 2018 Policy 50 cannot be lawfully applied, and 
therefore the relevant assessment is about the quality of the external 
amenity space and whether this provides a high-quality living environment.  
The approved Design Code states that amenity space should be of a size, 
shape, aspect and level that allows it to be positively used whilst affording 
an appropriate level of privacy to users and should be of a size 
appropriate to the size of the dwelling in order to accommodate outdoor 
furniture so that the space is productive.  
 

15.7 All the proposed houses and apartments would have private external 
amenity space, with the exception of the flats-over-garages, of which there 
are a total of 4 proposed within the development (plots 029 030, 306 and 
307).  This is acceptable given the policy position above and these are 1 
bedroom properties unlikely to be occupied families.  The apartments have 

Page 70



balconies that are large enough to provide a table and chairs and are inset 
to provide privacy and shelter.  The development is generally arranged to 
maximise sunlight to gardens with streets orientated on south-west to 
north-east axis, or the perpendicular.   
 

15.8 Houses have a rear garden or courtyard which would provide space for a 
table and chairs, as well as bin and bike storage.  The gardens to plots 
021 – 028 have been enlarged compared to the previous application 
(following amendments submitted during the course of the application) to 
address concerns about the size and quality of these gardens.  Further 
amendments have also increased the size of the gardens of plots 314 – 
317 and plots 194 – 199 during the course of the application.  All homes 
would now provide quality external amenity space for the future occupants.  

 
15.9 In terms of the house types that were referenced in the reason for refusal 

on the previous application 19/1056/REM – namely the Amber, Opal and 
NS4 house types but also others – the applicant has sought to address 
these in the current proposal.  The Amber house types have been 
redistributed to provide acceptable external amenity space, particularly the 
plots along the ‘T-Park’. The Opal house type has not been used and has 
been replaced on plots 319 – 323 by the 7SV2 house type which has a 
wide plot and rear garden.  The NS4 house type has been used 
appropriately across the parcel.   
 

15.10 Officers welcome the changes that the applicant has made in response to 
the previous reasons for refusal with regard to amenity space and 
residential amenity of the future occupants.  This is supported and the 
proposal would provide an acceptable level of amenity for the future 
occupants in this regard.  
 
Impact on amenity from existing neighbouring properties 
 

15.11 Plots 071 and 072 have been arranged so that the windows on the side 
elevation of the neighbouring property, 1 Hoadly Road, would have a 
direct outlook onto the car parking spaces and bin and bike stores.  Only 
oblique views would be afforded towards the patio areas which are 
typically used for more sensitive uses, such as sitting out.  This maximises 
the privacy and minimises the perceived overlooking for the future 
occupants.  This is acceptable.  

 
15.12 The position of Grosvenor Court stepped back behind the building line on 

Woodlark Road brings development closer to plots 129-132.  A description 
of this property and consented development is provided in other sections 
of this report.  There could be views from the amenity space towards the 
first floor windows of the proposed plots, however these would be partially 
screened by the proposed boundary treatments and would be looking 
upwards.  These would be views from the proposed windows on the rear 
elevation of the extensions and the roof terraces, however there would be 
a 4 metres wide maintenance track and ditch, combined with the setback 

Page 71



more than 4 metres of the closest parts of Grosvenor Court from the 
boundary.  This is acceptable.  

 
Inter-relationships between units 
 

15.13 The blocks are generally arranged around perimeter blocks which define 
the public and private space.  This is supported in the Design Code both 
for the low and medium density character areas.  The Design Code does 
not specify back-to-back distances, but states that the block lengths are 
likely to be likely to be approximately 37 / 38m.  There are no back-to-back 
to back distances within the adopted CLP 2018 and therefore this is 
another matter of planning judgement in terms over overlooking, sense of 
enclosure, and daylight and sunlight.  
 

15.14 Houses are typically with gardens backing onto gardens.  The separation 
distance between rear elevations is typically between 12 and 16 metres.  
Where there are shorter separation distances down to 12 metres, such as 
in the mews area, the position of the dwellings has been offset to minimise 
direct inter-looking between first floor windows, however there would be 
some mutual indivisibility from bedroom windows towards gardens.  This is 
acceptable.   
 

15.15 The larger separation distances around 17 metres are where three storey 
dwellings back onto two storey dwellings, such as on the southern side of 
the primary street. There would be some overlooking from first and second 
floor windows within 7 metres of the shared boundary towards the gardens 
of the properties backing on, however these gardens are typically deeper 
and wider, therefore providing options for the occupants to layout seating 
or other sensitive uses to minimise direct overlooking.  This is acceptable.  
 

15.16 Shorter separation distances have been used between houses and non-
traditional house types such as flat-over-garage and the AMB house type.  
The flat-over garages sit behind the rear gardens of the houses.  There 
are no windows on the rear elevations to prevent overlooking into the 
gardens.  Conditions are recommended to remove permitted development 
rights for the insertion of first floor windows and roof extensions on the 
rear elevation and rear-facing roof slope for these house types 
(conditions 20 and 22 – Removal of Permitted Development Rights).  
Some of the rear gardens have been extended during the course of the 
application and nonetheless, the two storey flat-over-garage would not 
lead to unacceptable enclosure or overshadowing of these gardens.  This 
is acceptable.   
 

15.17 The AMB house type has been used across the development where the 
elevations sit on, or in close proximity to, boundaries with neighbouring 
properties (with the exception of plots 041, 120 – 122, and 144 – 146).  
There are no windows on these elevations.  Conditions are recommended 
to prevent first and second floor windows and roof lights being inserted for 
those AMB house types (with the exception of those plots listed above) to 

Page 72



prevent overlooking into neighbouring gardens (conditions 20 and 22 – 
Removal of Permitted Development Rights).  This is acceptable.    

 
15.18 Amendments submitted during the course of the application have 

improved the relationship between homes.  This includes the relatively 
close arrangement between the three storey plots 012 – 013 and the rear 
gardens of plots 031 - 032.  The garden length of plots 012 - 013 have 
been increased and the first and second floor elevations would be blank 
with windows moved to the side elevations.  Conditions are recommended 
to prevent first and second floor windows and roof lights being inserted on 
the rear elevation of plots 012 – 013 (conditions 20 and 22 – Removal of 
Permitted Development Rights).  This is acceptable to mitigate any 
potential overlooking.  A second condition is also required to secure 
details of the brickwork on the rear elevation in place of the windows 
(condition 15 – Brickwork detailing plots 012 and 013).  
 

15.19 A design solution has also been discussed with the applicant to address 
potential overlooking from the two first floor bedroom windows on the front 
elevation of plots 031 – 032 into the rear gardens of plots 033 – 034 in 
response to the constraints of the site.  One window is proposed to be 
moved to the side elevations.  A second window is to be designed to direct 
views obliquely and prevent direct views towards the neighbouring 
properties.  This could be, for example, a box window with sidelights to 
allow light and views sideways.  A condition is recommended to secure 
further details of these windows (condition 16 – Window details plots 
031 and 032) and conditions to remove permitted development rights 
would also apply (conditions 20 and 22 – Removal of Permitted 
Development Rights). 

 
15.20 There are also examples of attached house types used in the northern 

corner of the site, which provide frontages both to the school playing field 
and the mews area. This is supported.  

 
Residential amenity for future occupants – conclusion  
 

15.21 Overall, the proposals would provide an acceptable residential amenity for 
the future occupants.  Officers are satisfied that the applicant has made 
sufficient changes to the scheme the previous reasons for refusal in 
relation to the internal and amenity space by meeting or exceeding internal 
space standards and enlarging the smallest gardens. The proposal is 
acceptable both in terms of the outline permission and CLP 2018 policies 
55 and 56.  
 

16.0 Community Infrastructure  
 

Open Space  
 

16.1 The site-wide Strategy for Public Open Space provision was approved via 
schedule 6 of the Section 106 Agreement for the outline consent where 
the minimum requirement for this parcel was 0.72 hectares. The location 

Page 73



and general size of open spaces was identified on approved outline 
landscape parameter plan and finer details in the approved Design Code.  
The allotments and the Pavilion Green are the two areas of formal open 
space identified on the parameter plans and Design Code within this 
parcel, however the character areas identify four pocket parks for informal 
open space throughout the parcel.   
 

16.2 The proposals deliver approximately 0.85 hectares of open space 
(excluding play spaces) across the parcel.  This exceeds the minimum 
requirement within the Section 106 Agreement by approximately 0.13 
hectares which is supported.  This includes the allotments (0.43 hectares) 
and Pavilion Green (0.11 hectares excluding play space).  The remaining 
area is provided as informal open space which has been integrated into 
the masterplan, including the ‘T Park’ and Pocket Park within the mews 
area.  Incidental spaces provide breathing space within the urban form 
including seating and soft planting, which contribute positively towards the 
open space on the site.  This is supported. 

 
16.3 The scheme complies with the outline requirements for open space for this 

parcel and details within the approved Design Code.  In addition to this, 
the parcel lies within a 10 minute walk of the 6 hectare Central Park which 
will provide residents access to larger formal and informal open space, 
formal sports pitches and strategic planting areas.   

 
Children’s Play Spaces  
 

16.4 A site-wide Strategy for Youth Facilities and Children’s Play Provision for 
Darwin Green was approved via condition 9 on the outline consent.  The 
play provision requirements for the BDW2 parcel are to provide one local 
equipped area of play (LEAP) and two local areas of play (LAP).  The 
strategy also sets out design requirements including locally distinctive 
areas within green corridors that are safe, easily accessible and inclusive.  
 

16.5 Condition 10 on the outline consent requires reserved matters applications 
to include a Play Statement demonstrating compliance with the approved 
strategy.  The applicant has submitted a Youth and Children’s Play 
Strategy and Compliance Statement which was updated during the course 
of the application.  The proposal provides a LEAP within Pavilion Green, 
which aligns with the approved strategy.  The majority of the BDW2 parcel 
to be within walking distance to the LEAP, and therefore this is highly 
accessible.  This is supported.  
 

16.6 The site-wide strategy identifies general locations for the two LAPs 
distributed across the parcel.  While the location of the two LAPs proposed 
is a slight adjustment from the approved strategy, this is an improvement 
in terms of providing a safe, accessible and inclusive space which is 
integrated into the landscaping scheme.  One of the proposed LAPs is 
situated within the ‘T Park’, which is centrally located in the parcel and 
within a motor-vehicle free landscaped area.  The second LAP is situated 
within the Pocket Park within the mews area.  This is supported. 

Page 74



 
16.7 The detail for the proposed play spaces has been provided on the 

landscaping plans and the Youth and Children’s Play Strategy and 
Compliance Statement which includes the specification of play equipment.  
Amendments were submitted to the play spaces during the course of the 
application to address concerns raised by the Council’s Streets and Open 
Spaces Team and landscape officers.  While the landscape officer 
supports the revised proposals, as comments have not been received 
from the Streets and Open Spaces Team – who will adopt the play spaces 
- condition 10 is not recommended to be discharged at this stage and a 
further submission will be required.  This is acceptable.  
 
Allotments 
 

16.8 The Section 106 Agreement on the outline consent secured three 
allotment sites across Darwin Green totalling 1.59 hectares.  An Allotment 
Specification setting out the location, layout, design and management 
principles for the allotments was submitted and approved via the 
infrastructure reserved matters consents, in accordance with the 
requirements of the Section 106 Agreement and condition 22 of the outline 
consent.  The BDW2 parcel includes Allotment 1 in the approved strategy. 
Allotment 1 was previously approved under the infrastructure reserved 
matters consent, which is an extant consent and a material consideration.  
The current application includes and alternative, although similar, proposal 
for Allotment 1.   
 

16.9 Condition 22 requires the submission of an Allotment Strategy for each 
allotment within a reserved matters parcel.  The applicant has submitted 
details on the proposed landscaping plan and within the Landscape 
Design Approach and Compliance Statement updated during the course of 
the application. The proposed allotment would be 0.43 hectares arranged 
around a central communal area featuring car and cycle parking, 
accessible raised beds, a tool store, meeting shed, and seating.  The 
proposal is in general accordance with the principles within the Design 
Code to promote community cohesion and facilitate access for all.   
 

16.10 While the overall concept and layout is supported, the City Council’s 
Streets and Open Spaces team - who will adopt the allotments - has 
requested minor changes to the landscaping and facilities.  Revised 
proposals were submitted during the course of the application to address 
their concerns, however as comments have not been received from the 
Streets and Open Spaces Team, condition 22 is not recommended to be 
discharged at this stage and a further submission will be required. On this 
bases, the proposals are acceptable with regard to the provision of 
allotments.  

 
Provision for Waste and Recycling 
 

16.11 Condition 62 on the outline consent requires full details of the on-site 
storage facilities for waste including waste for recycling.  This should 

Page 75



comply with the Design Code which states that the proposal should be 
guided by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste Partnership 
(RECAP) Waste Management Design Guide SPD.  The applicant has 
submitted a Refuse Storage and Collection Plan showing the arrangement 
of bin stores and collection areas, detailed plans and elevations for the bin 
stores serving the houses and apartments, and a Refuse Vehicle Tracking 
Plan which were updated during the course of the application. 
 

16.12 Each house would a have a bin store providing space for three bins, which 
is supported.  Apartment blocks would have communal bin stores within 
the ground floor footprint of the building or a separate store within the 
parking courtyard.  The capacity of the communal stores is acceptable.  
For most of the apartment blocks, the bin stores are approximately within 
30 metre carry distance as required by the guidance, with the exception of 
the one block in the northern corner which would be approximately 40 
metres.  This affects approximately 6 homes for social rent.  This is 
acceptable given the small number across the parcel.  
 

16.13 In all cases, the distance between storage and collection is within the 25 
metres distance required by the guidance.  A collection point would be 
used to serve some of the apartments and homes within the ‘T Park’ which 
would have a management company to move the bins to a collection point 
that is accessible to the refuse vehicle.  This does require the refuse 
vehicle to reverse more than the maximum 12 metres required by the 
guidance, however consultation with the Greater Cambridge Shared 
Waste Team during the course of the previous application 19/1056/REM 
came to a point of agreement to this as an acceptable exceptional 
circumstance.   
 

16.14 Refuse vehicle tracking diagrams have been provided and updated during 
the course of the application to reflect amendments to the site layout.  This 
shows the refuse vehicle reversing into the ‘T Park’, as above.  It also 
shows the refuse vehicle manoeuvres within the mews areas and around 
the Pavilion Green.  The vehicle tracking does not oversail the footway or 
landscape areas.  The refuse vehicle would need to traverse non-adopted 
roads including the mews areas and therefore a condition is 
recommended to ensure these are built to adoptable standards to 
minimise damage caused by the refuse vehicle (condition 2 – Non-
adopted roads).  This is acceptable.  
 

16.15 While no comments have been received from the Shared Waste Team, 
the proposals are considered to be acceptable based on the discussions 
on the previous application.  In terms of the detail of the bin stores, the 
applicant has provided some plans and elevations for the houses and 
apartment stores, however some details are missing, including details of 
the standalone stores for houses and apartments.  Therefore condition 62 
is not recommended to be discharged at this stage and a further 
resubmission is required.  On this basis, the proposals are acceptable with 
regard to the refuse strategy.  

 

Page 76



Public Art 
 

16.16 The outline consent approved a site wide Public Art Strategy dated July 
2013, which sets out the themes and process for delivering public art 
across the Darwin Green as a whole. It also breaks down separate 
commissions with budgets allocated for each commission.  Condition 69 
on the outline consent requires the submission of a Public Art Delivery 
Plan with any reserved matters application, which has been submitted.   
 

16.17 Relating to BDW2 the site-wide strategy identifies the allotments for a 
public art commission.  The delivery plan sets out the concept for an 
evolution of the Darwin sweet pea and cabbage research developed in 
earlier phases and links the allotments commission with and the Local 
Centre commission.  The proposal is for an etching of a detailed cabbage 
in the paving within the allotments and a series of etched pavers installed 
across the parcel including the ‘T Park’ featuring the names of cabbage 
varieties studied by Charles Darwin.  
 

16.18 The Council’s Public Art Officer supports the proposals in principle, 
however, highlights that the timescales within the submitted Public Art 
Delivery Plan need to be updated to ensure the delivery timing is not too 
late in the design process.  Therefore, condition 69 is not recommended to 
be discharged at this stage and resubmission of an updated delivery plan 
is required. On this basis, the proposals are acceptable with regard to the 
delivery of public art.  
 
Community Infrastructure – conclusion 
 

16.19 In summary, the proposals would deliver formal and informal open space, 
including the allotments and Pavilion Green, making an important 
contribution towards the site wide community infrastructure and supporting 
the wider community within Darwin Green.  In response to the previous 
reasons for refusal, the provision of open space within the scheme is 
generally compliant with the outline permission, the Design Code, and the 
social and community objectives of the CLP 2018 policies and the NPPF.   
  

17.0 Impact on residential amenity of existing properties   
 

17.1 The site has boundaries with existing residential properties on three sides, 
and with the BDW1 site which is occupied.  These existing residential 
properties are: Huntingdon Road to the south-west; Woodlark Road and 
Hoadly Road the south-east; and Howes Place to the north-west.  The 
properties within the BDW1 site are along Beagle Close, Falmouth Avenue 
and Falmouth Close. The impact on these properties in terms of 
overlooking, overbearing, overshadowing and daylight/sunlight is 
considered in turn below.  Construction impacts are mitigated through the 
outline conditions.   
 

Huntingdon Road  
 

Page 77



17.2 These are large detached and semi-detached properties fronting 
Huntingdon Road with long rear gardens backing onto the site.  The 
properties are predominantly two storeys and have been variously 
extended and altered, including some rear extensions and roof extensions.  
The gardens include some outbuildings and mature tree planting and there 
is an existing boundary treatment at the rear.   
 

17.3 The proposed plots 169-183 backing onto the Huntingdon Road gardens 
would be two storeys (or 2.5 storeys for plot 169) with first floor windows 
on the rear elevation facing towards the gardens.  The separation distance 
between the proposed rear elevations and the neighbouring garden 
boundaries would be over 10 metres which is acceptable.  
 

17.4 The proposed corner plot 184 has a side elevation facing the gardens of 
Nos. 194 and 196 Huntingdon Road.  During the course of the application, 
an amendment was submitted to remove the secondary bedroom window 
on the first floor side elevation in order to prevent overlooking, due to the 
proximity of the side elevation to the boundary. Condition 20 (Removal of 
permitted development rights – windows) would prevent windows 
being inserted in the future.  
 

17.5 The proposed corner plot 168 would be two storeys and would have a 
shallow garden approximately 5.5m deep.  The house type used here 
would have no windows on the first floor rear elevation so there would be 
no overlooking towards the rear garden of No. 162 Huntingdon Road.  
This property has a long rear garden so there would not be an 
unacceptable overbearing or enclosing impact.  Conditions 20, 21 and 22 
(Removal of permitted development rights) would prevent the insertion 
of windows, roof lights and extensions in the future.  
 

17.6 The orientation of these properties to the north-east of the long rear 
gardens of the Huntingdon Road properties means that there would not be 
an unacceptable overshadowing or loss of daylight/sunlight impact.  
 

17.7 Nos. 164 and 162 Huntingdon Road are positioned either side of the 
pedestrian/cycle connection to Huntingdon Road.  This connection was 
established through the infrastructure reserved matters consent.  
Therefore, any impact in terms of noise and disturbance from comings and 
goings on the existing residents is acceptable.   
 

Woodlark Road 
 

17.8 The properties on the north-western side of Woodlark Road are 
predominantly semi-detached, however there are some detached 
properties on the south western end of the street and are primarily two 
storeys, with relatively long rear gardens including some outbuildings.  
One exception to this is Grosvenor Court which is a 2.5 storey building of 
flats currently undergoing extension and conversion.   Grosvenor Court is 
discussed in more detail below.  
 

Page 78



17.9 The proposed BDW2 dwellings would generally have a back-to-back 
arrangement with the Woodlark Road properties. Within the development 
site, to the rear of the gardens of plots 078 – 170 would be a 1.2m wide 
path and the existing ditch, so that in most instances, the rear boundary of 
the BDW2 gardens would be approximately 4m from the site boundary 
and from the rear boundary of the Woodlark Road properties.    
 

17.10 The boundary between the BDW2 site and the Woodlark Road properties 
generally has a hedge and fences, although there are some gaps along 
the length, so the hedge is not complete.  In particular, there is a gap in 
the hedge directly to the rear of Grosvenor Court and there is a retaining 
wall and fence in this location, which is discussed in more detail below.  In 
general, the landscaping proposal is to maintain this hedge and re-plant in 
gaps where planting conditions allow.  This is acceptable.  
 

17.11 The proposed BDW2 homes backing onto the Woodlark Road gardens 
would be two storeys.  There would be windows on the first floor rear 
elevations.  The first floor rear elevation of the proposed dwellings would 
be approximately 10 metres or more from the site boundary (including the 
maintenance path and ditch), with the exception of plots 133 – 135 which 
would be at least 9.5 metres from the boundary. The ground floor rear 
elevation would be closer to the boundary on plots 133, 127, 082, 080, 
078 and 076 however this would not have a significant impact.  This is 
acceptable.  
 

17.12 The proposed plot 167 on the south-western end of the street would have 
a side elevation within approximately 4.5 metres of the boundary of the 
garden of No. 1 Woodlark Road.  During the course of the application, 
amendments were submitted to remove the window from the side 
elevation to prevent overlooking into this garden. Condition 20 (Removal 
of permitted development rights – windows) would prevent windows 
being inserted in the future.  
 

17.13 The existing ground level on the BDW2 site gradually rises away from the 
Woodlark Road boundary.  The site sections show that the proposed 
ground levels would rise slightly from the boundary, but that there would 
not be substantial difference in the eaves height of the proposed dwellings 
compared to the existing Woodlark Road properties, however the 
proposed dwellings would have a higher ridge height than the existing 
properties.  The visual impact of this would be mitigated by the distance 
from the boundary and the gaps between the proposed dwellings.  This is 
acceptable.  
 

17.14 The orientation of these properties to the north-west of the relatively long 
rear gardens of the Woodlark Road properties means that there would not 
be an unacceptable overshadowing or loss of daylight/sunlight impact. 
 

Grosvenor Court 
 

Page 79



17.15 This property is set back from the predominant building line along 
Woodlark Road so that the building is closer to the BDW2 site boundary. 
The property has been granted planning permission for conversion and 
extension to provide 8 flats (application reference 19/1250/S73 & 
20/04303/S73).  There is a live application for a material amendment 
including alterations to the top floor, which is currently pending 
consideration (application reference 21/03228/S73).   

 
17.16 The original ‘main body’ of the Grosvenor Court building is approximately 

8.75 metres from the boundary.  The approved scheme includes 
extensions at the rear elevation of Grosvenor Court approximately 4 
metres from the site boundary.  The completed scheme will have windows 
on the ground and first floors of the original ‘main body’ and the 
extensions, and windows in the roof extensions on the main roof slope. 
The scheme includes first and second floor balconies to provide private 
amenity space.  The ground floor units have some private amenity space 
and there is an area of shared amenity space at the rear of the building.  

 
17.17 The proposed BDW2 plots 129-132 are located directly to the rear of the 

buildings at Grosvenor Court.  The applicant has responded to the 
proximity of Grosvenor Court by using a shallower house type for these 
plots, which increases the separation distance between the proposed rear 
elevation and the boundary. As a result, the distance between the 
proposed rear elevation and the site boundary is between 13 - 14 metres 
(including the maintenance path and ditch).  This includes an amendment 
to plot 132 which has been changed house type compared to the previous 
application. 
 

17.18 The applicant proposes a green screen in the rear gardens of plots 129 – 
133 comprising a 1.5 metre high screen of hedging in order to screen 
intervisibility.  Maintenance would be the responsibility of the future 
occupants.  Notwithstanding this, there is an existing 1.8 metre high close-
boarded fence along the Grosvenor Court boundary which was erected as 
part of this development.  This fence would screen views into the ground 
level amenity space and ground floor windows to protect the privacy of the 
future occupants of the Grosvenor Court properties.  This is acceptable.   
 

17.19 Plots 129-132 would be two storey dwellings with two first floor windows 
on the rear elevation.  Views from these windows towards the ground level 
amenity space and windows would be screened by the boundary 
treatments.  Views towards the first and second floor windows would be 
over a distance of at least 18 metres.  This is acceptable.  
 

17.20 The extensions to Grosvenor Court include inset roof terraces at first floor 
level which provide private amenity space.  These are enclosed with brick 
balustrades and railings.  The distance between the first floor rear 
elevation of plots 129 – 132 and roof terraces would be over 18 metres.  
The distance to the second floor roof terraces would be greater and any 
views from the first floor rear elevation of plots 129 - 132 would be looking 

Page 80



upwards and would not result in a significant loss of privacy. This is 
acceptable.  

 
17.21 The orientation of the proposed development would be north-west of 

Grosvenor Court.  Notwithstanding this, the applicant has submitted a 
daylight and sunlight statement referencing the assessment carried out on 
the previous proposals under the application 19/1056/REM.  This showed 
that the previous scheme had no adverse impact on Grosvenor Court with 
all rooms continuing to meet or exceed industry-standard BRE guidance.  
The additional separation distance between plot 132 and Grosvenor Court 
will improve those results further and as such remain compliant with 
guidance.  This is supported.   
 

17.22 The sections show that the eaves and ridge height of the proposed 
dwellings would not be significantly different from Grosvenor Court. In 
addition to this, the proposal would not have a significant overbearing or 
enclosing impact on Grosvenor Court due to the distance between the 
proposed houses and the boundary, and the gaps between the dwellings.  
There would be some additional noise from comings and goings and use 
of the gardens, however this would be residential in nature and would not 
have a significant harmful impact on residential amenity.  This is 
acceptable.  
 

17.23 In conclusion, the development has been carefully considered to respond 
to the unusual proximity of Grosvenor Court to the boundary and the 
sensitivity of this relationship is recognised.  A condition is recommended 
to remove permitted development rights for the erection of rear extensions 
and roof extensions to plots 129 - 132 that would bring the development 
closer to the boundary and could have a different impact which would 
need to be assessed through a planning application (condition 21 – 
Removal of Class A permitted development rights - extensions).  
 

1 Hoadly Road 
 

17.24 This property fronts Hoadly Road so that the side elevation runs parallel to 
the BDW2 site.  It is a semi-detached two storey property which has been 
extended at the rear with the two storey element.  This assessment is 
based on the available plans for the approved extension and a site visit.  
 

17.25 The side elevation includes three first floor windows: one is the sole 
window serving a bedroom currently used as a study; one is an ensuite; 
the third is a large secondary bedroom window with the largest window on 
the rear elevation.  There are windows on the ground floor which are 
screened by a large hedge and boundary treatment.  The property has a 
long rear garden with several mature trees.   
 

17.26 The proposed plots 070-072 follow the same pattern as those backing 
onto Woodlark Road, with the rear elevation facing towards the site 
boundary.  Due to the orientation of 1 Hoadly Road, these plots face 
towards the side elevation of this property and the garden.  Since the 

Page 81



previous application, the tertiary road has been realigned to increase the 
separation distance between the proposed dwellings and the site 
boundary.  The rear elevations of plots 070 and 071 are approximately 
13.5 metres from the boundary. Plots 070 and 071 are house types with a 
blank first floor elevation, to prevent overlooking of the garden.  Conditions 
are recommended to prevent first and second floor windows and roof 
lights being inserted to prevent overlooking into neighbouring gardens 
(conditions 20 and 22 – Removal of Permitted Development Rights), 
and to prevent rear extensions (condition 21 – Removal of Class A 
permitted development rights – extensions).  This is acceptable.  
 

17.27 The rear elevation of proposed plot 072 is approximately 11.5 metres from 
the boundary.  The house has been positioned on the western side of its 
plot so that there are no direct views from first floor windows towards the 
bedroom/study window of 1 Hoadly Road.  There would be some oblique 
intervisibility, however due to the realignment of the tertiary road, the 
proposed dwelling would be further from the boundary and the distance 
between the first floor elevation and the side elevation of 1 Hoadly Road 
would be over 13 metres to minimise the impact of intervisibility of the 
privacy for occupants of both the proposed and existing dwellings.  This is 
acceptable subject to the same removal of permitted development rights 
(conditions 20, 21 and 22).  
 

17.28 The gardens, parking and stores for plots 070-072 have been arranged so 
that the parts of the garden most frequently used for sitting out would be 
away from the windows of 1 Hoadly Road to minimise intervisibility 
between the gardens and the windows and the impact on actual and 
perceived loss of privacy. This is acceptable.   
 

17.29 These gaps between the proposed dwellings on plots 070-072 also reduce 
the overbearing impact on 1 Hoadly Road, which has also been reduced 
by increasing the distance from the boundary compared to the previous 
application. The gap between 072 and 071 would be approximately 6.6 
metres wide, therefore maximising the outlook from the windows.  The 
levels show the finished floor level for the proposed plots would be 
reasonable. This is acceptable.  
 

17.30 The orientation of these plots would be north-west of 1 Hoadly Road.  
Nonetheless, the applicant submitted a daylight and sunlight assessment 
during the course of the application, assessing the impact on the 
neighbouring garden and windows serving habitable rooms.  The 
assessment has been undertaken in accordance with industry-standard 
BRE guidance.  It concludes that the proposal would not have a significant 
impact on daylight and sunlight, and therefore would not have a significant 
adverse impact on the amenity of the occupants of this property. This is 
supported.    
 

17.31 There would be some additional noise and disturbance from comings and 
goings and use of the gardens which could impact on most of the garden 

Page 82



of 1 Hoadly Road, however this would be residential in nature and would 
not have a significant impact on residential amenity. This is acceptable.  

 
Howes Place 

 
17.32 Howes Place adjoins the northern boundary of the site and as a linear 

development located between the Darwin Green site and the former NIAB 
site to the north.  The dwellings were built as a cohesive development and 
some have been extended, including rear extensions and roof extensions.  
The properties have long gardens approximately 30 metres to 58 metres 
and include mature planting. 
 

17.33 The proposed plots 184 - 197 backing onto the Howes Place properties 
would be two storeys and a mix of detached and attached.  The proposed 
plots would have rear gardens between approximately 6.6 metres and 
11.3 metres.  The shortest distance would be the rear gardens of plot 194 
– 196 which would be between 7.5 metres and 6.7 metres, however these 
would back onto gardens approximately 58 metres long. There would be 
first floor windows on the rear elevations of the proposed dwellings which 
would have some direct views into the rearmost part of the Howes Place 
gardens, however, due to the length of these gardens this is acceptable.  
 

17.34 The orientation of the proposed BDW2 plots to the south-east of the 
gardens could have some overshadowing impact on these gardens, 
however again, due to the length of the gardens, this would not have a 
significant impact.  Similarly, any noise and disturbance from the proposed 
plots would not have a significant impact.  The proposal would not have an 
overbearing impact.  
 

BDW1 
 

17.35 The properties on the southern side of Beagle Road in the BDW1 scheme 
would outlook onto the proposed allotments at the rear, which is 
acceptable.   
 

17.36 The proposed plot 198 would be three storeys and would have a blank 
elevation facing the BDW1 dwelling. This is acceptable.  
 

17.37 The proposed plot 197 would be two stories with two first floor windows on 
the rear elevation.  These would be approximately 7.75 metres from the 
boundary of the garden of the BDW1 dwelling with the existing hedge to 
be retained along the boundary.  This is acceptable.   
 

17.38 The proposed plot 001 would be three storeys and would have a first floor 
bathroom window on the side elevation.  This plot would be approximately 
7.5 metres from plot 173 on the BDW1 scheme, which has first and 
second floor bathroom windows.  This is acceptable.  
 

Residential amenity of existing properties – conclusion 
 

Page 83



17.39 In summary, the proposals respond sensitively to neighbouring properties, 
in particular through amendments made to the plots adjacent to 1 Hoadly 
Road and Grosvenor Court which officers are satisfied address the 
previous reasons for refusal.  A thorough and comprehensive assessment 
of the impact of the proposals on existing residential amenity has been 
undertaken. The proposal is not considered to have a significant 
unacceptable impact on neighbouring properties in terms of intervisibility 
or loss or privacy, loss of light or overshadowing, or overbearing and 
enclosure, as well as noise and disturbance.  The proposal is in general 
accordance with the outline consent and CLP 2018 policies 55 and 56.  
 

18.0 Access and Transport  
 

Transport Impact 
 

18.1 The transport impact was assessed at the outline stage and is subject to 
conditions and mitigation measures secured through that consent.  The 
applicant has submitted a Transport Statement to support the reserved 
matters application.  The residential trip rate agreed at the outline stage 
has been applied to the proposed development.  The statement concludes 
that as the quantum of development anticipated in this phase has not 
changed the volume of trips that would be expected to occur. 
 

18.2 The Transport Statement provides a summary of the mitigation measures 
secured through the outline consent via conditions and/or the Section 106 
Agreement which promote non-car transport modes.  Some measures are 
already in place, such as the works to Huntingdon Road junction. The 
implementation of the Histon Road access/ junction will be triggered with 
the occupation of the 350th dwelling, as noted in the Phasing section of 
this report. Other measures have been incorporated or will be 
implemented in this scheme, including the provision of car club spaces, 
the provision of cycle storage and the implementation of the Travel Plans.   
 

18.3 A Residential and Area Wide Travel Plan has been approved for the site 
under the requirements of the Section 106 Agreement.  The aims of the 
residential travel plan (RTP) are to reduce car travel and maximise the use 
of the most sustainable modes, cycling and walking, for all journey types.  
Incentives to encourage car users to try alternative modes of travel and 
sustain this new travel of behaviour forms part of the RTP. A Travel Plan 
Coordinator will be appointed for the Darwin Green site as part of the 
implementation of the travel plan. 
 
Car parking 
 

18.4 The outline consent controls the number of car parking spaces via 
condition 48 which states that car parking for residential properties shall 
be provided in accordance with the standards set out in the Local Plan.  
The condition also restricts the total number of residential parking spaces 
for the Darwin Green development (2,389 spaces) and this cap has not 
been reached (a total of 915 residential spaces have been approved 

Page 84



through earlier reserved matters consents with 265 and 114 spaces within 
BDW1, the Local Centre, and BDW5/6 respectively).   
 

18.5 Car parking standards within the adopted CLP 2018 are set out in Policy 
82 and Appendix L.  The standards for new developments outside the 
controlled parking zone are set out in the table below.   

 
18.6 A car parking plan has been submitted which shows 509 residential car 

parking spaces.  This would average approximately 1.6 spaces per 
dwelling.  Two car parking space are provided on-plot for homes with 3 
bedrooms or more, except within the higher density terraced homes which 
have one space.  Nonetheless, this would be not less than a mean of 0.5 
spaces an no dwellings would have more than two spaces, in accordance 
with the adopted standards.  1 bedroom and 2 bedroom homes have been 
provided with 1 space, generally on-plot for the houses or within parking 
courts for the apartments.   This is supported.  
 

18.7 On-plot parking for the houses is generally provided in tandem which is 
supported in the Design Code. The 1 bedroom homes have parking 
provided within the property’s courtyard, which allows flexibility for this 
space to be used for other purposes if the occupants do not have a car.  
The terraced houses fronting the ‘T-Park’ and the primary street have 
parking at the rear within the mews and below the ‘flats-over-garages’ with 
access via a rear gate.  This is a design-led response which is supported.  
The parking courts for the apartments contain between 6 and 12 spaces. 
The use of parking courts is supported in the Design Code and the parking 
has been provided to the rear of the apartment blocks to maintain street 
enclosure.  This is supported.  
 

18.8 Regarding visitor parking, outline condition 48 states that the development 
could also provide for visitor spaces as appropriate, and that these spaces 
shall be on street and not allocated to any residential property.  The 
proposal includes 32 visitor parking spaces, which equates to 
approximately 1 space per 10 dwellings.  Visitor parking spaces have 
been provided on-street and distributed on the primary and secondary 
streets across the parcel.  Four spaces have been provided at the Pavilion 
Green and three spaces have been provided at the allotments.  These are 
evenly spread throughout the development and there is good provision 
near to key public spaces.  This is supported.    
 

18.9 Condition 70 of the outline consent requires the applicant to provide 
details of interim parking management arrangements prior to any formal 

Accommodation Standard Provision 

Up to 2 bedrooms No more than a mean of 
1.5 spaces per dwelling 

No more than a mean of 
1.5 spaces per dwelling 

3 or more 
bedrooms 

No less than a mean of 
0.5 spaces per dwelling, 
up to a maximum of 2 
spaces per dwelling 

No less than a mean of 
0.5 spaces per dwelling, 
up to a maximum of 2 
spaces per dwelling 

Page 85



adoption of the roads and ahead of the introduction of a formal traffic 
regulation order whereby parking controls will be enforced by the local 
authority.  The applicant is required to submit details prior to occupation of 
any dwelling on this phase. 
 
Cycle parking 

 
18.10 Condition 49 on the outline consent requires that any reserved matters 

application including residential units, non-residential building or public 
open spaces shall provide details of facilities for the covered, secure 
parking of bicycles in accordance with the approach approved within the 
Design Code, set out in the table below.  It should be noted that the 
Design Code requirement exceeds the adopted CLP 2018 standards 
requiring 3 spaces for 4-bedroom dwellings. 
 

 
18.11 The applicant states that 977 residential spaces have been provided.  An 

updated cycle parking strategy plan was submitted during the course of 
the application showing the capacity and type of cycle store for each plot.  
The number of cycle parking spaces is in accordance with the Design 
Code requirements and is supported.  
 

18.12 Houses are provided with a cycle store or in some cases a combined cycle 
and bin store.  Floor plans and elevations for some store types have been 
submitted.  2 bedroom houses would have a Sheffield hoop beneath a 
canopy roof within the courtyard. Larger houses would have a timber 
store. Dimensions are acceptable and meet or exceed the Cycle Parking 
Guide for New Residential Developments (2010).  Although detailed plans 
for all the store types have not been submitted, officers are satisfied that 
the stores can be accommodated on the plots.  This is supported.  

 
18.13 Apartments are provided with a communal store. This is either a 

standalone store or integrated into the ground floor.  The stores are 
conveniently located for access to and from the entrances and cores to the 
blocks which are served by dual cores with direct access from the service 
areas.   The stores meet the standards within the Design Code and in 
some cases exceed the number of spaces required.  Dimensions are 
acceptable and meet or exceed the Cycle Parking Guide for New 
Residential Developments (2010).  This is supported.  
 

18.14 Nonetheless, insufficient plans and elevations have been provided for 
each store types and therefore condition 49 is not recommended to be 
discharged at this stage.  A resubmission is required.  This will also allow 
the applicant to address comments from the Cambridgeshire Constabulary 

Accommodation Standard Provision 

Up to 3-bedroom 
dwellings 

1 space per bedroom 1 space per bedroom  

4 or more-bedroom 
dwellings 

4 spaces per 4- or 5-
bedroom dwelling 

4 spaces per 4- or 5-
bedroom dwelling 

Page 86



around security (informative 3 – Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
comments) and from the urban design team around the need for green 
roofs to soften the visual impact of stores located to the front of dwellings.  
 

18.15 The Design Code sets out that some level of visitor cycle parking is 
expected to be provided, particularly for large housing, without specifying 
quantity requirements. The cycle parking should be in convenient and safe 
places, where it would not obstruct the passage of pedestrians or vehicles. 
Moreover, it expects the cycle parking spaces to be well lit and benefit 
from natural surveillance and be secure, whilst being provided in key 
public spaces.  
 

18.16 The applicant has stated that 92 visitor spaces would be provided.  The 
general location of these is shown on the cycle parking strategy plan.  
These are generally close to communal building entrances and public 
spaces, which is supported.  The detailed location is shown on the 
landscaping plans, as annotated on the strategy plan.  This is acceptable.   
 

18.17 In conclusion, the proposal accords with the Design Code requirement and 
are supported with regard to the cycle parking strategy, however on the 
basis that incomplete information has been submitted to discharge 
condition 49, this condition cannot be discharged with regard to the BDW2 
parcel and a resubmission will be required. 

 
Cycling and Pedestrian Infrastructure  
 

18.18 The outline consent secured the delivery of part of the Orbital Cycle 
Route, which runs along the northern boundary of Darwin Green and has 
been implemented. This provides a high-quality cycle route and an 
important piece of cycle infrastructure for the city.  The Access PP 
includes a connection from the Orbital Cycle Route into Windsor Road, 
which will be delivered in later phases.  Relevant to the BDW2 parcel, the 
Access PP secures a pedestrian and cycle connection through to 
Huntingdon Road in the southern corner of the site.  
 

18.19 This connection has been approved through the infrastructure reserved 
matters consent (14/0086/REM) and details are shown on the BDW2 
landscape drawings.  This shows a segregated cycle and footway which 
enters into the southern corner of the site.  At this point, the permeability of 
the site allows cyclists to continue through the site along key desire lines 
to the Local Centre, primary school or central open space, for instance.  
This includes a shared cycle and pedestrian route through Pavilion Green 
or on-road routes through the site and through low-traffic shared surface 
areas, including the ‘T Park’.   
 

18.20 The wider cycling infrastructure for the site has already been approved as 
part of the infrastructure reserved matters application.  Officers are 
satisfied that the principles of the Design Code ensure that appropriate 
provision for cyclists has been made, and that similar aspirations for the 

Page 87



site are shared with LTN/10 namely that cycle networks and routes should 
be coherent, direct, safe, comfortable and attractive.   
 
Highway safety 
 

18.21 The applicant has submitted an adoption plan showing public highways to 
be adopted by the County Council and other areas – primarily shared 
surface and mews areas – which would be maintained by a management 
company.  The shared surface area surrounding LAP 1 and the mews 
street leading to it are proposed to be built to adoptable standard and with 
a right of access provided to the City Council to provide acceptable access 
for maintenance vehicles. This is secured through condition 2 – Non-
adopted roads and the right of access will be secured through the 
transfer process for the open space in accordance with the Section 106 
Agreement. 
 

18.22 The County Council Highways Engineer supports the proposal following 
amendments submitted during the course of the application to introduce 
additional features within the carriageway along the primary street 
(previously approved via the infrastructure reserved matters and 
necessitating enlarging the red line boundary for the current application to 
include alternative proposals for the primary street) and to improve the 
compliance with the 20 miles per hour design speed, and updated refuse 
tracking.   
 

18.23 Conditions are recommended relating to pedestrian visibility splays 
(condition 3 – Pedestrian visibility splays), construction of driveways 
and off street parking spaces (condition 5 – Driveway levels), and inter-
visibility splays for access points (condition 4 - Inter-visibility splays) in 
line with the advice from the County Council Highways Engineer. 
 
Access and transport – conclusion 
 

18.24 The proposals promote sustainable transport through the site layout, 
movement hierarchy, and cycle parking provision, and are consistent with 
the outline consent and Design Code, and align with CLP 2018 policies 80 
and 81. On this basis, the proposals are considered acceptable with 
regard to access and transport. 

 
19.0 Environmental issues 

 
Water Management, Drainage and Flood Risk 
 

19.1 A site-wide Surface Water Drainage Strategy for Darwin Green has been 
approved under condition 34 of the outline consent.  The Design Code 
sets three key drainage objectives to capture and treat surface water to 
minimise pollution, harvest rainwater and surface water runoff for reuse 
and reduce peak flows from the site.  The site-wide strategy for Darwin 
Green incorporates ponds and swales appropriately located within open 
green areas and alongside roadways to collect controlled run-offs from the 

Page 88



various development site parcels.  The sustainable drainage infrastructure 
has been approved via the infrastructure reserved matters consent and 
has been partially implemented.  
 

19.2 For the detailed proposals, conditions 35 of the outline consent requires 
the submission of a surface water drainage scheme for each reserved 
matters demonstrating accordance with the approved site-wide Surface 
Water Drainage Strategy.  The applicant has submitted a Drainage Report 
and Strategy which was updated during the course of the application.  This 
demonstrates that surface water from BDW2 would be discharged into the 
site-wide drainage network at a controlled rate. 
 

19.3 The proposal includes water butts for harvesting rainwater for garden use; 
swales/urban rills along the internal road edges and the edges of the 
pavilion courtyard to store and convey surface water run-off; permeable 
paving in car parks, footways, shared surfaces and shared drives; and 
geo-cellular/modular systems to provide below ground attenuation prior to 
discharge into the wider pond and swale network.  The applicant has 
submitted maintenance details.   

 
19.4 The drainage report and micro drainage calculations which demonstrates 

that the site is designed to drain in accordance with the approved strategic 
surface water drainage strategy. The system is designed to contain all 
required storm events below ground for up to 1 in 100-year event plus 
40% climate change allowance and a management and maintenance plan 
has been set out for all proposed sustainable drainage or existing 
drainage features.   
 

19.5 The LLFA supports the proposed drainage strategy.  Concerns raised in 
their initial comments have been overcome. A condition is recommended 
to secure further construction details (condition 17 – Detailed drainage 
construction drawing), and informatives are commended regarding 
constructions and alterations within an ordinary water course (informative 
5 – Ordinary Watercourse Consent) and pollution control (informative 6 
– Pollution Control).  The latter is controlled via condition 38 on the 
outline consent. These recommendations are supported and condition 35 
is recommended to be discharged.    
 

19.6 Third party representations have raised concerns about the impact of 
surface water flooding to the properties along Woodlark Road due to a 
potential increase in surface water runoff into the ditch to the rear of these 
properties as a result of the proposed development and poor maintenance 
of this ditch which is the responsibility of the developer who owns the 
ditch.  The profile of the ditch varies along its length and outfalls to an 
Anglian Water drain which runs between 27 and 29 Woodlark Road.   
 

19.7 The developer has provided information to demonstrate that the ditch does 
not form part of the site-wide drainage network for Darwin Green and that 
the proposals would remove water flows into the ditch by diverting water 
into the strategic surface water drainage network.  A drainage ditch 

Page 89



catchments assessment based on site levels submitted by the applicant 
demonstrates that the existing site currently discharges overland flow into 
the ditch.  As a result of the development, rain falling on the site would be 
diverted into the strategic drainage network, so that the BDW2 site would 
be removed from the catchment area of the ditch.  Following development 
of the BDW2 site, the only discharge to the ditch will be overland surface 
water flow from the existing gardens and roofs of the existing Woodlark 
Road properties.  
 

19.8 The proposal includes reprofiling the ditch so that the base and slope of 
the ditch would be cleared, local low points would be removed and the 
hydraulic profile would be improved.  A new access chamber and the 
existing pipe inlet is proposed to form a new headwall.  The applicant has 
submitted drawings showing sections across the width and length of the 
ditch.  This shows the slopes of the sides and the base, and identifies the 
areas to be remodelled.  The LLFA has recommended that the reprofiling 
works are undertaken as soon as possible to ensure the ditch functions 
suitably during the construction period.  Condition 18 (Ditch 
maintenance) is recommended to secure these works prior to 
commencement of development.  This is acceptable.     
 

19.9 Regarding maintenance of the ditch, the proposal includes a 1.2m wide 
path to the rear of the proposed dwellings.  This would be gated on either 
end to secure the access and a car parking space has allocated for a 
maintenance vehicle at either end.  The submitted Landscape 
Management and Maintenance Plan includes inspection, repair and clean 
out to ensure that all debris, detritus and litter are removed on a quarterly 
basis, and inspection of overflows to ensure they are free from blockages 
and cut back vegetation as required.  This will be carried out by a 
management company funded via a service charge to the residents of the 
BDW2 development.  Compliance is secured through condition 18 (Ditch 
maintenance) requiring the implementation of the approved Landscape 
Management and Maintenance Plan.  This is acceptable.  
 

19.10 Management of surface water drainage during construction is covered by 
the CMS submitted to discharge condition 52 of the outline consent.   
Appropriate measures are proposed for protecting potentially hazardous 
liquids and materials entering any surrounding watercourse. This includes 
removing any highly contaminated water from wheel wash areas and 
suitable protection around required bowsers on site in the event of a leak.  
The existing ditch along the rear gardens of Woodlark Road would be 
bunded during construction to prevent any silt from overland flows entering 
the ditch from construction works. The LLFA supports these measures and 
this advice is accepted.  A condition is recommended to secure further 
details of the bund and its implementation prior to commencement of 
construction (condition 19 – Bund construction detail).  
 

19.11 The landscape officer has recommended a condition for green roofs, 
however there are no flat roofs proposed within the development, 
therefore this condition is not applicable.  The proposal does not conflict 

Page 90



with CLP 2018 policy 31 in this regard.  The Urban Design Team has 
recommended that the cycle stores proposed to be located to the front of 
plots 194 – 197 should have green roofs in order to minimise visual  
intrusion on the street scene, and details would be secured through the 
further submission required to discharge condition 49.  This is acceptable.  
 
Sustainable Construction and Design 
 

19.12 The applicant has submitted a Sustainability Report which outlines the 
energy assessment and the approach towards climate change, low carbon 
development, renewable energy systems, and the sustainable use of 
environmental resources.  For example, the site is designed to avoid 
overheating through specification of deciduous trees to provide shade in 
summer but allow useful solar gain and improved daylighting in winter. All 
apartments will be dual aspect to enable cross ventilation.  Buildings are 
relatively shallow to reduce the need for artificial lighting and mechanical 
ventilation, therefore reducing energy demands. Homes have been 
designed with external load-bearing walls to allow maximum flexibility for 
internal alterations to meet changing needs.    
 

19.13 Condition 27 of the outline consent requires each reserved matters 
application to demonstrate that a 10% reduction in carbon emissions can 
be achieved using on-site renewable energy.  Condition 28 of the outline 
consent effectively supersedes condition 27 upon adoption of any new 
policy related to carbon reduction, which has now come into effect 
following the adoption of the Cambridge Local Plan 2018.  Policy 28 
requires all new residential development to achieve an on-site reduction in 
carbon emissions equating to a 19% reduction compared to 2013 Building 
Regulations Part L.   

 
19.14 Information regarding renewable energy provision and overall carbon 

reduction has been included within the Sustainability Statement.  The 
report sets out a hierarchical approach to reducing emissions, with the use 
of fabric improvements followed by the implementation of at least 1 kWp of 
photovoltaic panels for each residential unit.  A schedule has been 
submitted with the application, setting out the amount of photovoltaic 
panels to be applied to each unit, with a total provision of 508.53 kWp 
across the site.  The site roof plan general arrangement drawing shows 
the indicative layout of these panels.  This approach is supported and 
enables all units to meet (and indeed exceed) the 19% reduction 
requirement. This is supported. 

 
19.15 Condition 29 of the outline consent requires all homes to be constructed to 

a minimum of Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. However, 
forthcoming changes to the Building Regulations Part L coming into force 
in June 2022 are incompatible with certification under Code for 
Sustainable Homes.  This is because the technical requirements related to 
the Code for Sustainable Homes are linked to older versions of the 
Building Regulations, and are no longer being updated by the BRE 
following Government’s decision to scrap the Code in 2014.  The 

Page 91



consequence is that any homes built on this parcel and others under the 
forthcoming 2021 Building Regulations Part L cannot be certified and 
cannot comply with condition 29.  
 

19.16 The new 2021 Building Regulations Part L introduce further reductions in 
carbon emissions beyond those required by Code for Sustainable Homes 
Level 4.  The new 2021 Building Regulations Part L standards require a 
31% improvement on the 2013 Part L standards, representing an 
improvement in performance from Code Level 4 which only required a 
19% improvement.  Therefore, any homes built under the new 2021 
Building Regulations Part L standards will exceed the requirements of 
condition 29 in terms of reducing carbon emissions. 
 

19.17 The applicant has submitted a construction programme setting out the 
number of homes that will be built to the 2013 Building Regulations Part L 
standards and those which will be delivered against future iterations, 
notably the forthcoming 2021 Building Regulations.   Of the 323 homes 
proposed, 201 will be constructed to 2013 Building Regulations Part L 
standards.  The remaining 122 homes will be constructed to the new 2021 
Building regulations Part L standards.  This represents an improvement 
compared to the homes meeting Code Level 4 and is supported.  The 
construction programme indicates no homes will be built to Future Homes 
standards.  
 

19.18 In terms of condition 29, interim and post-construction certificates will need 
to be submitted for the 201 homes constructed under 2013 Building 
Regulations Part L demonstrating they meet Code for Sustainable Homes 
Level 4.  The Sustainability Report includes an indicative pre-assessment 
under Code for Sustainable Homes, which shows a score of 69.56% for 
houses and 70.16% for flats is achievable, which provides a small buffer 
above the minimum score for Code Level 4 (68 credits).  This approach is 
supported by the Sustainability Officer.   
 

19.19 For the 122 units constructed to the new 2021 Building Regulations Part L, 
a new condition is recommended to secure assessment of those units 
against the relevant standards (condition 11 – Carbon Reduction 
Strategy).  This represents a positive development of the scheme 
compared to the outline requirements and is therefore supported.  This 
approach is consistent with the approach taken for the BDW5/6 parcel and 
will be carried forward to future parcels BDW3 and BDW4.  This is 
acceptable.  
 

19.20 The Energy Strategy includes the use of gas boilers for all residential 
units.  As part of discussions for other phases on the Darwin Green Site, 
the approach has been to phase out the use of gas boilers in light of the 
transition to net zero carbon and the implementation of the Future Homes 
Standard in 2025.  The construction programme indicates that no homes 
will be bult under the Future Homes Standards and therefore will not 
benefit from electric forms of heating from the outset.  A condition is 
recommended to ensure that these homes are futureproofed for electric 

Page 92



heating (condition 12 – Futureproofing for low temperature heating).  
This is to ensure that future homeowners are more easily able to retrofit 
their homes to support the transition to net zero carbon and to ensure that 
they are not locked into fossil fuel use in the long term.   
 

19.21 The proposal includes a water strategy within the Energy and 
Sustainability Report, which targets minimising potable water use to 110 
litres per person per day through the implementation of elements such as 
dual flush WC, taps and kitchen sink taps, bath and shower, and rainwater 
butts.  Water efficiency credits are targeted in the Code for Sustainable 
Homes pre-assessment for those 201 homes constructed under 2013 
Building Regulations Part L targeting a maximum water consumption of 90 
litres of water per person per day.  This is supported and meets the water 
efficiency targets within the Design Code and CLP 2018 policy 28.  

 
19.22 Condition 63 of the outline application requires the submission of a 

Detailed Waste Management Plan (DWMP), setting out the approach to 
reducing construction waste.  The applicant has submitted a Waste 
Management Technical Note.  This is supported by the Sustainability 
Officer and recommended for discharge.  The condition requires the 
submission of a Waste Management Closure Report prior to occupation; 
therefore this condition is recommended for partial discharge. 

 
Air Quality 
 

19.23 The outline consent was approved under the Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
which contained no requirements for electric vehicle (EV) charging points.  
As a result, there is no condition on the outline consent and no 
requirement within the approved Design Code for the applicant to provide 
EV charging points within the development.  The provision of EV charging 
points does not fall within the legal definition of any of the reserved 
matters to which the assessment is limited for the current application. This 
legacy situation means that it is not lawful to apply adopted CLP 2018 
policy 36. 
 

19.24 Notwithstanding this, the applicant has committed to provide one active 
EV charge point for each dwelling with an on-plot car parking space, and 
to provide 50 per cent of spaces within each communal parking area for 
the apartments and on street parking spaces on private roads with an 
active EV charge point.  Passive provision including installing appropriate 
ducting and associated infrastructure would be provided to the remaining 
spaces.  The charge points would be a minimum 7 kilowatts.  This would 
be secured through condition 10 – Electric Vehicle Infrastructure.  This 
exceeds the requirements of the outline consent and is strongly supported 
as a benefit delivered by the scheme.  
 

19.25 In a similar legacy situation, there is no requirement for the applicant to 
provide low Nitrogen Oxide (NOx) boilers, as this is not required in the 
outline conditions or within the Design Code, and it does not fall under the 
legal definition of reserved matters. Nevertheless, the amended Energy 

Page 93



and Sustainability Report confirms that boilers specified for dwellings 
should generate less than 40mgNOx/kWh.  This is in accordance with 
current policy in CLP 2018 and is supported.   
 

19.26 In addition to this, the applicant has committed to installing measures in all 
dwellings to facilitate the upgrade of heating systems to efficient electric 
heating (such as heat pumps) to future-proof the homes.  This includes 
installing appropriate radiators, identifying suitable space for air source 
heat pumps, and installing appropriate pipework and hot water tanks.  This 
would be secured through 12 – Futureproofing for low temperature 
heating.  This exceeds the requirements of the outline consent and is 
strongly supported as a benefit delivered by the scheme. 
 

19.27 Further measures incorporated into the scheme to promote the use of 
sustainable transport as described in the Access and Transport section of 
this report, and the measures to meet carbon reduction and renewable 
energy targets as covered in the sustainability section of this report, are 
considered to contribute towards the reduction in emissions and improved 
air quality for this development.  
 
Construction method 
 

19.28 Condition 52 of outline permission requires a construction method 
statement (CMS) be submitted to demonstrate how the construction of the 
reserved matters approval accords with the details of construction criteria 
of the construction environmental management plan (CEMP) approved 
under outline condition 51.  The CMS includes details of access, parking, 
highway interference, site compound, contractor arrangements, hoarding, 
construction and delivery hours, waste management, soil management, 
noise and vibration mitigation and monitoring, dust management, site 
lighting, drainage control, and public liaison details.   
 

19.29 The applicant has submitted a CMS to discharge condition 52.  The 
Environmental Quality and Growth team and Lead Local Flood Authority 
support the discharge of this condition. The Highways Authority has raised 
no objection. This advice is accepted and condition 52 is recommended to 
be discharged.  Further comments about the construction drainage 
methodology to control flows into the ditch to the rear of Woodlark Road 
properties during construction are provided in the drainage section of this 
report.    

 
Contaminated Land 
 

19.30 Contaminated land is covered by Condition 50 on the outline consent and 
various site investigation reports have demonstrated that the DG1 
development site is largely free from contamination and that no remedial 
measures are required. As such this condition has been partially 
discharged and no further investigation works are required.  The condition 
requires a watching brief to be maintained and an assessment and 
remediation works should be carried out if unexpected contamination is 

Page 94



found.  Therefore, parts of condition 50 remain applicable to this reserved 
matters. 
 

19.31 The updated CMS submitted to discharge condition 52 on the outline 
includes a Soil Management Strategy.  The Environmental Quality and 
Growth team has reviewed this and supports the strategy which provides a 
clear soil management strategy in terms of the management and risk 
assessment of imported soils.  This advice is accepted and no objection is 
raised to the discharge of condition 52 in this regard.   
 
Lighting 
 

19.32 Condition 66 on the outline consent requires reserved matters applications 
to include details of the height, type, position, and angle of glare of any 
final site lighting / floodlights including light contours, with the approved 
details and measures to be carried out and maintained as approved. The 
applicants have submitted details of street lighting and private installations 
which defines Darwin Green as a ‘suburban – medium brightness’ lighting 
environment.  
 

19.33 The Environmental Quality and Growth Team supports the proposals.  
Street lighting is proposed in accordance with the County Council’s 
approved list.  Revised information was submitted by the applicant in June 
2022 in response to comments from Cambridgeshire Constabulary about 
the need for lighting to car parking courts, however this has not been 
reviewed by the Environmental Quality and Growth Team.  Therefore, 
condition 66 cannot be discharged at this stage and a revised submission 
will need to be made.    
 

20.0 Ecology and Biodiversity 
 

20.1 A site-wide Ecological Conservation Management Plan (ECMP) setting out 
how the development will improve net biodiversity and in accordance with 
the outline Environmental Statement was approved via the discharge of 
condition 39 of the outline consent.  An Ecological Conservation 
Management Plan Statement (ECMPS) demonstrating how the detailed 
proposals accord with the site-wide plan is required to be submitted with 
any reserved matters to discharge condition 40 of the outline consent.  
The applicant submitted an ECMPS which was updated during the course 
of the application.  The ECMPS is based on a walkover survey undertaken 
in July 2019.  
 

20.2 The site consists of neglected arable land dominated by tall ruderals and 
patches of ephemeral vegetation and rank grassland. Sections of species-
poor hawthorn dominated hedgerow occur along part of the north-western 
and north eastern boundaries. The former pavilion building is outside the 
application red lien boundary, however there are three smaller disused 
buildings within the site to be demolished.  In terms of protected species, 
no badger setts have been recorded within 30 m of the site and no 
evidence of their presence was seen during the walkover survey.  No 

Page 95



mature trees potentially suitable for roosting bats occur within the site, 
however there is potential for the former pavilion building to support 
roosting bats. An updated emergence survey of the building is 
recommended.  
 

20.3 The ECMPS includes the appointment of an Ecological Clerk of Works 
(ECoW) to oversee construction, including monitoring the impact of site 
clearance works on nesting birds.  In accordance with the site-wide 
ECMP, the proposals retain the existing hedgerows and provide 
biodiversity enhancements through sustainable drainage features, soft 
landscaping within areas of open space, and new street planting.  The 
proposals also deliver five bat boxes, seven swift bricks and ten bird boxes 
into the development, and a buried log habitat for invertebrates within the 
allotments, in accordance with the ECMP.  The appropriate installation of 
these features will be overseen by the ECoW.  The Ecology Officer 
supports the proposals and this advice is accepted.  Accordingly condition 
40 is recommended to be discharged.   
 

21.0 Other issues 
 
Trees and Hedges 

 
21.1 Conditions 17 and 18 require the submission of a land survey, tree and 

hedge survey, and arboricultural implications assessment; and an 
aboricultural method statement, tree constraints plan and tree protection 
plan respectively.  The applicants have submitted a Tree Survey and 
Constraints Plan, an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS), an 
Arboricultural Implication Assessment (AIA), a Tree Protection and 
Retention Plan and typical tree pit details.   
 

21.2 The Tree Officer is not satisfied with the information submitted which is out 
of date with the current proposals and provides insufficient details to 
assess the proposals, including details of servicing, levels and impact on 
root protection areas.  The applicant provided updated information in June 
2022, however the Tree Officer has not been consulted on these. 
Therefore at this stage, conditions 17 and 18 are not recommended to be 
discharged and a further submission will be required prior to 
commencement of development.   
 

21.3 Notwithstanding this, an additional condition is recommended to secure 
implementation of tree protection measures prior to the commencement of 
development and to prevent ground level changes within protected areas, 
in order to widen the scope of protective measures and provide further 
protections in addition to the outline condition 19 which secures the 
implementation of protective fences only (condition 7 - Tree Protection 
Methodology implementation).  This is necessary and acceptable.    
 
Fire safety 
 

Page 96



21.4 Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service has raised no objection to the 
application, however has provided advice regarding the provision of fire 
hydrants, and access and facilities for fire service.  Condition 71 of the 
outline consent requires the submission of a scheme for the provision and 
the location of fire hydrants which the applicant will need to discharge prior 
to commencement of development on this parcel.  Notwithstanding the 
advice from the fire service, the proximity the fire engine can get to 
buildings will have to be assessed in detail through the Building 
Regulations process.  There are no proposed buildings that would be 18m 
or more, or seven or more storeys and therefore there are no 
requirements under Planning Gateway One.  This is acceptable.  
 
Broadband 
 

21.5 Condition 15 on the outline consent requires a site-wide strategy for the 
provision or facilitation of broadband. This condition has been fully 
discharged and the development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved ‘Broadband Provision for Darwin Green’ document by Utility 
Consultant Services dated 20 March 2014. This is in accordance with CLP 
2018 policy 42. 
 
Archaeology and Heritage 
 

21.6 A programme of archaeological investigation works was secured via 
condition 67 on the outline consent.  A written scheme of investigation was 
agreed with the County Archaeology team, which included part of the 
BDW5 and BDW6 parcels within an area of investigation. To date, the 
applicant has not submitted a completion report to the local planning 
authority to confirm the investigation works have been carried out.  
Condition 67 requires this to be completed prior to commencement of 
development within the investigation area.  This remains outstanding and 
the applicant will need to submit this report to fully discharge this condition 
prior to commencement of development.  This is acceptable.  
 
Airport Safeguarding 
 

21.7 The site falls within two airport safeguarding zone consultative areas for 
any structure greater than 45 metres and 90 metres above the ground 
level.  Cambridge Airport and the Defence Infrastructure Organisation 
have raised no objection to the proposal from an airport safeguarding 
perspective. An informative is recommended to draw the applicant’s 
attention to the to the requirement within the British Standard Code of 
Practice for the safe use of cranes, for crane operators to consult the 
aerodrome before erecting a crane in close proximity to an aerodrome.  
The proposal does not conflict with CLP 2018 policy 37.  
 

22.0 Third Party Representations 

 
22.1 The remaining third-party representations not addressed in the preceding 

paragraphs are summarised and responded to in the table below: 

Page 97



 

Third Party Comment Officer Response 

The proposed house on plot 076 is 
closer to the boundary than other 
similar plots and should be set 
further away from the boundary in 
line with other plots. 

The proposed plot 076 forms part 
of a linked pair with plot 075.  This 
is similar to other linked pairs 
including plots 077 – 078 and 079 -
080.  The house at plot 076 
extends approximately 1.3 metres 
closer to the boundary than plot 
075 at ground floor level.  
However, at first floor level, the 
rear elevation is on the same line 
as plot 076.  The ground floor 
remains approximately 9 metres 
from the site boundary.  This is 
acceptable.  
 

Amendments should be made to the 
proposed homes backing onto 
Howes Place properties: 1) 
Replacement of red bricks / clay 
tiles with buff bricks / slates on plots 
185, 186 and 190-192; and 2) 
Replacement of 1200mm high post 
and rail timber fence with 1800mm 
high close board / larch lap timber 
fencing along the boundary 
maintaining all existing hedging 
along this boundary. 

The red brick / clay tiles on plots 
185 – 186 is appropriate as a 
marker building to hold the corner 
of the secondary street.  These 
would be two storey buildings and 
would be to the rear of the long 
gardens of the properties on 
Howes Place.  The materials are 
not considered to have an 
unacceptable impact on 
neighbouring properties.  Plots 190 
– 192 are proposed to be buff brick 
/ slate.  
 
 The boundary is proposed to be a 
1.2 metre post-and-rail fence as 
required by condition 9 – 
Perimeter Boundary Fencing.  
This is appropriate to allow 
maintenance of the existing 
boundary hedge, which will be 
maintained to 3 metres in height to 
provide an appropriate screen to 
maintain privacy.  This is 
acceptable.  

Clarify what the access path will be 
used for? Has thought been given to 
the security risk to both the 
proposed homes and existing 
properties on Woodlark Road? The 
gates should be locked and 
sufficiently high to prevent access.   

The path will provide access for 
maintenance only which will be 
controlled by a management 
company. The Cambridgeshire 
Constabulary has not raised 
concerns about this arrangement.  

Page 98



Third Party Comment Officer Response 

The proposed dwellings are at a 
distance from number 1 Hoadly 
Road that is less than one third the 
distance from all other properties on 
Windsor Road and Hoadly Road.  A 
daylight and sunlight assessment of 
the proposed dwellings on number 1 
Hoadly Road is required in 
accordance with Building Research 
Establishment’s (BRE) guidance to 
assess the impact on amenity. 

See paragraphs 17.24 – 17.31. 
This is acceptable.  

The existing ditch and hedge along 
the boundary with Woodlark Road 
should be extended along the side 
of number 1 Hoadly Road to protect 
the privacy and amenity of the 
occupiers of the neighbouring 
property.  A former ditch in this 
location was flattened out by the 
developer.  

The applicant proposes to extend 
the boundary planting in the rear 
gardens of plots 070 – 072 
alongside number 1 Hoadly Road.  
The ditch does not form part of the 
proposals in this location. This is 
acceptable. 

Tree planting along the pathway 
from Huntingdon Road will result in 
increased shading in the summer 
months of rear terrace to number 
162 Huntingdon Road.  The existing 
hedge along the boundary with 
number 162 Huntingdon Road 
needs to be restocked to make good 
the gaps that appeared following the 
developer’s initial clearance and site 
set up. Any planting along this 
boundary should be carried out with 
consultation particularly with regard 
to the shading, securing and future 
enjoyment of the neighbouring 
property.  

The landscaping along the path 
from Huntingdon Road was 
approved under the infrastructure 
reserved matters application 
14/0086/REM.   
 
There is currently no hedge along 
the rear or side boundary which is 
a close-boarded fence.  No hedge 
is proposed on the landscaping 
plans.  This is acceptable.  

There must be security for the rear 
of the Woodlark Road properties 
and other adjacent properties during 
construction.  

The construction site would be 
managed by the contractor.  There 
is no reason that the site would be 
less secure than current situation 
during construction.  

Discontinuity between the BDW2 
tertiary street with the BDW3 tertiary 
street in the south east corner. 
Confirm the status of the roadway in 
the south east corner towards 
BDW3 and the regulations that will 
apply to this roadway and the 
meaning of the dotted lines (Design 

This has been addressed in 
paragraph 13.7.  This is 
acceptable.  

Page 99



Third Party Comment Officer Response 

Changes Report p7). This route 
should not provide motor vehicle 
access which should be prevented 
in the future.  

Insufficient proposals on 
sustainability and decarbonisation 
which should be set to higher 
standards to address climate 
change.  Installation of solar panels 
and thermal insulation to passiv-
haus standards as a minimum. 

See sections on Sustainability and 
Air Quality sections of this report. 
This is acceptable in the context of 
the outline consent and in some 
cases exceeds requirements of the 
outline consent.  

The hedge should be maintained 
along the entire boundary with 
Woodlark Road specifically behind 
Grosvenor Court.  The hedge 
should be mixed and 3 metres high 
and 1 metre wide for privacy, 
biodiversity and flood protection. 

This has been addressed in the 
Landscape, Residential Amenity 
and Drainage sections of this 
report.  

Confirm proposals for feature tree 
(p29 of the landscape design 
approach) 

Feature trees are listed on the 
planting schedule as including 
Walnuts, Tulips, Cherries, Oaks, 
Tilias and Elms.   

Uncertainty about proposed tree 
works.  The hawthorn trees to the 
rear of Woodlark Road properties 
(specifically number 65 Woodlark 
Road) should not be removed to 
retain existing birds and other 
wildlife. 

The proposed landscaping plans 
shows retention of existing hedges 
and hedge trees.  The 
arboricultural implications 
assessment and tree protection 
measures have not been approved 
and therefore a further submission 
is required to discharge conditions 
17 and 18 on the outline consent.  
See the section on Trees and 
Hedges of this report for more 
explanation.  

There are currently surface water 
drainage flows from the site into the 
existing ditch to the rear of 
Woodlark Road properties.  There 
will be surface water entering the 
existing ditch to the rear of 
Woodlark Road properties from the 
BDW2 gardens and the Woodlark 
Road gardens.  

See the Drainage section of this 
report.  This is acceptable.  

Anglian Water have responsibilities 
in respect of the site drainage and 
have not commented on the 
application.  Anglian Water own the 
storm drain between numbers 27 
and 29 Woodlark Road and the 

Anglian Water have responded to 
the consultation that they have no 
comments to make.  The LLFA 
supports the proposal.  Condition 
17 – Detailed drainage 
construction drawing is 

Page 100



Third Party Comment Officer Response 

proposals include a new access 
change to the outfall.  What is the 
new access chamber to outfall and 
how does that affect flood risk? 

recommended to secure 
construction details for the 
headwall.  The LLFA has raised no 
concerns about this in terms of the 
impact on flood risk.  This advice is 
accepted.  

The existing ditch to the rear of 
Woodlark Road properties should 
be cleared out before housebuilding 
commences to prevent flooding to 
Grosvenor Court and adjacent 
properties and retained clear of 
debris and with a suitable width 
during construction.  

See paragraphs 19.6 - 19.10.  This 
is acceptable.  

The drainage work and ditch, the 
secure maintenance path and the 
hedge must be maintained at 
specified intervals by an identified 
responsible authority.  

See paragraphs 19.6 - 19.10.  This 
is acceptable. 

Has consideration been given to 
surface water run-off into existing 
gardens along Huntingdon Road?  It 
is incorrect that existing surface 
water run-off is from Huntingdon 
Road gardens into the site.  
Evidence of flooding in January – 
April 2018 has been provided to the 
Council and flooding also occurred 
in Christmas 2020 – February 2021.  

The LLFA has raised no objection 
to the information provided by the 
applicant based on site levels 
demonstrating run off from the site. 
The proposed development has 
been designed to direct all run-off 
from the site to the strategic 
drainage network and not to 
existing properties.  

There are no proposals for the 
existing pavilion and the future of 
this building is unpredictable.  The 
existing pavilion building should be 
maintained in a good state of repair. 

The pavilion does not form part of 
this application and is being 
brought forward separately.  This 
is not material to the current 
application.  

 
 

23.0 Planning Balance 
 
23.1 The assessment of this application is limited to the reserved matters 

relating to layout, landscaping, appearance and scale. These are 
assessed in the context of the outline consent and the relevant 
development plan policies where applicable.  The assessment in this 
report has concluded that the reserved matters proposals are generally 
compliant with the outline consent, as amended by the recent non-material 
amendment to the building heights parameter plan.  The proposals have 
evolved the site layout from the Design Code, however these conform to 
the established principles and are supported by officers.  This is a good 
quality scheme which will deliver important public open space including 
Pavilion Green and the allotments.   

Page 101



 
23.2 While the Council’s policies around accessible homes and low carbon 

technologies cannot be applied to the reserved matters, the applicant has 
committed to achieving other benefits that exceed the requirements of the 
outline consent, which is welcomed by officers.  This includes provision of 
active electric vehicle (EV) charging points and passive provision of 
infrastructures to support future provision; future-proofing infrastructure to 
facilitate the upgrade to efficient electric heating systems; and a 
commitment for over one third of homes to be built to the forthcoming Part 
L Building Regulations 2021 achieving a greater carbon reduction than the 
current standards.  These would be secured via conditions and therefore 
weight can be given to these benefits in the planning balance. These 
benefits are strongly supported.  
 

23.3 The proposal has fully addressed to the satisfaction of officers the four 
reasons for refusal of the previous application 19/1056/REM, namely 1) all 
dwellings now meet or exceed the Nationally Described Space Standards 
(NDSS) and the smallest gardens have been enlarged to provide an 
acceptable level of amenity; 2) the public open space exceeds the 
requirements of the outline consent, play areas have been provided in 
accordance with the outline requirements and the cycle parking strategy 
shows all dwellings would have appropriate cycle parking arrangements; 
3) the distance between the nearest plot and Grosvenor Court has been 
increased and amendments to the road alignment has increased the 
distance of properties from Hoadley Road; and 4) clustering of affordable 
homes now complies with adopted guidance.     
 

23.4 Third party comments have been addressed throughout this report.  The 
applicant has responded to concerns raised on the previous application.  
In addition to the improvements on the impact on residential amenity, the 
applicant has also addressed concerns about the impact on the ditch to 
the rear of Woodlark Road properties by committing to clear the ditch prior 
to commencement of development and to install a bund to prevent flows 
during construction.  The recommendation includes conditions to secure 
this.  Technical officers have raised no objection to the drainage proposals 
and their advice is accepted and supported.   
 

23.5 For these reasons, the proposals are supported by officers, and the 
recommendation is to approve the application subject to conditions, as per 
section 24 below.  The recommendation includes the respective approval 
or refusal of details submitted to part discharge outline planning conditions 
as listed below.  Any conditions that are not recommended to be 
discharged will need to be resubmitted by the applicant in line with the 
triggers applied to each specific condition or as otherwise agreed.  
 

23.6 Issues relating to compliance with the approved Phasing Plan and 
obligations within the Section 106 Agreement will be resolved separate to 
the reserved matters application. 
 

24.0  Recommendation 

Page 102



 
24.1 Approve planning permission of reserved matters application 

reference 21/04431/REM, subject to: 
 
(i) The conditions and informatives set out below in this report; and 

 
(ii) With authority delegated to officers to carry through minor 

amendments to those conditions and informatives (and include 
others considered appropriate and necessary) prior to the issuing of 
the planning permission. 

 
24.2 Approve / refuse partial discharge of the following outline planning 

conditions (planning application reference 07/0003/OUT) in relation to the 
BDW2 parcel reserved matters according to the recommendations for 
each condition set out in the table below: 

 
 

Conditions submitted Recommendation 

Condition 8 Design Code Compliance Part discharge  

Condition 10 Youth Facility and Children’s Play 
Provision 

Not approved 

Condition 14 Soft and Hard Landscaping  Part discharge 

Condition 17 Tree and Hedges Protection Not approved  

Condition 18 Tree Protection Not approved 

Condition 22 Allotment Strategy Not approved 

Condition 25 Affordable Housing Part discharge 

Condition 26 Accessible Dwellings Part discharge 

Condition 28 Renewable Energy Part discharge 

Condition 35 Detailed Surface Water Strategy Part discharge 

Condition 40 Ecological Conservation 
Management Plan Statement 

Part discharge 

Condition 49 Secure Parking of Bicycles Not approved 

Condition 52 Construction Management Plan Part discharge 

Condition 58 Noise Assessment for future 
residents 

Part discharge 

Condition 62 Domestic and Trade Waste Not approved 

Condition 63 Construction Waste Management Part discharge 

Condition 66 Lighting  Not approved 

Page 103



Condition 69 Public Art Not approved 

Page 104



 
25.0 Planning Conditions  

 
1. Plans Compliance  
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and documents as listed on this decision notice.   
   
Reason:  In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of doubt and to 
facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority under Section 73 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 
Highways 
 
2. Non-adopted roads 
 
Non-adopted roads shall be constructed and maintained in accordance with the 
Housing Estate Road Construction Specification 2018 produced by 
Cambridgeshire County Council (or its successor document at the time of 
construction), or in accordance with alternative details that have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the 
commencement of construction of the road to which those details relate. 
 
Reason: To ensure non adopted roads are constructed and maintained to a 
standard suitable for refuse and maintenance vehicles in the interests of 
maintaining visual amenity and safety (Cambridge Local Plan 2018 policies 56, 
59, 80, 81). 
 
3. Pedestrian visibility splays 
 
Two pedestrian visibility splays of 2m x 2m shall be provided each side of all 
motor vehicular accesses where they enter onto the adopted public highway. The 
splays shall be measured from and along the boundary of the adopted public 
highway and shall be within the curtilage of property served by the access.  The 
splays shall be free from obstruction exceeding 0.6m above the level of the 
adopted public highway at all times and shall be maintained for the lifetime of the 
development.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety (Cambridge Local Plan 2018 policies 
56, 59, 80, 81). 
 
4. Inter-visibility splays 
 
Motor vehicle accesses serving more than one dwelling onto the adopted public 
highway shall be provided with inter-vehicle visibility splays of 2.4m x 25m on 
each side of the access measured along the edge of the carriageway or shared 
surface.  The splays shall be free from obstruction exceeding 0.6m above the 
level of the adopted public highway at all times and shall be maintained as such 
for the lifetime of the development.   
 

Page 105



Reason: In the interests of highway safety (Cambridge Local Plan 2018 policies 
56, 59, 80, 81). 
 
5. Driveway levels  
 
All driveways, parking spaces, pedestrian and cycle accesses and other hard 
paved exterior elements shall be constructed so that their falls and levels are 
such that no private water drains across or onto the adopted public highway, and 
shall be constructed using a bound material to prevent debris spreading onto the 
adopted public highway. 
 
Reason: For the safe and effective operation of the highway (Cambridge Local 
Plan 2018 policies 56, 59, 80, 81). 
 
Landscape 
 
6. Landscape Management and Maintenance Plan 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be managed and maintained in 
accordance with the approved Detailed Open Space Landscape Management & 
Maintenance Plan version 5 updated 18.02.2022.  For the avoidance of doubt, 
this shall include the management and maintenance of the ditch to the rear of the 
properties on Woodlark Road.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of residents (Cambridge Local Plan 
22018 policies 55 and 59).  
 
7. Tree Protection Methodology implementation 
 
The tree protection methodology approved via the discharge of condition 17 and 
18 on the outline consent 07/0003/OUT (insofar as it relates to this reserved 
matters consent) shall be implemented (including supervision as required) 
throughout the construction of the development hereby permitted until all 
equipment, and surplus materials have been removed from the site. Nothing shall 
be stored or placed in any area protected in accordance with approved tree 
protection plans, and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered nor 
shall any excavation be made without the prior written approval of the local 
planning authority via the discharge of condition 20 on the outline consent 
07/0003/OUT.  
 
Reason:  To ensure that trees to be retained will not be damaged during any 
construction activity, in the interests of arboricultural amenity (Cambridge Local 
Plan 2018 policies 55, 59, 71). 
 
8. Tree Replacement 
 
If any tree shown to be retained on the tree protection methodology approved via 
the discharge of condition 17 and 18 on the outline consent 07/0003/OUT 
(insofar as it relates to this reserved matters consent) is removed, uprooted, 
destroyed or dies within five years of project completion, another tree shall be 

Page 106



planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and species, and 
shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the local planning 
authority. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that remaining arboricultural amenity will be preserved 
(Cambridge Local Plan 2018 policies 55, 59, 71). 
 
9. Perimeter Boundary Fencing  
 
Notwithstanding the approved plans, all boundary treatments erected adjacent to 
an existing hedge or ditch shall be a post-and-rail fence of 1.2 metres in height 
and shall be retained as such thereafter.  Notwithstanding the provisions of 
Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
order with or without modification), no alternative fences, gates, walls or other 
means of enclosure shall be erected without the granting of specific planning 
permission.  
 
Reason: To ensure an appropriate boundary treatment is implemented to allow 
surveillance and or maintenance of the land beyond. (Cambridge Local Plan 
2018 policies 55, 59) 
 
Sustainability  
 
10. Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
 
Prior to commencement of installation of electrical services, a scheme for the 
provision of dedicated electric vehicle charge points shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The scheme shall include 
relevant plan(s) and specifications for electric vehicle charge points, appropriate 
ducting and associated infrastructure.  The scheme shall provide: 
 

i. The provision of at least one active electric vehicle charge point for each 
dwelling with on-plot parking, which shall be designed and installed on-plot 
with a minimum power rating output of 7 kilowatts. 
 

ii. The provision of active electric vehicle charge points to least 50 per cent of 
car parking spaces within each area of communal/courtyard and on street 
parking spaces to private roads provision, which shall be designed and 
installed with a minimum power rating output of 7 kilowatts.  
 

iii. Additional passive electric vehicle charge provision of cabling to parking 
spaces for all remaining communal/courtyard car parking spaces and on 
street parking spaces to private roads to facilitate and enable the future 
installation and activation of additional active electric vehicle charge points 
as required.  
 

iv. The scheme shall enable capacity in the connection to the local electricity 
distribution network and electricity distribution board, as well as the 
provision of cabling to parking spaces. 

Page 107



 
v. The electric vehicle charge points shall be designed and installed in 

accordance with BS EN 61851 or any superseding standard or Building 
Regulations.   

  
The electric vehicle charge point scheme, as approved, shall be installed and 
functioning prior to the occupation of the dwelling to which they relate and 
maintained and retained thereafter. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of encouraging more sustainable modes and forms of 
transport and to reduce the impact of development on local air quality, in 
accordance with the NPPF and policy 36 of the Cambridge Local Plan 2018 and 
with Cambridge City Council’s adopted Air Quality Action Plan 2018. 
 
11.  Carbon Reduction Strategy 
 
The carbon reduction strategy shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Energy Report (Environmental Economics 29/06/2021) and submission 
of details to discharge condition 29 on the outline consent 07/0003/OUT (insofar 
as it relates to this reserved matters) shall be as follows, or in accordance with 
alternative details that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority:  
 

i. No more than 201 dwellings hereby approved shall be constructed to the 
Part L Building Regulations 2013 standard and assessed against Code for 
Sustainable Buildings Level 4.  Certificates shall be submitted in 
accordance with condition 29 on the outline consent 07/0003/OUT; 
 

ii. No less than 122 dwellings hereby permitted shall be constructed to the 
forthcoming Part L Building Regulations 2021 standard or the Future 
Homes Standard. Post-construction assessments demonstrating 
compliance with the relevant standard shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority prior to occupation of the dwelling 
to which the assessment relates.  

 
Reason: In the interests of reducing carbon dioxide emissions and futureproofing 
the development for net zero carbon and ensuring that new buildings are 
constructed in a sustainable manner (Cambridge Local Plan 2018 policy 28 and 
the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2020). 
 
12. Futureproofing for low temperature heating 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to facilitate the upgrade 
of heating systems to efficient electric heating (such as heat pumps), including 
the following measures which shall be provided to all dwellings prior to each 
occupation: 
 

i. All radiators shall be sized and fitted to be capable of running at a 
maximum of 45 degrees Celsius flow temperature when switched to a heat 
pump system. 

Page 108



 
ii. An appropriate space shall be identified for an external air source heat 

pump unit that is acceptable within permitted development requirements 
for noise, proximity to boundaries and physical size.  

 
iii. The primary pipework shall be provided between the external unit and the 

primary heating installations (heating pump and hot water tank) to enable 
the use of the heat pump system with minimum disruption upon gas boiler 
removal.  

 
iv. The hot water tank shall be heat pump ready and sized to enable 

incorporation of any additional requirements to the heat exchanger area 
and storage volume. 

 
Reason: In the interests of reducing carbon dioxide emissions and futureproofing 
the development for net zero carbon and ensuring that new buildings are 
constructed in a sustainable manner and are easily adaptable (Cambridge Local 
Plan 2018, Policy 28 and policy 57 and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable 
Design and Construction SPD 2020). 
 
Urban design 
 
13. Design details and materials 
 
No development shall take place above ground level (except for demolition) until 
details of all the materials for the external surfaces of buildings to be used in the 
construction of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The details shall include joints and interfaces of all 
materials; external features such as entrance doors, entrance screens, porch and 
canopies, cladding systems, horizontal sliding gates, windows, roof cladding, 
soffits, external metal work, balustrades, rainwater goods, and coping 
details.  The details shall consist of a materials schedule, detailed elevations and 
sections (scaled 1:5, 1:10, 1:20) and/or samples as appropriate to the scale and 
nature of the development in question and shall demonstrate consistency with 
the approved elevations.   The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development does not 
detract from the character and appearance of the area (Cambridge Local Plan 
2018 policies 55, 56 and 57). 
 
14. Sample panel 
 
No brickwork above ground level shall be laid until a sample panel at least 1.5 
metres wide and 1.5 metres high has been constructed on site detailing the 
choice of cladding, brick, bond, coursing, special brick patterning (with the 
exception of the insert brick detail on the eastern elevations at first and second 
levels of plots 012 and 013), mortar mix, design and pointing technique and the 
details submitted to the local planning authority in an accompanying report, and 
until the sample panel and report have been approved in writing by the local 

Page 109



planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  The approved sample panel shall be retained on site for the 
duration of the works for comparative purposes.   
 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development does not 
detract from the character and appearance of the area (Cambridge Local Plan 
2018 policies 55, 56 and 57). 
 
15. Brickwork detailing plots 012 and 013 
 
No brickwork on plots 012 and 013 shall be laid above ground floor level until a 
sample panel of the insert brick detail on the eastern elevations at first and 
second levels as shown on the approved plans has been erected on the site and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. The sample panel shall be 
maintained on site for the duration of construction of plots 012 and 013 for 
comparative purposes.   
 
Reason: To provide an appropriate detail to the rear elevation, in the interests of 
visual amenity and good design (Cambridge Local Plan 2018 policies 55, 56 and 
57).  
 
16. Window details plots 031 and 032 
 
Notwithstanding the approved plans, no development above ground level shall 
take place on plots 031 and 032 until details of the first floor windows on the front 
and side elevations have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  The details shall include elevations showing the position of 
the windows, and detailed drawings at a scale of no larger than 1:50 showing the 
design of the windows and the means of restricting views towards plots 033 and 
034.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and retained as such thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting residential amenity (Cambridge Local Plan 
2018 policies 55, 56 and 57). 
 
Drainage 
 
17. Detailed drainage construction drawing 
 
Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, detailed 
construction drawings and cross sections for all sustainable drainage features in 
accordance with the approved Drainage Strategy Report and accompanying 
drawings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
authority. The details shall include catch pit chambers, pipe connections, 
attenuation crate structures, permeable paving, rain gardens/biorientation 
features, and other features as appropriate. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Page 110



Reason: Reason: To ensure there is no risk of infiltration as a result of known 
high groundwater levels and that the risk of pollution to the wider catchment is 
reduced (Cambridge Local Plan 2018 policies 31 and 32). 
 
18. Ditch maintenance 
 
Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, the ditch to the 
rear of properties along Woodlark Road shall be cleared of debris and vegetation 
and repaired in accordance with the details specified in drawing ‘B18290-SK285 
P0 Ditch Detailed Sections’, so as to remove any obstacles preventing free flow 
of water along the ditch. The ditch shall thereafter be maintained in accordance 
with details as specified in the approved ‘Detailed Open Space Landscape 
Management and Maintenance Plan July 2019 version 5 – updated 18.02.2022’. 
and Management Report. The maintenance path and two points of access shall 
be provided in accordance with the approved plans and shall be retained safely 
and securely thereafter to prevent unauthorised access.    
 
Reason: In the interests of good maintenance and to prevent overflow from the 
ditch causing flooding, and in the interests of safety and security (Cambridge 
Local Plan 2018 policies 31 and 32).  
 
19. Bund construction detail 
 
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, details of the bund 
to be erected to prevent flows from the construction entering the ditch to the rear 
of properties along Woodlark Road as specified in the approved ‘Construction 
Method Statement February 2022 – Revision A’ shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. These details shall include a 
plan showing the position, length and width of the bund, sections showing its 
height and profile, and details of the materials to be used.  The bund shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the commencement of 
development and shall be retained in accordance with the approved Construction 
Method Statement.  
 
Reason: In the interests of good maintenance and to prevent overflow from the 
ditch causing flooding, and in the interests of safety and security (Cambridge 
Local Plan 2018 policies 31 and 32).  
 
Residential amenity  
 
20. Removal of permitted development rights (windows) 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification) no windows, doors or openings of any kind 
(other than those expressly authorised by this permission) shall be constructed in 
the elevations of the dwelling houses(s) on plots 012, 013, 029 – 040, 067 – 069, 
070, 071, 072, 167, 168, 184, 243 – 249, 250 – 254, 261, 306, 307, 309 – 313, 
318 above ground floor level without the granting of specific planning permission, 
unless i) all glazing is obscured meeting as a minimum Pilkington Standard level 

Page 111



3 or equivalent in obscurity, and ii) the openings are fixed shut or have restrictors 
to ensure that the openings cannot be opened more than 45 degrees beyond the 
plane of the adjacent wall. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting residential amenity (Cambridge Local Plan 
2018 policies 55, 56 and 57). 
 
21. Removal of Class A permitted development rights (extensions) 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or 
any Order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without modification), no 
enlargement, improvement or other alteration of the dwelling house(s) shall be 
constructed on plots 070, 071, 072, 129, 130, 131, 132, 162 without the granting 
of specific planning permission. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting residential amenity (Cambridge Local Plan 
2018 policies 55, 56 and 57). 
 
22. Removal of Class B and C permitted development rights (alterations to 
roof) 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes B and C of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification), no addition or alteration (including for the avoidance of doubt the 
insertion of roof lights or other openings in the roof slope) to the roof of the 
dwelling house(s) shall be constructed on plots 012, 013, 029 – 040, 067 – 069, 
070 - 084, 124 – 135, 162, 167 – 197, 243 – 254, 261, 306, 307, 309 – 313, 318 
without the granting of specific planning permission. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting residential amenity (Cambridge Local Plan 
2018 policies 55, 56 and 57). 
 
23. Opaque and fixed windows for all bathroom and ensuites 
 
Notwithstanding the approved drawings, no dwelling hereby permitted shall be 
occupied until all windows above ground floor level serving bathrooms and 
ensuites have been fitted with obscured glazing (meeting as a minimum 
Pilkington Standard level 3 or equivalent in obscurity) and have been fixed shut 
or have restrictors to ensure that the windows cannot be opened more than 45 
degrees beyond the plane of the adjacent wall.  The windows shall be retained as 
such thereafter.  
 
Reason: To prevent overlooking of the adjoining properties (Cambridge Local 
Plan 2018 policies 55, 56 and 57). 
 
24. Curtilages 
 

Page 112



No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the curtilage of that dwelling 
has been fully laid out and finished in accordance with the approved plans.  The 
curtilage shall remain as such thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure an appropriate level of amenity for future occupiers and to 
avoid the property being built and occupied without its garden land (Cambridge 
Local Plan 2018 policies 50, 55 and 56). 
 
 
Informatives 

 

1. Discharge of conditions 
 
This decision includes the part-discharge of the following conditions on the 
outline consent 07/0003/OUT in relation to this reserved matters: 
 

Condition  Decision 

Condition 8 Design Code Compliance Part discharged  

Condition 10 Youth Facility and Children’s Play 
Provision 

Not approved 

Condition 14 Soft and Hard Landscaping  Part discharged 

Condition 17 Tree and Hedges Protection Not approved  

Condition 18 Tree Protection Not approved 

Condition 22 Allotment Strategy Not approved 

Condition 25 Affordable Housing Part discharged 

Condition 26 Accessible Dwellings Part discharged 

Condition 28 Renewable Energy Part discharged 

Condition 35 Detailed Surface Water Strategy Part discharged 

Condition 40 Ecological Conservation Management 
Plan Statement 

Part discharged 

Condition 49 Secure Parking of Bicycles Not approved 

Condition 52 Construction Management Plan Part discharged 

Condition 58 Noise Assessment for future residents Part discharged 

Condition 62 Domestic and Trade Waste Not approved 

Condition 63 Construction Waste Management Part discharged 

Condition 66 Lighting  Not approved 

Condition 69 Public Art Not approved 

Page 113



 
2. Remaining outline conditions 

  
The developer’s attention is drawn to the conditions attached to outline 
application 07/0003/OUT that require the submission and approval of details, in 
particular those that require the approval of details before the development can 
commence.  This includes conditions listed in informative 1 for which details have 
not been approved through this consent.  It is the applicant’s responsibility to 
ensure all conditions have been discharged.   
 
3. Cambridgeshire Constabulary comments 
 
The applicant should review the detailed comments on the application file from 
the Cambridgeshire Constabulary in relation to crime prevention when preparing 
information to submit for the approval of details under conditions on the outline 
consent 07/0003/OUT, including condition 22 (allotment strategy), condition 49 
(cycle parking) and condition 66 (lighting).  
 
4. Section 38 Applications   
   
The applicant is advised that this decision notice does not give permission for the 
detailed road layout (such as drains, lighting and supporting structures), not does 
it imply that the Cambridgeshire County Council as Highway Authority will adopt 
the new roads that are proposed as part of this development.  A separate 
application will need to be made to the County Council under Section 38 of the 
Highways Act 1980 (as amended).  
 

5. Ordinary Watercourse Consent  
 
Constructions or alterations within an ordinary watercourse (temporary or 
permanent) require consent from the Lead Local Flood Authority under the Land 
Drainage Act 1991. Ordinary watercourses include every river, drain, stream, 
ditch, dike, sewer (other than public sewer) and passage through which water 
flows that do not form part of Main Rivers (Main Rivers are regulated by the 
Environment Agency). The applicant should refer to Cambridgeshire County 
Council’s Culvert Policy for further guidance: 
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/business/planning-and-development/water-
minerals-andwaste/watercourse-management/. Please note the council does not 
regulate ordinary watercourses in Internal Drainage Board areas.  
 
6. Pollution Control 
 
Surface water and groundwater bodies are highly vulnerable to pollution and the 
impact of construction activities. It is essential that the risk of pollution 
(particularly during the construction phase) is considered and mitigated 
appropriately. It is important to remember that flow within the watercourse is likely 
to vary by season and it could be dry at certain times throughout the year. Dry 
watercourses should not be overlooked as these watercourses may flow or even 
flood following heavy rainfall. 
 

Page 114



 
Background Papers: 

 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / 
or an indication as to where hard copies can be inspected. 

 

 Application File 07/0003/OUT 

 Application File S/0001/F 

 Application File 19/1056/REM 

 Application File 07/0003/NMA1 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



21/04431/REM
Darwin Green 1 - BDW2
Joint Development Control Committee - 20 July 2022

Drawing Pack

P
age 117



Location Plan – wider context

P
age 118



Location Plan

P
age 119



Proposed site plan

P
age 120



Open Space – Allotments

P
age 121



Open Space – Pavilion Green

P
age 122



Open Space – ‘T Park’

P
age 123



Open Space – Pocket Park

P
age 124



Elevations - Primary Street

P
age 125



Elevations - Secondary Street

P
age 126



Elevations - Tertiary Street

P
age 127



Elevations – Linear Park

P
age 128



Elevations – Linear Park

P
age 129



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  
 
Planning Committee Date 20.07.2022 

 
Report to Joint Development Control Committee 

 
Lead Officer Joint Director of Planning and Economic 

Development 
 

Reference 22/01842/FUL 
 

Site The Cowley Road Depot, Cowley Road, 
Cambridge 
 

Ward / Parish East Chesterton 
 

Proposal Continued temporary use of Cambridge Depot 
at Cowley Road from December 2023 until 
December 2026. 
 

Applicant Cambridge City Council 
 

Presenting Officer Julia Briggs 
 
Reason Reported to 
Committee 

 
Land within ownership of Cambridge City 
Council and which falls within the North East 
Cambridge JDCC area. 
 

Member Site Visit Date N/A 
 

Key Issues 1. Principle of development 
2. Impact on site and surroundings 
3. Environmental considerations 
4. Highways issues 
 

Recommendation APPROVE subject to conditions 
 

 
  

Page 131

Agenda Item 5



1.0 Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The application site is the former Cowley Road Park and Ride site, which 

is in the ownership of Cambridge City Council.  It has been in use as the 
City Council’s depot, following its relocation from Mill Road.  
 

1.2 This full planning application seeks to extend the existing temporary use of 
the site approved under an existing permission (20/0098/FUL) for a further 
three-year period until December 2026.  
 

1.3 The proposals accord with the adopted development plan for the following 
reasons:  

  
 The extension of the temporary existing use of the site as a depot is 
consistent with the commercial and industrial surrounding land uses.  
 
 The proposal is not considered to prejudice the potential future 
redevelopment of the land or the protected mineral and waste uses. 

 

 The proposals accord with Policy 15 ‘Area of Major Change’ of the 
adopted Cambridge Local Plan 2018 and would also comply with the 
emerging North East Cambridge Area Action Plan. 

 
 

1.4 Officers recommend that the Joint Development Control Committee Grant 
Planning Permission for the application 22/01842/FUL, subject to the 
conditions and informatives set out in Section 12 of this report, with 
authority delegated to officers to carry through minor amendments to those 
conditions and informatives (and include others considered appropriate 
and necessary), prior to the issuing of the planning permission. 

 
2.0 Site Description and Context 
 
2.1 The application site occupies 1.28ha in the north-east of Cambridge city. 

The site is currently used as a depot by Cambridge City Council and was 
previously a City Council park and ride facility. 
 

2.2 The site retains the infrastructure associated with its former use as a park 
and ride facility, including vehicle accesses from Cowley Road, hard 
standing, drainage infrastructure and lighting.  It also contains additions 
specifically for the depot use including a storage building, wash down bay, 
charging bays for electric vehicles, a waste transfer area and office 
accommodation. 
 

2.3 The depot is used to support activities undertaken by the City Council, 
including street cleaning, litter collection, maintenance of public open 
space and maintenance of housing and commercial buildings owned by 
the Council. It is understood that the site employs 80 staff, the majority of 
which primarily work off site across the City Council’s administrative area.  
 

Page 132



2.4 The site fronts onto Cowley Road to the south, is bounded to the north by 
the Mick George recycling facility and the Cambridge Water Recycling 
Centre (WRC), to the east by a golf driving range, and to the north and 
west by Orwell House a commercial office development. Vehicle access is 
via Cowley Road. Cowley Road contains a mixture of industrial, office, 
commercial and leisure land uses.  
 

2.5 The site falls within the North East Cambridge Area of Major Change 
(AOMC) as defined by the Cambridge Local Plan (2018) and South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018), although is wholly within the 
administrative area of Cambridge City. The site is in Flood zone 1. The site 
is outside the controlled parking zone. 

 
3.0 The Proposal 
 
3.1 This is a full planning application for the continued temporary use of 

Cambridge Depot at Cowley Road from December 2023 until December 
2026. 

 
3.2 The site currently benefits from a temporary permission to use the Cowley 

Road site as a Depot until December 2023. This application seeks 
permission to continue this use for a further temporary period until 31 
December 2026 to continue operations until a new facility can be planned 
and constructed. The application does not propose any other changes to 
the site or buildings. The application is accompanied by: 

 

 Drawing package (including Elevations, Plans and Layout) 

 Employee Travel Plan 2020/21 

 Transport Assessment 

 Highways and Transport Technical Note 

 Preliminary groundwater risk assessment and pollution control 
scheme Dust Management Plan 
 

4.0 Relevant Site History 
 

Reference Description Outcome 
20/0098/FUL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Continued temporary use of the 
site as a depot until 19th 
December 2023. Minor 
retrospective changes including 
relocation and extension of 
cycle racks; 3 additional 
charging bays; reduction of size 
of existing portacabin, two new 
portacabins, alterations to 
parking arrangements.  
Proposed increase in number of 
Waste Bays. 
Non-material amendment on 
application 16/2188/FUL for 

Approved  
22.07.2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 133



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16/2188/NMA1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16/2188/FUL  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
09/0072/FUL 
 

proposed design amendments 
comprising; removal of fuel 
storage & fuelling station, 
reduction in waste bays, 
relocation of electric charging 
bays, disabled parking bays & 
cycle parking and siting of 
additional mobile building. 
 
Non-material amendment on 
application 16/2188/FUL for 
proposed design amendments 
comprising; removal of fuel 
storage & fuelling station, 
reduction in waste bays, 
relocation of electric charging 
bays, disabled parking bays & 
cycle parking and siting of 
additional mobile building. 
 
Temporary change of use of 
former Park & Ride site to a 
replacement depot for 
Cambridge City Council, 
including a storage building, 
electric vehicle charging point, 
waste storage bays, vehicle 
washdown facility, bunded fuel 
tanks, cycle storage facilities, 
portacabin, storage racks and 
welfare building. 
 
Change of use from Park and 
Ride facility (Sui Generis) to bus 
parking area (Sui Generis) and 
erection of 2.4m high palisade 
fencing to Cowley Road frontage 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved 
19.02.2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved 
20.10.2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved 
15.04.2009 
 
 
 
 

5.0 Policy 
 
5.1 National  

 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
National Planning Practice Guidance  

 
5.2 Cambridge City Local Plan 2018 
 

Policy 1: The presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Policy 2: Spatial strategy for the location of employment development.  

Page 134



Policy 14: Areas of major change and opportunity areas – general 
principles. 
Policy 15: Cambridge Northern Fringe East and new railway Station Area 
of Major Change. 
Policy 27: Site specific development opportunities.  
Policy 28: Carbon reduction, community energy networks, sustainable 
design and construction, and water use. 
Policy 31: Integrated water management and the water cycle. 
Policy 32: Flood risk. 
Policy 33: Contaminated land. 
Policy 35: Protection of human health and quality of life from noise and 
vibration 
Policy 36: Air quality, odour and dust. 
Policy 37: Cambridge Airport Public Safety Zone and Air Safeguarding 
Zones  
Policy 38: Hazardous installations. 
Policy 80: Supporting sustainable access to development.   
Policy 81: Mitigating the transport impact of development.   
Policy 82: Parking management. 
 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
2021 

 
Policy 11: Water Recycling Areas (WRAS) 
Policy 16: Consultations Areas (CAS) 

 
5.3 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

Greater Cambridge Shared Planning Sustainable Design and Construction  
SPD (2020). 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste Partnership (RECAP): Waste.  
Draft North East Cambridge Area Action Plan (AAP) including Issues and 
Options Consultation 2019. 
Odour Impact Assessment and Technical Guidance Note on Odour and 
Cambridge Water Recycling Centre (WRC) (March 2019). 

 
6.0 Consultations  
 
6.1 County Highways Development Management 
 
6.2 No objection. No significant adverse effect upon the Public Highway 

should result from this proposal, should it gain benefit of Planning 
Permission. 

 
6.3 Environment Agency 
 
6.4 No objection. No comments. 
 
6.5 Environmental Health 
 

Page 135



6.6 No objection. Recommend conditions to control dust and fixed plant / 
machinery noise. 

 
6.7 HSE 

 
6.8 No objection. The development does not intersect a pipeline or hazard 

zone. 
 
7.0 Third Party Representations 
 
7.1 There have been no representations received.  

 
8.0 Member Representations 
 
8.1 There have been no representations received.  
 
9.0 Local Groups / Petition 
 
9.1 There have been no representations received.  
 
9.2 The above representations are a summary of the comments that have 

been received. Full details of the representations are available on the 
Council’s website.  

 
10.0 Assessment 
 
10.1 Principle of Development 

 
10.2 The application site falls within the North East Cambridge Area of Major 

Change as defined by the Cambridge Local Plan (2018). Policy 15 of the 
Local Plan states that the Cambridge Northern Fringe East area is 
allocated for high-quality mixed-use development, primarily for 
employment uses, as well as a range of supporting uses. Policy 15 
advises that development of the area will be established through an area 
action plan, and proposals should ensure due consideration has been 
given to safeguarding the appropriate future development of the wider site. 

 
10.3 The emerging North East Cambridge Area Action Plan (NECAAP) is 

currently paused pending confirmation of relocation of the Cambridge 
Waste Water Treatment Plant. The NECAAP is at the proposed 
submission stage and has been approved by the Councils for public 
consultation. It is therefore considered to hold some weight.  
 

10.4 The application site is within the area the NECAAP proposes as a local 
centre, and a permanent depot use in this area would not be compatible. 
The current proposal seeks a temporary permission of three years, which 
officers consider would not prejudice the future development of the site in 
accordance with the aspirations of the NECAAP.  
 

Page 136



10.5 It is noted that this is the third temporary permission sought for this site, 
however the Applicant has advised of an intention to enter into pre-
application planning discussions in respect of a new site for the City 
Council’s Operational Hub, which aims to be operational by October 2024. 
This is considered to provide sufficient certainty that the temporary 
permission sought is warranted. A condition has been recommended 
which limits the use of the site as a depot until 19 December 2026 
(Condition 2: Temporary permission).   

 

10.6 The continued use of the site for a further limited period is not considered 
to prejudice the longer term planning and redevelopment of the area and 
is a sustainable use of the site until further development comes forward. 
 

10.7 On the basis of the above evaluation, the principle of the proposed 
development is considered acceptable and in accordance with Local Plan 
policies, subject to the following considerations. 
 

10.8 Protection of safeguarded sites 
 

10.9 The site falls within a Water Recycling Area and a Mineral Safeguarding 
Area (Sand and Gravel) in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan 2021. Applications within these areas require 
consultation with the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (MWPA). The 
MWPA have been consulted upon the application proposals, but no 
response has been received. It is noted that on the application for the 
current approval, the MWPA confirmed no safeguarding issues were 
raised as it was a continuation of existing use on a temporary limited time. 
Given the same temporary nature of the current application, the proposal 
is considered acceptable with regard to safeguarded sites. 
 

10.10 Design, Layout, Scale and Landscaping 
 

10.11 The site layout and scheme remain unchanged from the scheme currently 
approved (20/0098/FUL). The site is tarmacked and houses welfare and 
training portacabins, parking bays, electric vehicle charging bays, storages 
buildings and racks, a wash down bay, waste bays, open storage areas 
and cycle parking. 
 

10.12 Development is supported where it responds positively to its context and 
surroundings and is high quality and inclusive. The site is set in an area of 
light-industry and research and development use. The site design and 
layout is considered compatible with the surrounding uses. Officers are 
satisfied they will not have a significant visual impact on the site and the 
wider surroundings.   
 

10.13 On this basis, officers are satisfied that the proposals accord with policies 
55 and 56 of the Cambridge Local Plan 2018.  
 

10.14 Water Management and Flood Risk 
 

Page 137



10.15 The site is in Flood Zone 1 and is therefore considered at low risk of 
flooding.  
 

10.16 No changes are proposed to the existing wastewater disposal 
arrangements. The preliminary groundwater risk assessment sets out how 
surface water and foul water are managed.  Officers are satisfied that 
there is no risk to groundwater arising from the proposals, and that the 
proposals are in accordance with policy 31 of the Cambridge Local Plan 
(2018).  For consistency with the current permission, an informative can be 
included on the planning decision notice relating to waste transfer, should 
approval be forthcoming. 
 

10.17 Highway Safety and Transport Impacts 
 

10.18 A Transport Assessment (TA) and transport technical note were submitted 
and approved as part of the original application for the change of use of 
the site. The planning statement confirms that no changes are proposed to 
the number of employees using the site.  The TA concludes that the use of 
the site as a depot is acceptable from a highways and transportation 
perspective.   
 

10.19 The highway access remains unchanged from the current approval.  
 

10.20 The Local Plan provides car parking limits for offices, general industry and 
storage based on gross floor area. The depot consists primarily of outdoor 
storage and maintenance space and has a minimal floor area. As such, 
officers consider the proposal does not fit within the local plan categories 
and car parking should be decided on merit. A transport assessment was 
undertaken in 2017 to support the original application for the depot at 
Cowley Road. That application provided 100 car park spaces for 180 
council employees. The current proposal now serves 80 employees, and 
there are 80 staff car parking spaces (5 of which meet disabled parking 
requirements). The Applicant advises 40-45 of these spaces are typically 
used. Car parking use, and therefore the impact of car use on surrounding 
areas has decreased since the original permission was approved. 
Although car parking is high for the number of employees, the actual harm 
from car use has decreased. The proposal seeks a temporary permission 
and it is not considered necessary to restrict car parking spaces on this 
site. 
 

10.21 The Local Plan cycle parking requirements for general industry require 1 
space for every 3 members of staff. The site provides 60 cycle parking 
spaces, 20 for operational use and 40 for employee use. This is 
acceptable for the 80 employees that use the site. 
 

10.22 No objection has been raised to the proposal from the Highway Authority. 
On this basis, the proposal is considered compliant with Cambridge Local 
Plan (2018) policies 80 and 81. 
 

10.23 Amenity and Environmental impacts  
 

Page 138



Light pollution 
 

10.24 The site is located over 300m away from the nearest residential properties 
(at Maitland Avenue and Green Park), within an established light industrial 
and commercial development area. There is no change to the lighting from 
the current approved scheme. Whilst the Environmental Health Officer has 
not specifically raised the issue of lighting, officers are satisfied that given 
the distance from residential properties, the proposals are acceptable with 
regard to lighting. 

 
Odour 
 
10.25 The application site falls within the County safeguarding area for the 

Cambridge WRC.  The Councils’ Technical Guidance Note on Odour for 
the Cambridge WRC is a material planning consideration when 
determining planning applications in North East Cambridge.  
 

10.26 The Odour Impact Assessment technical guidance note identifies a 
presumption against allowing development in this area which would be 
occupied by people. However, there are material considerations which 
need to be considered in this instance.  The site is already in use as a 
depot, and the majority of staff will be working off site. No odour concerns 
have been raised by Environmental Health Officers. 
 

10.27 Given the application seeks an extension to an already established use, 
officers are of the view that the proposed change of use would be 
acceptable with regard to potential odour impacts.   

 
Noise 
 
10.28 The site is located over 300m away from the nearest residential properties 

(at Maitland Avenue and Green Park), within an established light industrial 
and commercial development area. Under the initial temporary approval 
16/2188/FUL it was determined that potential noise impacts arising from 
the site would be acceptable, and adjacent uses would not be significantly 
impacted by noise.  

 
10.29 In accordance with advice offered by the Environmental Health Officer, a 

condition has been recommended relating to noise (Condition 4: Noise 
compliance).  With this safeguard in place, it is considered that the 
proposals are acceptable with regard to noise. 

 
Dust 
 
10.30 Due to the operational activities undertaken and the open nature of the 

site there is an increased potential for airborne dust. This risk was 
identified under the previous approval 16/2188/FUL and dealt with by way 
of condition and approval of a Dust Management Plan to minimise dust. 
This plan has also been submitted with the current application.  
 

Page 139



10.31 In accordance with the advice offered by the Environmental Health Officer, 
a condition has been recommended to secure compliance with the dust 
management plan (Condition 3: Dust Compliance).  

 
Contamination 
 
10.32 Elevated concentrations of ground gases have been known to be found in 

the local area. The current approval was granted on the basis of the 
advice offered by the Environmental Health Officer and officers are 
satisfied that the risk posed by potentially contaminated land is low given 
that the site is covered with hardstanding and no enabling groundworks 
are proposed. The proposals therefore comply with policy 33 of the 
Cambridge Local Plan (2018). 
 

10.33 Subject to conditions, the environmental impacts would be acceptable in 
accordance with policies 33, 34, 35 and 36 of the Cambridge Local Plan 
2018. 
 
 

10.34 Conclusion 
 

10.35 The site is located within an area with a mix of commercial, industrial, 
leisure and infrastructure operations.  The continued use of the site as a 
depot for a further temporary period of three years is in keeping with the 
types of commercial activity taking place within the North East Cambridge 
area, and will not prejudice the wider regeneration of the area.  Subject to 
appropriate controls which seek to control the duration of the use and 
safeguard amenity, the officer recommendation is one of approval.  

 
11.0 Recommendation 

 

11.1 Grant planning permission for Application 22/01842/FUL, subject to: 
 

(i) The conditions and informatives set out below, and: 
 

(ii) With delegated authority to officers to carry through minor 
amendments to those conditions and informatives (and 
include others considered appropriate and necessary) 
prior to the issuing of the planning permission). 

 
12.0 Planning Conditions  

 
1. Approved plans 

 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans as listed on this decision notice.  
 
Reason: In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of doubt and 
to facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority under 
Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 

Page 140



2. Temporary permission 
 
The use hereby permitted shall be discontinued and the land restored to 
its former condition in accordance with a scheme of works to be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority, on or before 
19th December 2026.  
 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess the impact of 
the use on the amenity of the surrounding area. 

 
3. Dust compliance 

 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the Cambridge 
City Council Cowley Road Site Dust Management Plan submitted and 
approved under this application.  
 
Reason: To protect human health in accordance with policies 36 (Air 
Quality, Odour and Dust) and 15 (Cambridge Northern Fringe East and new 
railway station Area of Major Change) of the adopted Cambridge Local Plan 
2018).  
 

4. Noise compliance 
 
The combined rating level of sound emitted from all fixed plant and/or 
machinery and operation activities associated with the development at the 
use hereby approved shall be less than or equal to background sound levels 
between the hours of 0600-1900 (taken as a 1 hour LA90 at the site 
boundary). All measurements shall be made in accordance with the 
methodology of BS4142: 2014+A1:2019 (Methods for rating and assessing 
industrial and commercial sound) and/or its subsequent amendments.  
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of nearby office space in accordance with 
policies 15 and 35 of the adopted Cambridge Local Plan (2018).    

 
13.0 Informative 

 
The Applicant may need to apply for an Environmental Permit to cover the 
operation. Pre-application advice for permitting can be required here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-permit-pre-
application-advice-form 
 
Due to the presence of Cadent and/or National Grid apparatus in proximity 
to the application site, the Applicant should contact Cadent Gas Network 
(Plant Protection) before any works are carried out. 
 
Report Author: 
 
Julia Briggs, Planning Officer, Strategic Sites team 
 
Telephone: 07716 702273 

Page 141

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-permit-pre-application-advice-form
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-permit-pre-application-advice-form


This page is intentionally left blank



Cowley Road Depot, 
Cambridge

22/01842/FUL

Drawing Pack

Joint Development Control Committee 
20 July 2022

P
age 143



Location plan

P
age 144



Current/proposed Site plan

P
age 145



Part site Current/proposed Elevations

P
age 146



Document is Restricted

Page 147

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 06/04/2022 Joint Development Control Committee
	Minutes


	4 21/04431/REM - Land between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road - Darwin Green 1 BDW2
	21_04431_REM Darwin Green BDW2 drawing pack

	5 22/01842/FUL - The Cowley Road Depot, Cowley Road, Cambridge
	22_01842_FUL Cowley Road depot drawing pack
	Cowley Road Depot, Cambridge�22/01842/FUL
	Location plan
	Current/proposed Site plan
	Slide Number 4


	6 Land South of Fulbourn Road, Cambridge - Planning Appeal – APP/W0530/W/22/3298055

